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PREFACE

in 1881 to administer the territory of North Borneo, over

which it had acquired sovereign rights. Chartered Companies
were already in disfavour when the great East India Company was
dissolved in 1858, and it was surprising to some that this mode of
government should be again revived. Its initial success, however,
led to the formation of other, more famous, companies in East,
West and South Africa, and (by Germany) in New Guinea. These
had their day and died, while, little noticed, the unique form of
government which they typified was continued in North Borneo.
For sixty years (1881-1941) the Chartered Company governed the
State, surrendering its sovereignty only in 1946.

The British North Borneco Company was not only the longest
lasting of the nineteenth century Chartered Companies, but it
was also the only one that preserved its documents. With their
help, the history of the Chartered Company is here told in full,
for the first time. Piled haphazardly in tin trunks in London are
numerous bundles of letters and documents of the Company, and
these reveal how an American attempt to found a colony in North
Borneo led, step by step, to the formation of the Chartered Com-
pany. Other records, official and unofficial, published and pri-
mary, in both London and North Borneo, tell the history of the
Company and nf thc territory of North Borneo. It is a little known
but very ditable history, a sixty-year rule that produced from
warring and poverty-stricken anarchy a peaceful ‘and contented
people and an ever-expanding economy. In the light of present-
day conditions in South-cast Asia this is an achicvement that
should not be belittled, and one that may well be envied.

Tun British North Borneo (Chartered) Company was formed

The research necessary for the compilation of this book would
not have been possible had not the Trustees of the Gowrie Trust
in Australia and the Nuffield Foundation in London seen fit to
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award me a Patrick Hore-Ruthven Scholarship and a D:
Travelling Fellowship respectively, which enabled me to spend
three years of study at New College, Oxford, and at the Colonial
Office, London. The kindness of the late General Sir Neil
Malcolm, x.c.B., D.s.0., and of Sir Dougal Malcolm, K.C.M.G.,
former President and Director of the British North Borneo
(Chartered) Company, who invited me to narrate its history, and
who sccured for me the permission of the Permanent Under
Secretary at the Colonial Office, Sir Thomas Lloyd, G.c.M.G.,
K.C.B., to consult not only all its records which had been handed
over to the Colonial Office on its voluntary liquidation in 1946, but
also the rare privilege of perusing all Colonial Office correspon-
dence relating to Borneo between 1881 and 1941, is also acknow-
ledged with gratitude, as is the help given me by the head librarian
of the Colonial Office Library, the late Mr. A. B. Mitchell, m.a.,
and by his staff, and the advice and encouragement given to me by
Mr. Francis Carnell, a.A., B.LITT. at the University of Oxford.

The Nuffield Foundation and the University of Malaya both
made funds available to me to visit and travel extensively in North
Borneo and Brunei, and to work on the Chartered Company
records in Jesselton. I thank them both.

In North Borneo itself I was helped by the assistance of the
Governor, General Sir Ralph Hone, K.C.M.G., K.B.E, M.C., T.D.,
and by discussions with former members of the Chartered Com-
pany, in particular Messrs N. Combe, p.c., J. Maxwell-Hall and
W. K. C. Wookey, and also by the District Officer at Kota Belud,
Mr. George, the head of the Anglican Church in Sandakan,
Father Lomax, Father Walsh of the Roman Catholic Church
there, and Mr. Chin Yong En, of Jesselton.

Draft chapters of this book were read and criticized in North
Borneo by old Chartered Company employees, in particular Mr.
Wookey, and in Singapore by Dr. E. Stokes and 1. Polunin of the
University of Malaya. In addition, valuable information was
gained by conversations with Mr. R. K. Hardwick who drew

" freely on his fifty-year knowledge of North Borneo. In London an
insight into an carlier age was given me by conversations with the
ninety-year-old widow of W. C. Cowie, who left North Borneo in
1888.

The compilation of this research was encouraged in Singapore
by Professor C. Northcote Parkinson, pi.p., M.A., Raffles Pro-




fessor of History at the University of Malaya, and saddened by the
death in Adelaide of my old professor, Garnet Vere Portus, M.A.,
B.LITT., Emeritus Professor of History and Political Science at the
University of Adclaide, who enabled me to secure the Gowrie
Scholarship and the Nuffield Fellowship, who was my guide and
friend, and to whose memory I dedicate this book.

K.G.T.

Singapore
1957
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BACKGROUND

equator to the south-cast of the mainland of South East Asia.

The tropical climate is hot, and very humid. Unlike the
volcanic islands that partly encircle it, it belongs geologically to
the old non-volcanic Sunda Platform, and was once, it appears,
part of the mainland of Asia, from which it is now separated by
the shallow Java and China Sea. To the north the land falls away
quickly to great depths of ocean.

The island is almost entirely covered by dense forest. The two
major mountain ranges stretch approximately from north-east to
south-west, and from east to west across the island. The central
massif slightly north of the equator is still partially unexplored.
Some peaks are too high for vegetation other than mosses and
stunted bushes, but elsewhere great trees compete for life with
a luxuriant undergrowth of younger and smaller trees, and a rich
variety of palms, creepers and ferns. Many species of Asiatic
mammals thrive in the forest. These include the rhinoceros, the
elephant, several species of monkey, and two of the anthropoid
ape, the gibbon and the orang-utan; the pig, the deer, the scaly ant-
eater, and the small black bear. There are also seventy varietics
of snake, and some 450 varicties of birds, some with gorgeous
colouring and strange and beautiful in form, and basking in
the many streams as they flow sluggishly through the coastal man-
grove swamps towards the inevitable bar are numerous crocodiles.

By far the greater part of the island is uninhabited. In the far
interior, high in the upper basins of the rivers, wander small bands
of Punans, 100,000 or so of the most primitive, the most inoffen-
sive and timid of nomads. Most of the remaining groups of indi-
genous peoples keep closely to scanty clearings by the river banks,
but the semi-nomads, who burn clearings in the tropical forest in
the way characteristic of their kind throughout the world, grow
dry rice on hillsides often far from any stream. Whether nomadic

BORNEO, the third largest island in the world, lies across the
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or not, the indigenous native is separated from the coastal people
by the sharp cleavage of religion. Those on the coast, whether
Malay, Sulu, Illanun or Bajau, are all, to a lesser or greater degree,
Muslim; those inland are pagan.

Islam was spread to Borneo, as elsewhere in the archipelago,
by Indian and Arab traders and merchants along the sea routes.
In 1292 Marco Polo had found Islam established by ‘Saracen’
traders at Perlak, a small port on the north coast of Sumatra.
The strength of the Hindu Empire of Java was perhaps responsible
for the fact that its spread at first was slow: but after the fast-grow-
ing portof Malacca embraced the faith early in the fifteenth century,
its growth was more rapid. Sometimes little more than a decade
before the arrival of Europeans, Islam was adopted by the coastal
peoples of Sumatra, the Malay Peninsula, Java, Celebes, Borneo,
Sulu and the southern Philippines, and contributed in no small
measure to the overthrow of the Madjapahit Empire. Long after
it had collapsed the Indians and Arabs were still spreading their
faith, and by the seventeenth century were far to the east, endea-
vouring to convert the Papuans.

Amongst these traders who sailed the sca lanes of the archi-
pelago, legend tells of three sons of a rich Hadramaut merchant
who had married the daughter of the Sultan of Johore. One took
the faith to the Philippines; another became Sultan of Sulu; while
the third, the eldest, married the daughter of the Chinese-blooded
Sultan of Brunei, in north-west Borneo, and became, on the death
of his father-in-law, the reigning Sultan.

The Chinese had been in Brunei a long time. It is referred to in
Chinese Annals from as early as the seventh century A.p., and
accounts are more detailed during the Ming period (1368-1644).
Trade became constant and it would appear that settlements of
Chinese were established. The slopes of the river banks leading to
Brunei encouraged the growth of pepper which found a ready
sale in South China. Its cultivation became the monopoly of the
Chinese, whose presence, and the knowledge of the power they
represented, encouraged Brunci to shake off the overlordship of
Madjapahit; to be the first of the States of the archipelago to send
ambassadors to China; and then, in the fifteenth century, to
embark on a career of conquest. When a Muslim Sultan came to
the throne fresh vigour was given to Brunei expansion. With
piety allied to piracy, her power spread.
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Her wealth was increased by the fall of Malacca to the Portu-
guese in 1511. Many Muslim traders fled from the Christians and
sought a new centre in Brunei, standing stilt-like on a shallow
bend of the only Bornean river without a sand bar at its mouth. She
became the bazaar of the northern islands, and when the first
European arrived she was at the height of her power, having sub-
jected all the rivers of north and west Borneo, and beyond. Piga-
fetta, chronicler of Magellan, visited Brunei in 1521, and was
received with royal pomp and state.

The three great modern influences on the archipelago, the
European, the Chinese and Islam, had all arrived: but they were
to pass her by. For nearly 400 years the story of North Borneo is
one of decline. The power and the ardour of the Sultan diminished.
The conquered territories broke away, were ceded away, or lapsed
into feudal isolation. The Chinese stopped coming, for they found
greater wealth and security nearer the European trader, and he
had found richer prizes elsewhere. Brunei’s importance as a
trading centre steadily diminished, and as trade decreased poverty
and the tenets of the new religion stimulated a great increase in
piracy. Slowly she disintegrated.



CHAPTER ONE

THE AMERICAN COLONY

been made by European Powers to settle in Borneo. Almost

without exception they had failed. The Portuguese had con-
tented themselves with the most infrequent of trading visits. From
Manila the Spanish had sent an embassy and later a punitive
expedition against piratical Brunei. The Dutch were clinging
precariously to the southern coast, and the British, after the
failures of Sockad: B in and Balambangan, were in
possession of the minute island of Labuan in Brunei Bay.

Ceded by the Sultan of Brunei in 1846 and ratified by treaty
the following year, the island had been occupied partly to tap the
trade of the northern islands, and partly to make safe the China
Seas. British China-bound ships, after passing the three well-lit
bazaars of Penang, Malacca and Singapore in the dark thieves’ alley
of the Malacca Straits, faced a lonely and perilous path across the
China Sea to Canton. Labuan and Hong Kong lessened the dangers.

By order of Palmerston the island was occupied, and the first
civil governor was James Brooke who, alone of the adventurous
Englishmen who had tried, had succeeded in settling in Borneo.
Both Alexander Hare in the south (though helped by Raffles), and
Erskine-Murray in the cast had failed, as Wilson was to fail in
Sumatra. Brooke was the exception. In return for annual pay-
ments he was granted the governorship of a rebellious province
by the Sultan of Brunei, and gradually assumed authority over an
ever-increasing area of the Sultan's territory. Aided occasionally
by units of the British Navy, he drove away the pirate fieets from
the north and slowly extended peace and order along the coast-
line of western Borneo.

Apart from Great Dntam. thc only or.hcr western power to
enter into relations with the sh i of Brunei was the
United States of America. There had been American interest in
South-east Asia as early as the close of the War of Independence;

E the middle of the nineteenth century various attempts had
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idle privateers had found a market in America for Asian produce,
and by 1801 some thirty or more ships annually reached Canton. It
appears that their business was not always strictly legal. For it was
reported from the newly founded Singapore that ‘the pirates from
Borneo were supplied with munitions from American craft,
usually lying off Penang. And here perhaps our transatlantic
brethren have done some good, as the gunpowder they sell will not
explode.’* By the early eighteen-thirties, when American clippers
began sailing across the blue waters of the Pacific, diplomatic
relations with Far Eastern countries were being established.

America’s policy was to obtain for herself all the advantages that
had been secured by other western powers in their individually
negotiated treatics with Asian countries. An American visit to
Brunei in 1843 in pursuit of this objective had been fruitless,
partly because of the blunderings of the drunken servant Rajah
Brooke had loaned as interpreter. The principle was affirmed in
1850, however, when a treaty was signed, securing for the U.S.A.
all the privileges of the most favoured nation. America transferred
her interest to other countries, and again, as for centuries before,
Brunei stagnated and decayed. Then in 1865 came the first vital
spark of the modern age. Writing in great alarm the British Consul
at Sarawak told London that the Americans were implementing
the almost forgotten treaty; that they had appointed a Consul to
Brunei; and that the efforts of Rajah Brooke to annex more of the
Sultan’s territory might now come to nought.?

The American Consul, Claude Lee Moses, ushers in a prepos-
terous incident out of which was to emerge the British North
Borneo Company.® He appears to have been an adventurer pure
and simple, a discarded member of the lower deck of the United
States Navy. On arrival at Labuan, the nearest port of call to
Brunei for European vessels, he had to borrow money to pay his
fare from Singapore and his immediate and only object seems to
have been the acquisition of wealth. He acted swiftly. Within a few
days of his arrival at Brunei he secured, on the promise of certain
payments to the Sultan and the Pengeran Tumonggong, the heir
to the throne, the cession for ten years of a large tract of Brunei

3J. H. Moor, Notices of the Indian Archipelago (Singapore, 1837), p- 3.
a'lu*u‘bh:s‘ Record Office, F.0.12/32, British Consul, Sarawak, to Foreign Office,
2 .’FOIYZI d.eszaxled description sce The Pacific Historical Revietws, November 1954,
‘American Activity in North Borneo, 1865-81", by K. G. Tregonning.
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territory to the north. Armed with the cession papers he left
immediately for Hong Kong.

His action had created grave alarm. On Labuan the British
company working the coal mines feared that the American cession
would prejudice British interests in North Borneo, by which they
meant their own, while south in Sarawak there was a fluttering of
the dovecotes with talk of the fine harbours America had acquired,
and of how either alone or with her old ally France, then establish-
ing herself in Indo-China opposite, she could dispute the passage
of the British fleet and intercept merchant men in the China Sea,
An American colony round a naval depot would inevitably absorb
Brunei, and then interfere with Brooke. So it was reasoned in
Sarawak. Hastily the despatches sped to London.!

Meanwhile Moses, swift to secure the concessions, sold them
just as swiftly. They were acquired by two Ameri h of
Hong Kong, Joseph W. Torrey and Thomas B. Harris, and a
Chinese partner Wo Hang. He soon withdrew, and was replaced
by Lee Assing and Pong Ampong. The four agreed in October
1865 to take over the cessions, to form a company which they
styled ‘The American Trading Company of Borneo’, and, with
$7,000 as capital, to invest it in this newly acquired territory.?
Moses undertook to extend the protection of the United States to
any settlement in Borneo in return for a third of the profits. He
stipulated that no flag other than that of the United States was to
be hoisted, and that the laws of the U.S.A. were to be adopted.

A settlement in Bornco was decided upon; labourers collected;
a dozen or so Americans interested in the scheme; and early in
November the party sailed. Torrey was appointed Supreme Ruler
and Governor, and given the titles of Rajah of Ambong and
Marudu, and Sir Maharajah of North Borneo by the Brunei
Sultan, who vested him with the power of life and death over the
inhabitants, the right to coin money and make laws, and all other
powers and rights exercised by a sovereign ruler. Sailing north
from Brunei the little expedition settled at the mouth of the
Kimanis River, some sixty miles away, where a track led into the
interior. Here sixty Chinese and twelve Americans settled on the
small river plain, hacking at the jungle and mangrove to build a

*These arc in the P.R.0., F.0.12 Serics.
*Articles of Partnership of the American Trading Company of Borneo (Doc.8,
B.N.B. Papers).

T et 1
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flimsy kad ious jetty. The 1 named
“Ellena’ by Ton'ey, had fluttering over it by December 1865 not
only the star spangled banner of the U.S.A., but also the Red Star,
the house flag of the American Trading Cumpany.

In an effort to raise funds Torrey sped back to Hong Kong,
appointing one Joseph W. Wheelright to be Lieutenant Governor
of the State of Benomi and Kimanis, and advising him to encour-
age more worthy habits of morality and industry among the
natives. In this he failed lamentably. While Torrey was away
Ellena slowly stagnated. The Chief Secretary, Thomas B. Harris,
who had helped Torrey to acquire the cessions from Moses in
October, died in May, after an adventuresome trip through jungle
and over the then unknown Crocker mountain range to Keningau.!
Three other Americans left, and the labourers, whose term of
service had expired, became more and more dissatisfied. They had
cleared some ninety acres of swampy jungle land by the river, and
planted rice, suger-cane and tobacco; but with hardly any money
to buy food, and with very little rice stored in the settlement, they
slowly starved.

Moses, who had followed Torrey to Hong Kong, was becoming
desperate. As no money could be extracted from Torrey, who was
himself pressed by his Chinese partners who had supplied most of
the funds, Moses turned to more disreputable acquaintances. Aided
by a glowing report in the Overland China Mail of ‘the first
American colony away from their home land',* he met a dozen or
s0 Germans, bold determined men rich in an experience of law-
lessness hard gained on the gold-mining fields of Australia and
California, and he persuaded them to leave their boarding houses
in Macao and Hong Kong and to sail with him to Borneo on a
general filibustering expedition. Yet again he was disappointed.
The sixteen Germans, led by a man named Rohde, a former
mercenary in the pay of the T"aeping rebels, ran their ship aground
on the old underwater barrier of stones guarding Brunei; there
they terrified the Sultan by saying that they were now Americans
and had come to settle, but, after one look at dying Ellena, they
departed without incident back to the inns and alleys of Macao,
leaving Moses penniless and alone in the consulate of Brunei.

*His tombstone at Kimanis is the only indication today of the American
settlement.

*Overland China Mail (Hong Kong), 14 April 1866.

U.C.C.R.—B
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The Kimanis settlement lasted a little longer, but was abandoned
towards the end of 1866. Torrey never returned. The labourers
still living obtained employment in the decrepit coal mines of
Labuan, where Moses made another attempt to securc some
moncy. Wheelright had rejected him at Ellena, and had thus been
guilty, said Moses, of treason to the United States; he was to be
equally unsuccessful at Labuan. Our last glimpse of this American
venture is of Henkel, sent by Torrey to superintend the evacua-
tion, reporting to the Governor of Labuan, Hugh Low, that the
company had been a complete failure. Moses made a last gamble;
after furtively firing his attap hut which bore the impressive title
of ‘United States Consulate’, he demanded a large sum as com-
pensation from the Sultan. He had not, however, received a single
cent from either Moses or Torrey throughout the whole sorry
business. Moses stood no chance of securing money from him. A
gunboat of the American Navy sent to investigate agreed with the
Sultan and declined to press the charge. Moses left Labuan in 1867,
and drowned on his way back to America. After this the Americans
left Borneo for a time.

Among the nations of western Europe the desire for colonies
was increasing. In Africa the scramble was about to begin; in
South-east Asia the Dutch, the British and the French were on
the threshold of great expansions of power and territory, and the
aged colossus of China was even then being regarded as perhaps
worthy of partition. It is in the spirit of this land-hungry age then
that we find the empty spaces of North Borneo appealing to yet
another new nation, Italy. In 1870 she conceived the plan of
establishing a penal settlement on Banggi Island, alongside Balam-
bangan Island where the East India Company factory had been
sacked by pirates a hundred years before, and of creating a ship
depot in Gaya Bay, both in territory ceded to Torrey. Their pro-
ject was opposed by the British on Labuan, and came to nothing
as did their plan for a penal settlement in Sumatra.

The cessions granted to Moses and subsequently transferred to
Torrey had been for a period of ten years. Torrey had not lost
hope of exploiting them in some way and endeavoured to interest
various people in them. He approached the government of the
United States. It had informed the British in 1866 that Moses was
acting on his own authority in securing the cessions, and it in-
formed Torrey that it did not encourage investments outside the
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United States. Nevertheless, although Torrey was rebuffed, the
American Navy appears to have considered several times the
possibilities of Banggi Island as a naval depot, and the British,
with painful memories of privateers in the Civil War, carefully
noted its interest.!

Unsuccessful in the States, Torrey was more lucky in Hong
Kong which, for a colony full of business men, was passing through
a kable period of credull imism in regard to Borneo.
In 1875, when the cessions were due to expire, he returned to
Brunei with Baron von Overbeck, the Austrian Consul General at
Hong Kong, a large man aged forty-four, of both courage and
ability. A native of Lippe Detmold in Germany, he had spent his
adult life firstly as a migrant to America, then as a whaler in the
Bering Sea based on the roaring hullabaloo that was Honolulu in
the cighteen-fifties, and subsequently in business in Hong Kong,
where he had assisted the Austrian government in several ways
and had been awarded a barony and consulate in return.

He had been interested in the concessions as early as 1870, and
he finally decided that they were worth preserving. In search of
support he interested two friends of his in London, Count
Montgelas at the Austro-Hungarian Embassy, and A. B. Mitford
(later Lord Redesdale), and some business men in Vienna. He
visualized a highly profitable re-sale to his government, as yet
colony-less in a colony-grabbing era. With his friends an agree-
ment was signed on 11 July 1874, by which he was to provide
£2,000, the others adding £1,000 each; he was to acquire the
cessions and receive two-thirds of the profit from any re-sale.

The business men were more cautious. Inquiries were made,
strings were pulled; and nearly a year later, in May 1875, an
Austrian corvette arrived at Labuan, having been attacked by
pirates on the way. The captain inquired of Hugh Low what the
prospects and position of the American Trading Company were.
He was informed, and the information no doubt was passed on to
the capitalists in Vienna who had instigated the inquiry, that no
such company existed on the coast of Borneo. The Viennese
interest faded.

Overbeck meanwhile had returned from London, and in Hong
Kong in January 1875 he purchased for $15,000 all the rights

‘In particular, see P.R.O., F.0.12/38 Consul General Borneo to Forcign
Office, 17 August 1872, and F.0.12/55, 8 March 1880.
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possessed by Torrey in the American Trading Company of
Borneo, on the condition that within nine months a renewal of the
present leases should be obtained. Together they sailed to Brunei,
where disaster, in the shape of an aged and stubborn Sultan,
awaited them. He refused to renew the leases; said nothing had
been right with the American company from the beginning; and
strengthened by advice from Low on Labuan, rejected all their
offers. They were more successful with the heir to the throne, the
penniless and avaricious Pengeran Tumonggong, and concluded
an agreement with him. The American Trading Company was
released from all past liabilities on payment of $1,000, and on
21 June he signed a renewal of the leases for another ten years. To
this document the Sultan refused to affix his ‘chop’, and Low pro-
nounced it worthless. With this Overbeck had to be content, how-
ever, and the pair returned to Hong Kong. )

Several others were by now interested in North Borneo. Wheel-
right was endeavouring to obtain Gaya Island and the village of
Gantisan on the mainland opposite. This came to nothing. An-
other who considered the possibilities of acquiring land in Borneo
was a young Scotsman, William Clarke Cowie. Twenty years
later on returning to England he became by degrees Managing
Director and Chairman of the Chartered Company, and historians
have been misled by the claims he then made, that he had founded
North Borneo, and that he had made it British. The facts are
otherwise. He and Rajah Brooke nearly strangled the Company at
birth,

At this time the Spaniards in the Philippines were engaged on

| one of their intermittent campaigns to conquer the Sulu Archi-

pelago, a chain of lovely lonely islands stretching from the south
Philippines to the horizon of eastern Borgeo, an island group
which they had been endeavouring to subject for the past 150 years.
W. C. Cowie was the Bornco manager of a small Singapore firm,
the Labuan Trading Company, which was endeavouring to make
money out of this campaign, by running the Spanish blockade of
Jolo, the principal island, and there selling arms and other contra-
band to the Sulus.

The diminutive ships of this gun-running concern were staffed
with young adventurers little different from the Germans of
Macao, and plied from Labuan. To this port, a convenient caravan-
serai between Singapore and Sulu, there was one objection. It
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harboured a Spanish agent, a character fit for Conrad, F:nher
Cuareton. A Spaniard from the Philippi he had di

while trading i in those waters the wreck of a Manila galleon, one
of those that traded yearly from Acapulco, laden with Mexican
dollars for the silks and fine things of the east. Some of this
wealth he salv: ngcd. and inspired by a number uf mnuvcs, rchgmus,
patriotic and quixotic, established himself as y in the
stinking backwater of Labuan, there to ]abcur for Spam on the
nearby mainland.

Several times the German and British captains of the Company
were surprised, their cargoes taken, and their bodies manhandled
by the Spaniards acting on information sent them from Cuareton.
The little steamer of the Sultan of Brunei, who had endeavoured
to secure a portion of the profits, became a Spanish gunboat.
Cowie then obtained the permission of the Sultan of Sulu for his
Company to establish their depot deep in the immensity of San-
dakan Bay on the other coast of Borneo, facing Sulu, and com-
pletely isolated. Though in territory claimed by the Sultan of
Brunci, and ceded by him to Moses, it had been given to the Sulu
Sultan in 1704, in return for help in suppressing a rebellion.t

‘This vantage point, remote from the eyes of any other European,
was also scarcely inhabited by the indigenous native. Then as now,
the heavily timbered east coast of North Borneo had an extremely
meagre population. From a small kampong or village, which
became known as ‘Kampong German' Cowie and those with him,
Captain Ross, Otto Sachsze, J. E. Hofft, Hanz Olzen, Lerhott,
R. Armstrong, A. Morton, L. Wyndham and Captain Schuck, to
rescue a few names from oblivion, slipped across to Sulu. Torrey,
however, waiting to be paid by Overbeck for the cessions, con-
sidered that he still possessed rights to the territory. So when
Cowie arrived at Hong Kong in 1876 with a cargo from Sandakan,
he was charged a percentage of the profits, in lieu of export and
import taxes, by the American Rajah of Ambong and Marudu.
Cowie convinced Torrey that the cessions as regards Sandakan
were worthless, but was then interested by him in the advantages
to be gained if he could secure a cession of the land from the
Sultan of Sulu. He was urged to throw in his lot with Torrey, and
share the profits either from the trade that could be developed

1A, Dalrymple. A Full and Clear Proof that the Spaniards can have no claim
10 Balambangan. (London, 1774) p. 31.
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there or from a re-sale to a European power. Cowie consulted
Karl Schomburg in Singapore, the head of his Company, who
refused to consider the idea. The plan was abandoned. Shortly
after the Labuan Trading Company found the profits of their
trade disappearing, the Company was wound up; and Cowie,
securing one of its steamers, the very one he had helped bring
out from Glasgow,went into a trading partnership with his friend,
the still unconquered Sultan of Sulu.

Overbeck by this time had spent nearly all his capital. He re-
turned to London in an unsuccessful attempt to seck fresh funds
from the Embassy. Neither Mitford nor Montgelas were willing
to advance more. He endeavoured to seck aid from Germany, but
his titles were not clear enough, and besides, he was a decade too
soon, for Bismarck was not to undertake a Pacific expansion until
later. In desperation Overbeck approached Alfred Dent, the
young head of the reorganized firm of Dent Brothers with whom he
had once worked. Dent was aged 33, his brother 30. Neither was
to be anything more than a normal, obscure, rather insignificant
London business man for the rest of his life; yet in this enterprise
they were to work enthusiastically, courageously, and most
tcnacmusly to accompllsh great things; especially outstanding was
the ability and vigour of Alfred Dent who saw immediately the
possibilities of the scheme if backed with sufficient capital. His
success was to have a significance far greater than could be
imagined. Vast new territorics in Asia and Africa were to be
added to the white man’s burden, and the British flag was to
wave over lands that had been primeval jungle when Overbeck
met Dent in the city of London. On condition that the chief control
and management of the affair be handed over to him, Dent
advanced Overbeck £10,000 and sent him out to Borneo; and his
was the powerful directory intelligence behind events from that
time onward.
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vessel, the America, and with Torrey on board sailed for

Labuan. Here they encountered the young and enthusiastic
administrator who was later to be the first governor of North
Bornco, and then to succeed Swettenham as Resident General of
the Federated Malay States, William Hood Treacher. The
Chartered Company was to receive guidance throughout from
the Malayan Civil Service; and this guidance was worthily begun
by Treacher. Overbeck felt forced to tell him that his object was
to visit Brunei, and there buy the American cession, and form a

pany to develop the of North Borneo. At the idea of
a civilized administration exercising control over what was wild
lawlessness Treacher was in full agreement. He pledged his
support, provided that the company so formed was British, and he
suggested to Overbeck that, as it seemed that the cessions of the
American company were worthless, he should negotiate with the
Sultan of Brunei for a completely new lease. He also advised that
the cession should be made subject to the consent of the British
government, and that a clause should stipulate that the grant
would not be transferred to the citizens of a foreign state without
British approval. To these suggestions Overbeck agreed, and
sailed upstream to Brunei.

Overbeck had no intention, however, of being hampered in any
future transactions by the restrictive clauses Treacher had sug-
gested. Both he and the Dent brothers had gone into the affair
merely to acquire the territory and then scll it to whatever govern-
ment was interested, Austria being their main hope.! They had
not considered, at that stage, the idea of a chartered company, or
of administering North Borneo themselves. Overbeck, out of
sight of Treacher, pointed out to the aged Sultan that these
clauses which Treacher had informed him were advisable were

'Overbeck to A. Dent, 12 May 1880.

IN Singapore, in great secrecy, Overbeck chartered a small
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those desired by the British government. But, he asked, what
had the British done to help Brunei? And were the British the
rulers of Brunei, that they could instruct him in what to do?

Overbeck was supported in this persuasion by his dollars, the
first the Sultan had seen in all these negotiations. Enraptured, he
was won over. The clauses suggested by Treacher were omitted,
and after much haggling and discussion in which the leading
Chinese intervened decisively in Overbeck’s favour, the docu-
ments were drawn up and, on 29 December 1877, signed. The
Sultan, in three grants of territory from Gaya Bay on the west
coast to the Sibuco River on the east, and the Pengeran Tumong-
gong, in a grant of his west coast possessions, the rivers Kimanis
and Benomi, ceded to Overbeck and Dent, with all the powers of
sovercignty, some 28,000 square miles of territory, embracing
9oo miles of North Bornean coastline, for a total yearly payment
of $15,000. This meagre rental reflects the state of affairs. The
territory had long since ceased to be under Brunei control and
failed to bring in any revenue. The Sultan received $15,000
for nothing, and he was well pleased.

At the conclusion of the negotiations Overbeck, who had learnt
that the north-cast coast, which comprised a large portion of the
ceded territory, was in the hands of the Sultan of Sulu, made
peace with Treacher. It was a wise move, He realized that no enter-
prise in North Borneo could prosper without the goodwill of the
British. He decided to go to Sulu and in any treaty he could con-
clude there he would insert the restrictive clauses desired by
Treacher. After consulting Cuareton on the Spanish position he
sailed with Cowie for Jolo, the chief island of Sulu and at that
moment fiercely besieged by the Spaniards, who were closer to
conquest of the archipelago than they had ever been before.
T'reacher, taking advantage of a visiting British warship, went too,
anxious to keep an eye on Overbeck, and glad to leave the low-
lying loneliness of Labuan for the cool slopes of hilly Jolo.

Both vessels anchored at Meinbong on the southern side of the
island, the capital being in the possession of the Spaniards, and
after some negotiating with the hard pressed Sultan, Overbeck
secured, on 22 January, the cession of the Sultan’s North Borneo

possessions for an annual rental of $5,000. Treacher, who had +/

advised the Sultan to sell, saw to it that the agreement stipulated
that the territory would not be transferred to another nation
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without the sanction of the British government, to whom all
disputes between the Sultan or his heirs, and Overbeck or his
successors were to be submitted.?

The Sultan claimed that he possessed the land as far south as
the Balik Papar River, and wished that to be named the southern-~
most limit of his cession. But Overbeck, fearing to antagonize
the Dutch if land so far south were ceded to him, inserted the
Sibuco River as the boundary. The Sultan most reluctantly agreed,
realizing that by so doing he abdicated his claim to the territory
farther south, territory where later large oil deposits were to be
discovered.

Overbeck, satisfied, then returned to Singapore to calm his
anxious partner. He left William Pryer, one of his entourage, in
Sandakan Bay, with the imposing title of Resident of the East
Coast. Pryer is one of the most engaging figures in North Borneo
history.* By his courage and enthusiasm he was to make safe and
secure the fragile European occupation of the east coast. As the
founder of the modern town of Sandakan he is unfortunately
hardly remembered there. But he deserves to be remembered as
the outstanding member of the small band of pioneers who made
North Borneo into the peaceful and contented land it is today.
Overbeck told him to cultivate friendly relations with the local
chiefs, and only to introduce changes gradually and with due
regard to the existing customs of the people. Pryer was warned not
to permit any hasty land speculation, and to understand that land
belonging to a native could not be sold to another party without
his supervision of the sale in which he was to assure himself that
the owner received a fair and equitable indemnification. Thus at
the very beginning Overbeck laid down the principles of native
administration which remained the pride of the Chartered Com-
pany until its liquidation. Before steaming out of the long bay with
Overbeck, Treacher appointed Pryer as consular agent, so that he
was able, on being landed on 11 February 1878 at the former
‘Kampong German' to hoist the Union Jack alongside Dent’s
house flag. On the west coast were landed two other young
Englishmen, William Pretyman and H. L. Leicester, at Tem-
pasuk and Papar respectively.

P.R.0., F.0.12/s4, W. H. Treacher to Foreign Office, 22 January 1878.

*For an account of his life see K. G. Tregonning: ‘William Pryer, the founder
of Sandakan’. Journal Malayan Branch, Royal Asiatic Socicty, May 1954.



16 UNDER CHARTERED COMPANY RULE

This acquisition by a shadowy British concern of North
Borneo, or Saba or Sabah, to give the territory its Brunei and
perhaps Biblical' name, aroused the protests of Spain, Holland
and the United States of America. It aroused also the fierce
indignation of Charles Brooke of Sarawak, in which perhaps a
Rajah’s jealousy at the bestowal of the title of Maharajah on Over-
beck by the Sultan of Brunei had some part, for he went to
vindictive lengths to prevent its ceremonial award. Brooke had
long considered himself not merely as the only protector of the
native in north and west Borneo but also as the ultimate successor
to all the ill administered territories of the Sultan, and he told
him that he would do his utmost ‘to thwart the encroachments of
this wild and unjustifiable adventure.’? Angrily he steamed north
to advise the natives in the ceded district to resist. Thus began in
bitterness a hostility that has not yet died between the two States.
The Foreign Office in London addressed a terse rebuke to him;
and Treacher, remonstrating from Labuan, said that, as a British
subject, he had no right to proceed up the coast in an armed vessel
to raise in the natives a spirit of opposition to a British under-
taking, and that as a Brunei Rajah it scarcely seemed consonant
with his duty to his suzerain, the Sultan, to invite his subjects to
disobey his commands. Brooke, with perhaps the memory of his
own recent land-grab from the Sultan in his mind, subsided into
angry mutterings and intrigue.

The hostility of Brooke on the west coast was perhaps not as
serious, though it proved more lasting, than the danger on the east.
Here Pryer had begun imposing import and export dues to the
great annoyance of Cowie, who was plying up and down the coast
in his cockleshell. Cowie had been led to believe at the Sulu
cession negotiations that Overbeck would purchase his vessel, and
50 had endeavoured to influence his friend the Sultan to cede
Sabah, but when the government surveyor in Singapore reported
that the hull was in a very bad condition, and the deal fell through,
he had become a bitter opponent of Overbeck and his Residents.
He took every opportunity to misrepresent the behaviour and
intentions of the new Europeans to the Sultan, and he found
allies in a band of Sulus living in Sandakan Bay, who resented the

Psalm 72, verse 10: The Kings of Tharsis and the islea shall give presents:

the Kings of Arabia and Saba shall bring
RO, F.0.12/54 Rajah Brooke to W, H. Treacher, 6 April 1878.
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presence of Pryer as a deterrent to their imposition on the other,
less aggressive, natives.

The situation grew tense when Cowie, taking advantage of
the temporary absence of Pryer, who was attempting to clear the
mighty Kinabatangan River of pirates, sailed the local Sulu chief
over to his brother-in-law, the Sultan. On his return the Sulu flag
was hoisted in the bay, and Cowic gave out that the Sultan
was coming to take over. Pryer had returned, and was supported
by the few Chinese settlers, and by the other natives. With the
Sulus in a hostile, heroic mood there was very nearly a clash that
might have j lized the whole settl It seemed possible
that Sandakan might become another Balambangan.! But Pryer
refused to start a civil war and kept peace in the bay until Overbeck
and Dent, summoned from Singapore, arrived hurriedly on the
scene. Cowie was offered a subsidy and accepted, and immediately
assured the Sultan that all was well with these good people, a
volte-face that for the moment he found somewhat confusing.
Pryer p ded the local troubl ker to go home, and the bay
once again became quict. Cowie, however, maintained his dislike
of Overbeck’s men for some time.

Dent and Overbeck returned to England. Before leaving Singa-
pore Dent endeavoured to secure Noel Denison of Perak, as Chief
Manager and Superintendent of the affairs of the Company in the
east. He had been recommended by Hugh Low, formerly of
Labuan and then brilliantly developing Perak. Low was to remain
the friend of North Borneo always, but Dent failed to secure
Denison and turned instead to W. H. Read, of A. L. Johnston
and Company, the agents in Singapore for Dent Brothers. He was
also the Dutch Consul and a played a leading part in Singapore
affairs. Read was empowered to appoint an Inspector General if
unable himself to visit the settlements in North Borneo, over
which he had full authority. But in the three frustrating years that
were to clapse before a Charter was granted and a Governor
appointed, he neither visited the island nor sent any representative.
Later his interfe with the G and his ption of
superior authority caused great annoyance, until official dispatches
by-passed him and his responsibilities were defined as those of an
agent.

*Balambangan, an island off North Bomeo, was settled by the East India
Company in 1773, but was subsequently sacked and destroyed by Sulus.
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From the beginning Sandakan flourished. Pryer, as a man of
great energy and enthusi and with iderable charm of
manner, had won the support of the petty chiefs, and the people,
who were in a deplorable half-starved state, gained confidence
under the new régime. Slowly his influence spread. It was put toa
severe test when carly in September 1878 a Spanish gun-boat
steamed into the harbour. The Sultan of Sulu had been con-
quered, and the Spaniards now were claiming all his Bornean
possessions, possessions he had ceded away some six months before
submitting. The captain of the EI Dorado said that unless the
Spanish flag were hoisted the village would be bombarded; women
and children left; and Pryer, leading armed bands of Sulus and
Bajaus, enthusiastically prepared to fight, while Cowie, anchored
in the harbour, prepared to watch. But there was no action, and
over a gentlemanly farewell sherry and bitters the Spaniard said
he would return from Manila with a larger force. He sailed but
never returned.

Pryer by this time had won the support of the villages round the
bay, and he was able to extend his peaceful influence up the
Kinabatangan River, where he placed an assistant, Hewett. In the
south, at Silam in Darvel Bay, he placed another, as a check to the
Dutch who since the cessions were made public had been moving
farther and farther north. Following a dangerous pirate slave-raid
along the coast by a combined force of Bajaus and Illanuns, he
secured the peration of a British gun-boat, hed the last
pirate stronghold in north-ecast Borneo, Tungku, and then opened
up another river, the Labuk.

When in June 1879 his isolated village some seventeen miles up
Sandakan Bay was accidentally burnt, he decided that he had
sufficient strength to tempt the pirates with impunity. He moved
down to the harbour entrance, and founded in primeval jungle a
new village which he named Elopura. With Pryer ceaselessly at
work, the only European for hundreds of milcs, the village grew
rapidly. It became and remained the chief town of the territory,
albeit losing in the process both the name and the memory of the
founder. Chinese and natives in search of protection flocked in.
Cowie was unable to handle the masses of jungle produce, the
rattan, gutta-percha, wild rubber, and the edible birds’ nests from
the G caves up the Kinab: that were now brought
down to the bay. The old days of lawlessness slowly vanished, and
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the peaceful trade was scented by Chinese steamers from Singa-
pore, who thrust Cowie aside.

On the east coast then the determined efforts of Pryer backed in
one instance by a British gun-boat had lessened the curse of piracy
and revived a considerable trade. On the west coast conditions
were somewhat different. There was far less jungle produce on the
narrow coastal plains than among the rolling vastnesses of the cast,
and there was no outside fear to unite the far more numerous river
population of mutually hostile natives. Both the Residencies were
in isolated localities with none of the commercial potentialities of
Sandakan, and both failed to develop. Yet Pretyman won the
support of the Illanuns, the dreaded pirates of old, and they
counterbalanced the Bajaus, fierce roving Muslims who feared that
their days of licence were vanishing. He built a small port which
Cowie as often as not avoided; inaugurated a peaceful tamu or
market, and collected poll-tax. Both instituted courts on which,
following Overbeck’s instructions, they sat with the local chiefs.
Although they found impossible the imposition of export taxes,
and although they had to face the hostility of Brooke and, later,
of the governor of Labuan, by their presence and hard labour they
brought peace to an increasing number of villages which had been
constantly warring before their arrival.

We turn now to London. Dent had decided that the interference
of Treacher at Labuan had rendered impossible the sale of the
cessions to Austria or to any other foreign power.! He decided
therefore that the land should be developed by a British company,
and, to give it strength, stability and prestige, he decided to secure
a Royal Charter. To this idea the Colonial Office in London
objected strenuously, considering that no private company should
exercise sovereign rights. Herbert, the powerful permanent official
there, was favourably inclined to the enterprise, but the substantial
weight of the Colonial Office was behind the views of the Consul
at Sarawak, a supporter of Brooke, who stated that the develop-
ment of North Borneo by a pack of adventurers would mean the
annihilation of Labuan; would be dangerous and unjust to the
natives; and would lead to trouble with Spain and Brunei. He
added a further reason for not recognizing the cessions, in that it
would be interfering with the legitimate progress of the Rajah of
Sarawak, an argument which he elaboruted over five pages of

1A, Dent to E. Dent, 13 February 1878.
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script, while enclosing in support of his views the comment of
Brooke, ‘the Spaniards are bad enough and bigoted and narrow
minded to a degree, but I doubt if they are much worse than a set
of mercantile adventurers’.! The Colonial Office recognized, how-
ever, that although it could not approve of the scheme the affair
was primarily a Foreign Office concern, and decided not to press
its point. N heless its attitude infl d its colonial g

The Foreign Office were more deliberate in determining their
attitude to the cession. Here Dent had the good fortune to have
watching the affair Sir Julian P: fote, at that time P
Under Secretary, and later, as Lord Pauncefote, first Ambassador
to the United States of America. Pauncefote was a family friend
of long standing, and had known Dent in Hong Kong. He was in
whole hearted agreement with Dent’s project, and it is not too
much to say that the labours of this civil servant secured North
Borneo for the British, in the face of years of delay and opposition
from other government departments and politicians. It is possible
that the very idea of reviving the chartered company concept,
which had lapsed with the East India Company, emanated from
him. It was he who decided that no action would be taken until
Dent reached London, although Edward Dent was told unofficially
that the Foreign Office attitude was favourable.

Encouraged by this, Dent, on his return to London, submitted
to Lord Sa \hsbury, Foreign Secrctary in th Conservative Govern-
ment of Lord B an lication for a
Royal Charter. After outlining his activities in Bornen, Dent said
that his proposed company would not seek to impose any mono-
poly of trade; nor would it permit any foreigner, whether Euro-
pean, Chinese or other, to own slaves; and it would abolish by
degrees the system of slavery prevailing in the ceded territory. It
would respect native rights and instituti give equal
to all in the courts of justice, and it would adopt the system of
raising revenue by means of strictly controlled farms which was in
force in the colonies of Labuan, Hong Kong and the Straits Settle-
ments. If a Charter were granted he was prepared to accept terms
stipulating that the Company would remain British in character;
that the consent of the British government would be obtained
before any transfer of territory took place, and that all disputes

P.R.O., F.O. 11;54 Consul, Sarawak to Colonial Office, 23 May 1878 and
17 F:bnury 1879.
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with the Sultan would be submitted to it; that the appointment
of the Governor and the chief judicial officer would be subject
to the approval of the British government, and that the Company
would endeavour to provide all possible facilities for the Royal
Navy.

These binding restrictions, the outline of which Pauncefote
had suggested to Dent, might have led to the immediate granting
of a Charter. British expansion was progressing in North and South
Africa, India and the Far East, and Beaconsfield was not one to
react ad ly to the ption of more responsibilities. There
were international complications, however, in particular the claims

// of Spain. In 1851, in a short-lived burst of successful warfare, she

'/ had for the moment beaten Sulu to her knees. In the treaty of
capitulation Sulu had admitted herself a vassal of Spain, and on
the basis of this treaty Spain was claiming all the possessions of
Sulu in North Borneo. But in the description of the territories of
the Sultan in that treaty all mention of North Borneo was ex-
cluded, and the British government had been careful never to
recognize the claim of the Spanish to sovereignty over Sulu and
her dependencies.

A most protracted correspondence over trade in the archipelago
and Spanish attacks on German ships, which under the manage-
ment of Cowie had run the Sulu blockade, had resulted in the
signing of a German-British-Spanish agreement on freedom of
trade in 1877; now a further protracted correspondence over the
Spanish claims to North Borneo helped to delay for several years
the granting of a Charter. It became clear before the discussions
ended that the position of Dent, manifested especially by Pryer’s

ful pation of north Borneo, was sound. It was not

until March 1885 however, that England, Germany and Spain

signed a convention by which the former two recognized Spanish

Y sovercignty over Sulu, and Spain in return renounced all her

claims to North Borneo. Filipino politicians, however, in moments

of nationalist fervour, still lay claim to the erstwhile Bornean
territories of the now defunct Sultanate.

This dilatory diplomatic correspondence with Spain had proved
the weakness of her claims to North Borneo. Another country
that endeavoured, with even less reason, to exclude the British
from Borneo was Holland. The Dutch had a few scattered out-
posts on the southern coast of Borneo, some hundreds of miles
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away from the scene of Dent’s activity. The north of the island
had never been under their jurisdiction; nor had they, in their
300-year tenure in the East Indies, evinced the slighest interest in
it. Neither Salisbury nor his successor, Lord Granville, both of
them well briefed by Pauncefote, was prepared to pay much atten-
tion to the Dutch claims, which they pressed most insistently, that
a British settlement in Borneo would cause a profound disturbance,
and that it was a violation of the 1824 Anglo-Dutch treaty which
had stipulated, so they insisted, that the British would settle on
no island in the East Indies south of the equator. Borneo extended
both north and south of the equator, Pauncefote informed his
ministers, and as early as 1846 it had been recognized that the
treaty did not apply to that island.

Although quite unable to stop the granting of a Charter, the
Dutch reacted strongly to the British acquisition of North Borneo.
After the settlement at Sandakan they began moving northwards,
and the news of their steady encroachment beyond the Sibuco
River, the southernmost point named by both Sultans in their
cessions, stirred the Foreign Office to expedite the Charter. The
disagreement between the two nations long remained unsettled.
Both made extravagant claims and the issue was complicated by
the fact that the position of the Sibuco River was only vaguely
known, owing to faulty mapping of the wild, swampy, and almost
uninhabited country at its delta. The dispute was ended in 1891
when a compromise suggestion by the British North Borneo
Company's Chairman, Sir Rutherford Alcock, that a parallel of
latitude be chosen, was adopted. It was not until 1912, however,
that the inland boundary, the wild mountainous range around
4° 10" south, which was the watershed for the rivers running
south and north, was demarcated by a mixed Boundary Com-
mission. Their work was agreed upon by the governments con-
cerned in September 19135, by which time the old rivalry had long
been replaced by amicable co-operation.

The only other country to object to the cession of North
Bomco was lhc Umt.ed States of America. In Fchrunry 1880

of the A Navy d on behalf
ol' his government bot.h to W. H. Read and to (hc Sultan of Brunei
that the United States did not acknowledge the competency of the
Sultan to cede or lease any portion of his dominions, in view of the
treaty of 1850 with the U.S.A. To which the Sultan replied that

U.C.C.R.~C
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he was an independent sovereign; that he had made no engage-
ment with the U.S.A. not to make cessions of territory; and that
the American government had made objections neither to the
cessions to Moses and Torrey in 1865-6, nor to those that had
been made to Rajah Brooke. There the matter ended.

While the Foreign Office was satisfying itself that its inter-
national position in regard to North Borneo was secure, Dent was
endeavouring to obtain from it a definite answer. He organized a
meeting at the Westminster Palace Hotel, in March 1879, at which
many prominent men had been prepared after a lavish dinner to

phasize the hitherto gnized value to England of North
Borneo. He forwarded to the Foreign Office a list of some of those
willing to support a Chartered Company, a list that included
several former governors of the Straits Settlements and Hong
Kong; seventeen knights; five Members of Parliament; twenty-
five business men including W. MacKinnon of the British India
Company; four admirals and three generals, the Aborigines Pro-
tection Society and the Editor of The Times; and what appears to
have carried most weight, he induced Admiral Sir Harry Keppel
and Sir Rutherford Alcock, both men of long national service in
the East, to write to Lord Salisbury and in the strongest possible
terms advocate the necessity of securing North Borneo in order to
protect the flank of the immense British trade with China. This
was the argument that clinched the matter.

The activities of Dent had, before this, rarely reached the
Secretary of State; he had had enough on his hands with the
Congress of Berlin, and with grave problems in India, Asia and
Africa; and Pauncefote had handled the business. Now Salisbury
lifted his head, called for the minutes and made his decision; North
Borneo must be retained. He swept aside the protests of Brooke
which had been steadily i ing both in vituperati and
length, pointed out the growing attention being paid to the Pacific
by other powers, and endorsed P: fote's dum which
recommended that a Charter should be granted as it would entail
no expense to the government, while providing valuable ports
from which the Navy could patrol and defend the shipping in the
China Sea, should war come.

But the affair had dragged on too long. The general elections
were at hand. Salisbury considered that a decision could not be
taken by an -going gov and the thunderings from
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Midlothian were heard in the land. As the Dent brothers feared,
a Liberal administration headed by Gladstone, was about to be
formed. Dent wavered between selling to Overbeck and cutting
his losses, already some £40,000, or hanging on in the now fading
hope of a Charter. Overbeck in Vienna endeavoured to raise funds
to buy out Dent, and approached firstly the Austrian and then the
German governments, He had some success with the latter. Ger-
man interests in the East had been increasing considerably during
the previous decade, particularly in Samoa and in shipping
strength from Singapore. A business man in Parliament, Herr
Mosle, presented a petition to Bismarck asking for a subsidy to
acquire for the State the Overbeck concession.' The idea of a
German North Bornco was momentarily entertained, but as with
other requests at that period for the establishment of colonies in
Africa and elsewhere, the petition was refused, on the oft repeated
grounds of expense and undesirability of foreign friction. A few
years later, however, Bismarck was to acquire the north coast of
New Guinea, and to develop it by a chartered company modelled
on that of North Borneo, the basic documents of which he
borrowed. Unable to sell, Dent bought, and after some business
bickering Overbeck relinquished in September 1880 all his
interests in the affair. He returned to America, there to marry an
admiral’s daughter and speculate on the railways, vanishing from
our story. In 1881 Dent succeeded in acquiring from Torrey, then
at Bangkok, all the somewhat vaguely defined interests of the
former American Company that he still retained.

With the return to po\\er, in the spring of 1880 of '.hc lecml
Party led by Glad the
Gladstone who had attnc}.cd bitterly the New Zml;md Compmy
and had referred to chartered panies with their ‘death-lik
shadow’ as being ‘the greatest obstacles to the well-being of
colonies’,? the prospect of Dent securing a Charter seemed more
distant than ever. It was two years since the cessions had been
made; now at the helm of state was the leader who when in opposi-
tion had denounced the annexation of Cyprus and the shedding of
blood that flowed as the Tories extended the borders of South

M. E. Townsend: Origins of Modern German Colonialism, 1871-1885 (New
York, 1921), pp. 50-51, 130.

“Hunsard, "hind Setics, Vol. CXXI, 2t May 1853 (on the sccond reading of
the N.Z. Government Bill).
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Africa and India. ‘They have weakened the Empire by needless
wars, unprofitable extensions and unwise engagements he
roared.

But Gladstone was not opposed to colonization as such. Handled
wisely, colonization could have excellent results. He maintained
that England should not be called on to interfere in a colony, and
should not be asked to send troops, but that it should control
foreign relations only. This was all that was asked by Dent, in
whosc application there was also the humanitarian appeal of the
pledge to suppress slavery. The Charter gave the Company no
new power; rather it placed it far more under the control of the
government than had been for example the previous New Zealand
Company, the abuses of which Gladstone had been so eloquent in
attacking. As Gladstone saw, it gave the government power with-
out expense. A Charter was closer than Dent thought.

Determined to settle the affair, the indefatigable Pauncefote
sent a memorandum on the question to his new chicf, Lord
Granville. He said a decision was needed urgently; Germany,
Spain, Holland and Russia were all interested. He spoke in favour
of a Charter, and suggested a restrictive clause binding the Com-
pany to the directions of the Secretary of State. He enclosed, for
Cabinet perusal, a statement of Dent's activities and plans. Gran-
ville, ‘Pussy’ to his friends, wrote a languid ‘proceed’, and the
d with the fz bl of a few of the Cabinet
but not of Gladstone, were sent to the Law Offices of the Crown.
At last things were under way. The Law Office saw no objection
in point of law to the granting of a Charter and two months later,
an interval quite in keeping with the tempo of all previous corres-
pondence, the Foreign Office informed Dent that, as the govern-
ment considered it important that North Borneo should not fall
into the hands of any other nation, but was unwilling to increase its
expenditure in that area, it was disposed to recommend his appli-
cation to the Queen. And in January 1881 the main clause the
Foreign Office wished to sce in the Charter, by which the Com-
pany had to act on the advice of the Secretary of State if he dis-
agreed with any of its dealings either internally or with foreign
powers, was forwarded by Pauncefote, by whom, no doubt, it was
written,

Dent formed a Provisional Association and transferred to it all

VThe Annual Register, 1880, p. 35.
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his interests and powers for [120,000. He had done well. The
Association was led by Sir Rutherford Alcock, a retired official from
the Far East, with valuable contacts in the Foreign Office and
clsewhere; Dent remained the driving force and his ramifications
were in the City. A draft Charter was drawn up and submitted to
the Law Offices. As Pauncefote had secured one of its lawyers to
prepare the Charter for Dent, not surprisingly it was approved.
Pauncefote was called on to reassure Lord Kimberley that the
Charter did not vest the sovereignty of the territory in the British
government, and finally, by an Order in Council in August,
published in November 1881, a Charter was granted to the British
North Borneo Company.

The Charter empowered the Company to acquire all the powers
of the Provisional Association, and went on to stipulate that the
Company must remain British in character; must not transfer
any of its grants without the permission of the British govern-
ment; must suppress slavery; must not interfere with the religious
or other customs of the natives; and must take the advice of the
British government if it disagreed with either the Company’s
treatment of the natives or its dealings with foreign powers. The
appointment of its chief representative in Borneo was to be
subject always to the approval of the British government, while
the provision of facilities for the Royal Navy and a prohibition of
a monopoly of trade were further stipulations.

F ollomng the pubhmuun of the Charter, Gladstone wrote to
Granville in some perpl at this new expansion of British
interests. When were the North Borneo papers submitted to the
Cabinet, he wanted to know, and were his initials on them?
Granville himself was vague, and thought they had circulated
between October and November of 1880 (that is a year before),
but he could not recollect seeing the initials of the Prime Minister.
Gladstone checked on his letters to the Queen; there was no
refererice there. He called for the papers in question. He had no
recollection of ever reading them before, nor could he remember
the meeting at which the decisive resolution was taken. He found
himself ‘in the condition of shutting the stable door after the stud
has been stolen.” The casual manner in which government
business was done at this time resembles more the eighteenth

P.RO. The Granville Papers, G.D.2g/124, Gladstone to Granville, 20
January 1882.
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than the twenticth century, and Gladstone’s use of an equine
simile reflects unconsciously the centre of much of his Cabinet's
interest and pre-occupation. Gladstone made a few objections,
rather in the annoyed manner of a man overlooked than anything
else, and there the matter ended. i

This is the story as culled from official records. There is, how-
ever, a somewhat different account, from an eye witness to this
singular episode, when Glad could not b iesci
in the acquisition of a territory as large as Ireland, and that is told
by Sir Charles Dilke, one of the Cabinet.

Sir Charles Dilke held that Gladstone saw the Borneo Papers,
decided in favour of a Charter, and then forgot all about it. ‘On
November 19, 1880, the box which had been around the Cabinet on
the North Borneo business, having returned without any comment
by Mr. Gladstone, I got it sent again to Mr. Gladstone, who
finally decided, I was informed by Lord Granville, against Herbert
at the Colonial Office, Harcourt, Chamberlain, Bright, Childers
and myself, and with Kimberley, the Chancellor and Granville.
So it was settled that the charter was to be granted; but a little
later Mr. Gladstonc forgot the decision which he had given,
insisted that he had never heard of the matter at all, went the
other way and would have stopped the charter, but for the fact
that it was too late.”

It was left to Granville, prompted by Pauncefote who had
maintained a rather suspicious silence when Gladstone’s ques-
tions had been ringing round the Foreign Office, to reassure the
Prime Minister that all was well. The government was not com-
mitted to any greater responsibility than it already had towards
Brooke. And besides, said Granville, there were more important
matters at hand, Gambetta, Turkish aid and a leaning to joint
intervention. For the problem of Egypt was already looming
large; the bombardment of Alexandria was already within sight.
The two passed on to a discussion of the canal. The two subjects
were not so dissimiliar. For as with Egypt, so with North Borneo,
the strong underlying motive for intervention by the British
Government was and has remained the desire to protect the
immensely valuable trade route between England and the Orient.
This was recognized both by Salisbury and Pauncefote, and by

*S. Gwynn and G. Tuckwell: The Life of Sir Charles Dilke (2 vols.) (London,
1917), Val. I, pp. 388-90.
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Disraeli and Gladstone, and this was why, in the eighteen-eighties
Egypt and North Borneo came under British control.

Gladstone was reassured by Granville, and defended the
Charter from the political attacks of the Conservatives in the
House of Commons a few months later. He then pointed out that
by the Charter the Company was held responsible for the sup-
pression of slavery, and that the Home Government could
ensure that there was no misconduct over the use of opium, both
extremely desirable powers. He went on to say that although he
was more opposcd to annexation of territory than before, yet it
seemed quite impossible to check the tendency of British enter-
prise to carry on commerce beyond the limits of civilization; and
that the best thing to do was to try to regulate it. The Charter it
should be obvious, he said, was one of constraint, not privilege,
entered into by the Company to raise its standing in the City. He
ventured to think that this method of control was far better than
merely sitting with folded arms, letting things just go on.

After a debate noted neither for its knowledge nor its enthu-
siasm, and as such typical of many on colonial affairs in the nine-
teenth century, in which the few Conservatives complained rather
at the manner in which the Charter was granted, by Order in
Council and not as Act of Parliament, than at the granting of the
Charter itself and the probable acquisition of territory that it
entailed, the lukewarm criticism, which had languished already in
the Lords, grew cold and died.! The British North Borneo
(Chartered) Company had begun its placid career.

This method of supporting expansion, by which a government
reluctant to accept financial responsibility in remote places of the
carth, was induced to grant a Royal Charter to those who were,
was adopted by several other governments, and many historians
have noted the rash of chartered companies that spread over
Africa. But few havc been aware of any link more intimate than

ion. Yet the infl of the British North
Borneo Comp:my goes decper than that 6f mere example. W.
MacKinnon of the British India Company was a personal friend
as well as a business associate of both Alfred and Edward Dent,
and to him, as the Charter progressed, the dispatches and memor-
anda forwarded both officially and unofficially by Pauncefote to
Dent at Old Broad Street were constantly sent. He became

Hansard, Third Series, Vol. CCLXVIII, pp. 1188-96, 1148-1230.
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thoroughly acquainted with all the details, and when the success
of the British North Borneo Company was assured he succeeded
in a similar endeavour with the Imperial East Africa Company, its
Charter being granted by another Order in Council, this time in
1888. Thus was Kenya added to the Empire. Nigeria was brought
in in much the same way. The personal friendship of James
Taubman Goldie with Sir Rutherford Alcock, and his business
acquaintanceship with Alfred Dent helped him to secure from a
Liberal Government, still reluctant to expand, a Charter identical
with that of North Borneo. Even today it is interesting to note that
11 Old Broad Street, once the home of the B.N.B. Company, is
still the office of the British South Africa Company formed by
Rhodes; and though Rhodes, of course, needed little inspiration
from London, yet he knew them all, Goldie, MacKinnon, Ruther-
ford and Dent, and without their example he could scarcely have
ventured into a charterless sea. Powerful indeed were those men,
and the pressures that drove them, in that late nineteenth century
City of London.
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CHAPTER THREE

EXPANSION AND PROTECTION

large, they were not in all cases conterminous. And as the

administration of the Chartered Company assumed strength
on the west coast, and district officers made unknown jungle
familiar, great irritation and inconvenience were caused by the
enclaves of independent territory dividing the lands of Sabah.
The independent rivers, owned mainly by absentee landlords
living in Brunei, became convenient refuge holes for trouble-
makers, smugglers and slavers flecing from the growing authority
around them. Inevitably these areas retarded the development of
the lands in which they were embedded.

The Company set out to acquire these west coast rivers, and at
the same time end| d to expand ds in the face of
violent opposition from Charles Brooke. Sabah was separated from
Sarawak by Brunei,a Malay State even more stricken than those on
the Malay Peninsula mto wlnch the British were then being forced
to p It was hopel corrupt, and on the
verge of anarchy. The aged Sultan had no police, and little
authority; the nobles squabbled, bickered and extracted every
cent they could from their oppressed people.

In Malaya this state of affairs was remedied by the institution of
the Resident system, whereby the various rulers were induced to
accept at their courts British officers who with an iron fist in a
velvet glove brought law, order and financial security to the penin-
sula counterpart of Brunei. In Borneo the matter was solved
differently. The great ambition of the Brookes, both James and
Charles, had been to possess all North and West Borneo and to
make it a national park for their Dyaks. The arrival of the Char-
tered Company had ruined that scheme, unless the Company could
be itself ruined, but meanwhile Charles, unfettered by any Resi-
dent, with no Charter clause permitting British interference in his
internal or external activities, was determined to secure all that

g LTHOUGH the territories ceded by the Sultan of Brunei were
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remained of Brunei. So for that matter was the Chartered Com-
pany. As app d by P: fote in London, absorption, not pro-
tection, was the plan for Borneo. It was not a situation to make for
friendship, especially when the British colony of Labuan in
Brunei Bay, which could have held the ring, supported first one
and then the other, and then became itself a prize in the fight.

Treacher on the suggestion of the Admiralty had already quietly
annexed the uninhabited island of Balamt and in 1883 he
acquired the Pangalat River for $300 annually. The following year
he purchased the Putatan district, a rich river territory only six
miles from Gaya (the island post that had replaced the pioneer
settlement on the Tempasuk River), where a hundred or so
Chinese smuggled opium into North Borneo. After protracted
discussions with its penniless owner, Muda Damit, son of the
unfortunate Muda Hassim, whom James Brooke mourned, in
Brunei, it was exchanged for $1,000 yearly. The rich alluvial
plain, which lay at the foot of towering Mount Kinabalu, was used
mainly for rice cultivation of a most elaborate kind, with dykes,
sluices, levels and methods of work comparable to Burma. Private
ownership was clearly marked; boundaries firmly shown by stone
and wooden landmarks, some standing seven fect high, and in
many cases carved to represent a human figure. The inhabitants
were mainly Dusuns who for years had suffered the depredations
of their Brunei Malay masters. Instructions were given that the
friendship of the chiefs was to be cultivated, that they should be
asked to hear all disputes and grievances with the administrator,
and that native institutions and customs were to be respected.
This was done, and peaceful government was the result.

A far more valuable piece of territory farther south was obtained
a few months later. This was the Padas-Klias Peninsula, fertile
Brunei territory adjoining the southern boundary of North
Borneo. With a coastline over seventy miles long and an area of
nearly 4,000 square miles, where Dusun-speaking descendants of
Chinese produced sago and pepper,! the district had been sought
for by Sarawak, with the support of the governor of Labuan,
which lay opposite. It was only by a judicious supply of dollars
to the harem of the Sultan that Davies, the West Coast Resident,

*British North Borneo Herald, August, 1888 “The natives . . . are very proud
of their Chinese descent, they still wear the queue . . . and many Chinese
customs and usages are still in common use.”
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overcame Sarawak opposition and secured its cession in 1884 for
$3,000 yearly. Brooke objected immediately, and when the Com-
pany moved in it was necessary to arrest and expel Pengeran
Karim, a Sarawak subject who was endeavouring to sow unrest
among the natives.

This large and important annexation thoroughly alarmed
Brooke, who asserted that the cession had been obtained from
the Sultan under false pretences, and that the deed was invalid.!
His agent, Everett, who had been authorized to negotiate for the
area on behalf of Sarawak, forwarded fabricated protests to
London.? The headmen, on the advice of Leys, the governor of
Labuan, refused to collect poll-tax, and returning from the island
said that the lease of the peninsula was cancelled and that the
Rajah of Sarawak had summoned them all to a meeting to discuss
resistance. Under the treaty of 1847 between Britain and Brunei,
the lease was referred back to the British government, and for
some months the situation was delicate. But in the Province if
there was uncertainty there was little unrest, although the Sarawak
agent at Brunei tried vainly to discover some flaw in the tran-
saction, In May 1886 Leys landed on the peninsula and informed
the assembled natives that in the eyes of the Queen the cession
was binding and final, a decision that had been conveyed to him
six months before.

Another vain attempt by Brooke to check the southward march
of North Borneo occurred carly in 1885, when Treacher, after
securing the Mantanani Islands out in the China Sea, negotiated
for and purchased the small Kawang River from its absentee land-
lord in Brunei. Brooke protested as usual, and supported the
claims to the river of a rival, Pengeran Raup. It had been this same
Pengeran whose support Brooke had relied upon in 1878 when he
endeavoured to stir up armed resistance to Dent and Overbeck.
The case, heard by the Brunei Sultan in his role of overlord, con-
firmed the validity of the cession. Shortly after the cession two
Europeans, a doctor and the chief of police, and two constables
were attacked and killed by followers of the pretender, and
Treacher wrote, ‘I cannot help expressing my opinion that Rajah
Brooke, by intriguing against us and supporting Pengeran Raup
in his illegal claims to the Kawang, and also by interfering in the

1Governor to Court of Directors, 15 March 1885.

*Governor to Court of Directors, 25 May 1885,
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Padas, where judicious methods have obviated bloodshed, is
acting a scandalous part."t

Rajah Brooke had not contented himself with efforts to discredit
and thwart the Company in the areas they had secured. In 1882,
in the move which the Consul at Kuching had forecast eight
years before, he had acquired from the Sultan the great
Baram River adjoining his northern boundary. Brunei was
steadily shrinking, and Brooke was eager for its complete extinc-
tion. Coming to the north of Brunei shortly after Treacher had
purchased the Padas-Klias Peninsula, he annexed the solitary
‘Trusan River. This move not only barred Treacher’s southward
march, but also forced Brunei, by this time approaching the
final stages of disintegration and anarchy, into the powerful
encircling embrace of Sarawak.

Only one river lay between Brunei town and the Trusan, the
Limbang, on an arm of which lay Brunei in a position somewhat
similar to that of Alexandria on the Nile. The struggle between
Brooke to secure the Limbang, and the Sultan to retain it, was to
be one of the main events leading to the reluctant intervention of
the British government and the proclamation of a Protectorate
over the whole area.

‘There had been no suggestion of a Protectorate in North Borneo
since James Brooke had been offered one in 18357; the British
government had been quite content with the influence exerted by
Brooke and later with the position held by the Chartered Com-
pany. No further assumption of authority was envisaged. It was
content to watch the disappearance of Brunci and see others under-
take the expenses of government. Now, however, fearful of the
efforts of Charles Brooke to acquire rivers to the north of Brunei,
and so envelop it, Sir Rutherford Alcock, the Chairman of the
Chartered Company, in 1884 begged the British government to
establish a Protectorate over Brunei.*

Alcock expressed the fear that another European power might
intervene, particularly Germany. The scramble in Africa had
begun, and European nations were engaged in the search for
territories elsewhere. Germany had just acquired northern New
Guinea, and the Chairman pointed out her interests in the area
around North Borneo; the coal mines which were being worked at

1Governor to Court of Directors, 15 May 1885.

3Sir R. Alcock to Sir J. Pauncefote, 31 December 1884.




EXPANSION AND PROTECTION 35

the mouth of the Brunei River by W. C. Cowie were another
inducement, he said, apart from the anarchy prevailing in the
Sultanate, for the intervention of a foreign power. He drew the
government’s attention to the personal rule of the Brooke dynasty,
and pointed out that there was nothing to restrain Sarawak from
seceding to another country, as had been suggested before. British
interests were in danger of being overlooked, he maintained. These
arguments, though valid, were merely pretexts: what the com-
pany really feared was an intriguing and powerful Brooke on their
border.

Treacher added to the pressure by forwarding a petition from
Chinese and Indian traders in Brunei, praying for a British Pro-
tectorate. Granville endeavoured to reassure the Company, and,
to dispel their fears that Sarawak might pass to some foreign
power, he said that the Rajah would be called upon to sign a
formal agreement that none of his territory would ever be ceded
without the consent of the British government.

This was as far as the British government was prepared to go
for the moment. It had been with reluctance that it had finally
acquiesced in the expansionist policy of Sir Andrew Clark in the
Malay Peninsula; it had not yet entered fully intosucha programme,
and was not prepared to assume responsibilities elsewhere.
Nevertheless the attitude towards expansion was changing, as
both the French and the Germans, in Africa and in the Pacific
continued to enlarge their colonies. The Chairman wrote to the
Governor: ‘The proceedings of the German Chancellor in Africa,
New Guinea and clsewh have th ghly kened our
Government to the danger of delay and vacillation . . . both Sir
R. Herbert at the Colonial Office and Sir J. Pauncefote say that a
Protectorate is the right thing; and that they hoped to get it.”
‘The permanent officials were to have their way.

Since the Treaty of 1847, all cessions of land by the Sultan of
Brunei had required the consent of the British government.’
The Company had hoped that the acquisition by Brooke of the
Trusan would not be recognized; for it lay to the north, with
Brunei territory on either side, and had no connexion with Sarawak.
If this bar to their expansion were removed, they would be able to
move south, and, if the government did not intend to establish a
Protectorate, take over Brunei themselves. Negotiations with

1Sir R. Alcock to Governor, 2 January 1885,
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Cowie, the lessee of the Muara coal field and possessor of far-
reaching territorial and sovereign rights there, were begun, but
collapsed when the Court heard that London did not object to
the acquisition of the Trusan River by Sarawak. Cowie, since
Muara was surrounded by land which Sarawak had seized, subse-
quently sold his cessions to Brooke and returned to England where
he was later to be elected to the Company and to become its
dominant spirit.

Sarawak and the Company by this time were openly conflicting,
intriguing in Brunci, and endeavouring to frustrate each other's
occupation of newly acquired rivers. The British- government
decided intervention was necessary. Pauncefote at the Foreign
Office, his finger still in the Borneo pie, drew up a plan of settle-
ment. He proposed a Protectorate not over Brunei alone but over
the three warring states, so that all their future contacts with each
other would be through the British government, or rather its
deputy, the Governor of the Straits Settlements, who would be

ppointed the High C issi for Borneo.

Territorially, it was suggested that not only should Brooke
retain the T'rusan and take the Limbang from Brunei, but that he
should be given permission by the British government to take all
the Brunci territories between those two rivers, and all those
between the Limbang and the northern boundary of Sarawak, the
Baram River, excluding only the Brunei River. North Borneo
was to have the permission of the British government to secure
all the remaining Brunei territory between their boundary and
the northern outpost of Sarawak, the Trusan, and to obtain all
the small independent rivers still intervening in her west coast
Residency. To Brunei was left nothing but the small feeder
subsidiary of the Limbang River. Pauncefote suggested that Sir
Francis Weld, Governor of the Straits Settlements should be sent
to supervise ‘the delicate negotiations™ that would be necessary.

This was a bad settlement. It is not only hard to understand
how Pauncefote could have planned it, but how it secured the
approval of the Colonial Office as well. It remorselessly deprived
Brunei of life without extinguishing her. In Malaya and Africa,
in territories under the control of the Foreign or Colonial Offices,
native authoritics were being buttressed, and their territories

1P.R.0., F.0.12/73, F.O. Minute for Lord Salisbury’s approval, 29 October
1886.
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preserved; order was being imposed inside Lhe existing fmmcwork
Butnot in Brunei. The lhmhnglwhmd h was d
and its ion has left di ions on the large-

scale map of Borneo. With a resurgent Brunu an unhappy harvest
may yet be reaped from Pauncefote’s policy. The Colonial Office
approved however—it rarely argued with the Foreign Office
before the time of Chamberlain—and the plan was adopted. Weld
left for Brunei, although his departure was delayed five months,
until the Treasury gave approval.

In Brunei he found the Sultan insistent on two points; his
desire for a British Resident and his refusal to yield the Limbang
River. The Sultan had observed the work of his friend Hugh Low
in Perak; it was obvious to him that if he were to save his tottering
State he must preserve what remained of its territory and secure
a British administrator. Weld agreed with him on both issues, told
the Colonial Office a Resident should be appointed at once, and
recommended Davies, the Resident of the Chartered Company on
the west coast, who was also eminently acceptable to the Sultan.
He rebuked Brooke and his Consul for their activities in Brunei,
and informed the Sultan that he would not be forced to cede any
of his territory. He hoped that the Trusan, a white elephant of
little or no use to Sarawak from which it was divorced, would be
ceded to the Company alongside. Brunei was left in hopes of a
new era.

The Sultan was quickly disillusioned. In London Herbert and
Pauncefote agreed that Brunei could no longcr pay for a Bnush
Resident, and neither was p d to h the
Treasury for an annual gmnl “The suggmuon that the Resident
should be supported by the Straits Settlements was discarded. No
Resident was appointed. Brooke waited a few years, then in
March 1890 steamed up the Limbang and annexed it. The Sultan
refused to discuss p ion, declined rep dly, although all
Brunei was impoverished, to accept the $6,000 Sarawak had
decided was a fair annual rental, and wrote persistently to the
Foreign Office asking for his river. Finally in 1895 he was in-
formed that the question was closed, and Sarawak was instructed
to spend the $6,000 developing the Limbang.?

Brunei acquired no Resident and lost the Limbang. She signed
a Protectorate agreement, however, on 17 September 1888, and

P.R.0., F.0.12/106, F.O. Memorandum.




38 UNDER CHARTERED COMPANY RULE

by it Great Britain barred the intervention of any other power in
an area which she felt unable to govern. It was not an action
worthy of her. The treaty was signed by the Sultan and by Hugh
Low, formerly of Labuan, and at that time the leading exponent
of the Resident system in the Malay States. Low had built up
Perak from a debt-saddled anarchy-ridden country into a pros-
perous and contented State, and current conjecture named him
as the first governor of the amalgamated territories of North
Borneo, Sarawak and Brunei. Despite numerous common pro-
blems, however, prospects of closer association did not appear
possible until after 1946, when both Sarawak and North Borneo,
cach with an identical superstructure of administration poised
ponderously over sparse and primitive peoples, became colonial
territories. A similar Protectorate agreement was signed by North
Borneo, the Company being well pleased with the additional
stability and prestige it thus acquired (Dent himself securing a
knighthood), and by Sarawak, which was called on to state that any
future question as to the right of succession would be referred to Her
Majesty's Government for decision. It was stipulated that relations
between the territories should be conducted through Great Britain.
In Brunei a wave of anti-European feeling swept the country.

The Limbang River, a fine waterway, and a broad powerful
stream which provided one of the main avenues of transport for
Brunei, was a sad loss. After 1906, when the British policy of
absorption was reversed, the Colonial Office, which had taken over
the surveillance of the Borneo affairs from the Foreign Office,
thought that the problem would best be solved if Brooke returned
the river to Brunei. It was hoped that, as Brooke had failed to
acquire Brunei, the reason for his seizure of the Limbang, Sarawak
would reconsider its hold. The matter was discussed several
times, but no changes were made, although Brunci secured a
minor success in 1921, when it won back the administrative and
territorial rights at Muara which Cowic had sold to Brooke.

The Limbang question was rcvwcd in 1941 Sarawak, appar-

cmly inced that its d an unworthy page
in its hlsmrv, propuscd a ﬁmncml rcdress of some $20,000, and
$1,000 . This was d pted by Brunei, but

the curious dcal was cancelled when it came to the hearing of the
High Commissioner (then known as the British Agent) through
whom all Sarawak-Brunei affairs had to pass.
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‘The hostile anti-European feeling among the peoples of Brunei
at the signing of the Protectorate in 1888 helped to aggravate a
somewhat delicate situation that had arisen in Province Dent, as
the Padas-Klias Peninsula had been called. There was a small
river, the Padas Damit, in the peninsula, and this river was not
included in the cession, but was governed on behalf of his sister
by Pengeran Shabandar, a noble of some character. It had been
hoped at the time of the cession that the boundaries between the
two would be defined amicably, but this was not to be. He laid
claim to the right bank of the neighbouring stream, whose inhabi-
tants insisted they were subjects of North Borneo, His possessions,
they stated, ended on the crest of the small watershed between
them, and in procession they marked the border with flags. The
Pengeran persisted in his claim, and began raiding the river at night.
The dispute was referred to Brunei, where in February 1887 the de-
cision was given that the boundary was the watershed. The Pengeran
ignored the decision and began raiding by day with larger forces,
while his home became a refuge for several murderers and rebels.

The arrival of Hugh Low was imminent; it was also expected
that a British Resident in Brunei would be appointed by the end
of the year. They, it was felt, would scttle the affair, and meanwhile
the Governor tried unavailingly to protect his people. Low
arrived, and although authorized solely to secure the Sultan's
signature to the Protectorate, he offered to arbitrate, as further
disturbances on the Padas Damit boundary were reported. His
offer was rejected. Governor Creagh, formerly an assistant under
Low in Perak, and now successor to Treacher, learning lhnt the
appointment of a British Resident was not in-
formed the Court he would have to send in an expedition to rescue
the North Bornean subjects held prisoners, if the Pengeran
refused to accept Low’s proposal. The Pengeran Shabandar said
that he would do what he liked without reference to any white
man, and ignored an offer of arbitration by his cousin in Brunei,
where Creagh sent a representative. Low told Creagh he could
see only one step to take; swift intervention with an armed force
of overwhelming strength, the same policy that had swept Britain
swiftly into Upper Burma.

In London the Court appealed to the Foreign Office to inter-
cede, in view of the Charter which stipulated that differences
between the Sultan of Brunei and the Company were to be

U.C.C.R.~D
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submitted to the British government for decision. Later the Pro-
tectorate was urged as another plea for intervention, and again the
Foreign Office declined to interfere. D. Daly, the acting west coast
Resident, sent Shabandar an ultimatum; stating that he must either
hand over four noted criminals sheltering there and release his
prisoners, or the Company would intervene. No answer was
received, and at the head of a small force Daly crossed the Padas
Damu bnrdcr on 7 November 1888.

diately he ran into difficulties. The Pengeran had built
four powerful forts along the river, and although Daly was joined
by all the principal chiefs from the Padas and Klias Rivers they
were held up in front of the first. Ammunition ran out; only four
out of a hundrcd poha: could fire Lhc small mountain guns;

were ition sent from
Singapore was nearly all usdnss; and thc force was badly led and
most ineficient. The fighting dragged on. In December two guns
and in January some hundred Sikhs were sent from Perak. By
February the main fort had been captured. In March the Pen-
geran ceded the small river, having submitted to the arbitration of
Hamilton, the new and very deaf Governor of Labuan, arbitration
in which Brooke, still ‘a spurious and dangerous element in North
Borneo politics” endeavoured to interfere.

Creagh excluded all Europeans from the area for ten years, and
received immediate instructions to reduce the police force, as
Dent considered that it was apt to make officers less moderate and
more dictatorial than they would otherwise be. The Court in
London hoped that the natives of the Padas Damit River would be
won over by kindness and sympathy. Daly ascertained the names of
the subordinate chiefs, and governed the river through them,
sending in a medicine chest and a doctor for the wounded and
sick, a doctor who stood by helplessly as Daly himself died of
fever. The Pengeran was advised by Rajah Brooke that, as he had
given no cause or provocation for an attack, he was entitled to
claim heavy damages from the Company, but he decided to visit
Mecca instead, sending his children to a Singapore school while
en route.

This was to be the last acquisition of land by the Company from
the Brunei chicfs until the close of the century. Various mcrs
along the west coast were still independent, but their bound:

Daly to Governor, 14 February 1889.
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were well defined and for some years the chiefs conducted them-
selves in a peaceful manner. The British government had autho-
rized aquisition of these territories by the Company, but
Creagh promised that as long as they did not raid his territory for
slaves, or harbour criminals, he would leave them alone. This
promise he kept. And although the area between the southern
boundary of North Borneo, the Padas-Klias Peninsula, and the
northern outpost of Sarawak, the Trusan River, was less peaceful
and more truculent, and although it had been assigned to North
Borneo by Pauncefote, here again no steps were taken for a decade.

During the administration of Creagh there was, however, one
other addition to the Company’s territory, the British colony of
Labuan which was handed over in 1889. The British government,
alone of those who over the previous forty-odd years had been
reducing the territory of the incompetent Sultans of Brunei, had
secured Labuan for nothing. It alone paid no cession money. The
island was taken over on 24 December 1846, garrisoned by Indian
Sepoys for twenty years and administered by a Governor and a
nominated council for forty years. It had long smcc failed m
develop into a northern Singapore and had 1
‘When a renewed attempt to work the coal mines fmlcd, Governor
Leys in 1886 informed the Foreign Office of its critical financial
plight and suggested that, as an alternative to a revival of the
Grants-in-Aid which had sustained it before, it should be united
with one of the neighbouring states.

By 1888 all the public buildings on Labuan were in the last
stages of dilapidation; staff had been reduced to a minimum and
less than ten Europeans remained. Both imports and exports
were lower than they had ever been, and the annual revenue of a
little more than £2,000 could scarcely meet the few demands made
upon it. The Chartered Company was asked in July 188 if it
would consider taking over the island. Despite its unprepossessing
appearance, it was still a Crown Colony, and its offer to the Com-
pany was a tribute to its administration. The offer was accepted
immediately, and following the usual interval of time necessary in
such ions Creagh d the g hip of the island
on 1 January 18go.

Although the island remained a Crown Colony, the Chartered
Company had understood that it could govern Labuan in the same
manner as the rest of its possessions, making it in administration
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what it was in fact, an integral part of North Borneo. In his plans
for putting the island on a paying basis Creagh considered impos-
ing the shipping dues and the tax on imports that were enforced in
North Borneo. The British government gave the Company to
understand that it would not object to any action of the Governar
in administering Labuan if it had been approved by Sir Rutherford
Alcock and the remainder of the Court in London. In June 1890,
however, the Colonial Minister issued strict instructions that the
Chartered Company was to govern Labuan as before, that all
Proclamations needed the consent of the Crown, and that Labuan’s
free port was to be maintained. The island was not to be made an
integral part of North Borneo. The British government had
admitted the inability of Labuan to pay its way as a free port by
transferring it. Now it doomed the Chartered Company to sup-
port a failing enterprise while denying it the right to put the island
back on its feet economically. Providentially another effort at
developing the large coal resources at the end of the island was
made by a British company; several hundred Chinese labourers
were imported; revenue increased and the island’s cconomy
became solvent.

Creagh was authorized to abolish the Legislative Council, which
for some time had been a farce, meeting scarcely once a year, and
to govern by I’roclamanon He appom!cd a Chinese Adusory
Board, and d various Ord: the provisions of
which, like nmr]y all North Borneo Ordinances throughout its
history were taken from the Straits Settlements, or the Malay
Peninsula. He then returned to Sandakan, leaving the administra-
tion of Labuan in the hands of a Resident. The Court forwarded
all ordinances to the Colonial Office, but otherwise did not trouble
it, and Labuan continued on its uneventful way, the idiosyn-
cracies of its people providing a basis for the stories of Conrad,
Clifford, and later Maugham.

By 1895 the tact and consideration for the people shown by
the administration of Treacher and Creagh, both guided and
supported by Dent and Alcock, had been replaced by the pushing
aggressiveness of Cowie. He had forced Dent off the Court and
dispatched to Borneo the first Governor who was not a colonial
ofﬁccr from the Malay States, Lemstcr P Bmufurt. During his

there was wid ion which cul-
minated in the one serious name rising North Borneo was to

i %
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experience. It is dealt with more fully clsewherc.‘ here all that
needs to be noted is one incident of that rising, which led to the
acqummon of more territory by the Company.

The rising was led by one Mahomed (Mat) Salleh, who after
several brushes with authority on the east coast crossed the
country and in 1896 persuaded the wild Bajaus, who' had settled
along the banks of two of the independent rivers on the west coast,
the Inanam and the Mengkabong, to cross the bay with him and
attack the government station on the island of Gaya. Gaya was
looted and burnt. A force sent to punish the attackers plunged into
the territory of the two Brunei rivers and inflicted considerable
damage. Salleh fled into the far interior, and while the Company
claimed large damages from the Sultan of Brunei, for it was his
subjects who had sacked Gaya, the Sultan claimed even larger
damages for the destruction wrought along the Inanam. Cowie
came out from London and after long negotiation the two claims
were dropped. The Sultan surrendered his sovereign rights for
$1,200 annually, the various chiefs of the rivers sold their terri-
torial or ‘tulin’ rights for yearly payments ranging from $2,500
to $200, and the independent rivers of Inanam, Mengkabong,
M 1, Api Api, Simbulan and Nafas Tambalang became part
of North Borneo. Their independence was a nuisance even before
the Gaya raid; the Muruts of the interior had found in these
territories ideal centres for buying arms and for selling their
children; and runaway labourers and convicts had taken refuge
there. The Kinarut River, another which jutted into North Borneo
territory, had been acquired in 1897 when its inhabitants after
driving out the agent of their absentee owner, who had come to
exact taxes and slaves, asked Beaufort for protection from his
avarice. The territory was now a compact whole.

The rivers between North Borneo and Sarawak, which Brunei
owned, were not acquired until the next century. These too had
become a source of trouble, as they provided uncontrolled high-
ways into the interior of North Borneo. Lawas, the most important
of them, was a renowned slave market as late as 1902, The curse
slowly had been stamped out in North Borneo, but the remote
inland tribes of Muruts found in the Lawas country a ready
Brunei market for their unwanted children, in return for guns and
ammunition. Little effort was made by Sarawak to stop the traffic

1See pp. 199-207.
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from its northern outpost, and after obtaining the permission of
the British government, which with Mr. Chamberlain as its
Colonial Minister had become rather more active in asserting
itself, negotiations were begun at Brunei for the cession of these
rivers. Divorced from his territory round the bay by Sarawak, and
acutely impoverished, the Sultan had lost all power over them,
and was content to secure $600 for his rights. The Pengerans
accepted annual payments totalling $4,475. The Membakut River
was purchased the following year for another §2,400.

A long argument ensued over the Lawas River, which flowed
into Brunei Bay opposite Labuan. The Governor of North Borneo
maintained that documentary evidence showed that the Pengeran
in occupauun of the river was not the rightful owner, while the
High C i the powerful I held that it was
useless to rely on written records, and that the Pengeran, who had
been in control of the river for many years, must be treated as the
owner. The Chief in question, who traded on his own account,
was a man of some personality. He would have nothing to do with
the Company, nor with any other white man, except, apparently,
Rajah Brooke, who supported him in his dislike of European
government. In an effort to win him over peacefully the Company
permitted the Pengeran to employ the nephew of Rajah Brooke,
acting as their representative, to assist him in the administration,
and they made no other effort to control the trade or levy taxes.
However in 1905, in exchange for the mining rights along the west
coast, which Brooke had secured some years before when the
rivalry had been keenest, the river was absorbed by Sarawak, and
the young nephew who had made the error of working for the rival
concern was relieved of his post. North Borneo had assumed the
boundaries it has today.

With the sale of the Brunei Bay rivers, the Sultanate apparently
had reached its end. In no way whatever had the establishment of a
British Protectorate alleviated the misery, reduced the want, or
improved the condition of Brunei, which had developed not into
the Venice of the East, but something more like post-1918
Vienna. Hundreds of families had left Brunei to escape the seizure
of their women and children by imp ious chiefs and head:
who sold them into slavery. The British Consul, who might have .
exerted some influence, chose to reside uselessly on Labuan, and
from there observed the uncontrolled crime and the impending
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anarchy with which Brunci entered on the twentieth century.

Joseph Chamberlain, the Colonial Minister, decided in 1goo that
this state of affairs must be ended. He instructed the High Com-
missioner that the existing administration should be brought to
an end on the death of the Sultan, if not earlier, and the country
partitioned.* Governor Birch of North Borneo urged that, instead
of partition, a British Resident should be appointed. With his
Malayan experience to guide him he felt that the country could
be saved if taken in hand. A son of Britain's first Resident of
Perak, but with more understanding and sympathy for the peoples
under him, Birch felt that a Resident with twenty police and a
boat’s crew could keep order, suppress slavery and administer the
country on a paying basis. A vernacular school should be estab-
lished, he said, and the cession payments controlled by the Resi-
dent, who would work under the High Commissioner.

Sarawak had not lost hope that Brunei would fall to her, since
it was surrounded by her territory. She began contracting her
coils. Negotiations for its transfer were begun through the British
Consul. The terms suggested, so Birch told the High Commis-
sioner, were that the Sultan would be paid a salary of $1,000
monthly, and would assign all his sovereign rights to the Sarawak
government. These the Consul hoped would be accepted by the
Sultan under the dual pressure of debt and hunger which he
endeavoured to intensify. Birch said that when the Brunei people
heard of these secret negotiations the Sultan was told that if he
sold his country he and the Rajah would be the first two to die.
‘It is all very piteous, and I am very sorry, but believe me there is
only one course that is honourable. Abolish the Consul. Appoint a
Resident. I do urge you to do this to save the place,” said Birch.
He reiterated his pleas with great earnestness, urging on Swetten-
ham the necessity for a Resident both personally and by corres-

d Finally his were accepted. In 1905, followi:
a chance discovery of oil in Brunei territory, a British Rusldcnl
was appointed. Much human suffering would have been avoided,
however, if either the rump of territory had been partitioned or,
more in keeping with Malayan policy, if a Resident had been
appointed some seventeen years before. As it was, Brunei had been
saved just in time.

'P.R.O., F.O.12/113, Foreign Office to High Commissioner, 27 April 1900,

*Governor to High Commissioner, 18 October 1902.
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An effort had been made by the Company at the beginning of the
century to secure additional territory to the east. After the quick
collapse of the Manila government before the Americans in 1898,
Cowie endeavoured to obtain the Sulu Archipelago. Unsuccessful
here, and with definite signs that the United States Government
did not intend to relinquish its authority over its newly acquired
territories, the Company attempted to make legal its twenty-year-
old administration of two small Sulu islands some fifteen miles off
Sandakan. Cowie instructed Birch to secure them by purchase
from the Sultan, and all other islands which were near the North
Borneo coast but which had not been included in the cession
secured by Overbeck.

Birch warned the Court that this method would not succeed,
and suggested that they should approach the United States directly
and openly through the Foreign Office. He obeyed instructions
however, and the Sultan gladly accepted $3,200 for his islands,
at the same time stating in the presence of the United States
interpreter that they belonged to the U.S.A. Its reaction was
swift; an American warship visited all the islands in the Sulu sea
that were more than nine miles from the North Bornean coast,
and planted on them the United States flag. By an agreement in
1907 the U.S.A. waived its right to administer the islands lying
off Sandakan, but by the Boundary Convention of 1930 they were
included within the United States possessions. The Company
however were left in possession, though liable to expulsion at a
year's notice. Following Filipino independence after the 1939-45
war, Manila resumed authority, though, judging by the numerous
raids on neighbouring Borneo, not full control.

Disappointed here, Cowie was to suffer another blow on the
west coast. On Labuan the exports of coal which had begun again
shortly after the Company took over, continued for some years,
and the Chinese labourers imported for the coal mining, a task
almost unique in South-cast Asia, had contributed towards a
slow rise in the revenue of the island. Governor Beaufort, how-
ever, managed to produce here, as elsewhere in North Borneo,
feclings of irritation towards the régime. The situation was
aggravated by the small size of the settlement; for the little collec-
tion of officials and others were cooped up with not enough to do,
held under a burning sun and hemmed in by the jungle. In such an
atmosphere it was not difficult for grievances to be found. One,
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which led to violent argument and counter-argument by Chartered
Company officials and the Europeans employed by the coal
company arose over the railway which A. J. West had built and it
demonstrates the pettiness of outlook current in North Borneo at
the time.

‘The Central Borneo Company who worked the coal owned the
land on either side of their railway which led from Port Victoria
to the coal mine. Built on this land was the Labuan Club, from
which for some reason their officials were barred. In retaliation
the Coal Company fenced in this land beside the railway, and
when two employees of the Chartered Company cut the wire in
an effort to reach their club, they were prosecuted. The dispute,
one of several, was referred in all solemnity to the Governor and
he referred it to the Court in London, nccomp:mmd by mnps, state-
ments, da and minutes f; 11 d;gpu(g,
even more trivial, occurred when a butterfly collcl:wr rowed out
to an incoming ship, introduced himself as the pilot, and ran her
aground on the outer shoal, charging fifty dollars for his services.

A more serious affair occurred soon after. Following a deputa-
tion of four colonists in 1893, which pmxcstcd on behalf ol' the
natives, the Chinese, and the Europ against the i
tion of the Chartered Company, three petitions were sent to the
Colonial Minister in London, Joseph Chamberlain, praying for
the British government to resume the rule of the island. They com-
plained that the Legislative Council had been abolished by
the Company; that the surplus revenue was not spent in Labuan;
that there was no Sanitary Committee; that convicts were sent
to work in North Borneo; and that it was difficult to secure cur-
rency at times.

Their grievances were answered by the Governor to the High
Commissioner of the Straits Settlements, who in his capacity as
Consul General for Borneo was dispatched by Chamberlain in
1896 to i igate. He di: d that the Legislative Council,
which for several years had been a farce, with only three members
on it, and meeting once a year, had been abolished by the Colonial
Office. There was no surplus revenue, but rather an annual deficit,
which the Company paid. The other complaints were equally
without foundation, and Sir C. Mitchell reported to London that
the petitions were the result more of local social strife than of any
real sense of oppression. Beaufort removed the Resident and
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hoped the antagonisms would die from lack of provocation.
Chamberlain took no action beyond recommending that the
Company establish the right of appeal from the Governor's Court
to the High Court of Singapore, a recommendation which the
Company did not adopt.

Action was taken a few years later, however. In 1902 the Com-
pany approached the Colonial Office for a loan. The Foreign
Office, consulted by the other department, took a viewpoint com-
pletely opposed to that which they had held twenty years before,
when the importance of North Borneo in relation to the China Sea
trade had been stressed. They considered that strategically North
Borneo in foreign hands could menace British trade in a minor way
cnly, nnd that British pohcy shuuld not commit itself beyond

with a mil a British P
over the area. No loan was gncn

‘Then in an indiscreet letter to a friend at the Colonial Office
Governor Birch, after extolling the virtues of North Borneo,
suggested that the British government should annex it. A copy
of this letter reached Cowie, and he decided that Birch should be
instantly dismissed. To this decision the Colonial Office took the
gravest exception and for :\Imosz the only time in their association
a severe knuckl dmini: d to the Company by
the Colonial Office. Cown: was told not to be surprised if in future
existing arrangements were revised. Birch secured a good post in
Malaya and the following year (19o4), the Company was in-
formed that the British government had decided to resume the
administration of Labuan. Cowie wrote a violent letter of protest.
Despite the annual deficit, the prestige of administering a British
Colony had been adequate compensation. ‘Surely you will not
subject us to the jeers and jibes of those who are envious of us,’
he wrote, ‘you cannot consider humiliating us in the eyes of the
world. Such a course would be a very serious blow to our prestige,
[and be] a step little short of disastrous.” But his protests were of
no avail. Labuan was taken over by the Colonial Office in January
1906, being absorbed a year later into the Straits Settlements. It
did not revert to North Borneo until the Company had gone into
voluntary liquidation following the second world war, and North
Borneo itself had become, like its erstwhile rival down south, a
British colony.

IMr. Cowie to Mr. Villiers, 22 November 1904.




CHAPTER FOUR

ADMINISTRATION

HEN Dent became confident that his application for a
‘ [ ‘ / Charter would prosper, he acted on the suggestion of Pryer,
approached T'reacher in London, and, securing his release
from the Colonial Office for ﬁvc years, appointed hun the Com-
pany’s first Governor. He d his
on Labuan in August 1881, before the Charter was pubhshed
‘Treacher had a better knowledge than most of the languages and
peoples of what was then an almost completely neglected area. The
administrative spadework he was called on to perform, in order to
erect a superstructure of administration over an area as large as
Ireland, was to be done thoroughly and well, and the framework he
built remained the basic structure. The Company was fortunate
in so early establishing a connexion with British colonial govern-
ment, and it is surprising that this feature of its success was
avoided by the chartered companies which followed in Africa.
Treacher soon moved from Labuan, where the new colonial
governor refused to perate, and established his headquarters
in a newly discovered unmhabllcd inlet in Marudu Bay. Here, at
Kudat, was the first capital of North Borneo. Great hopes were
held of it; coastal steamers would ply down both flanks of Borneo
and from the islands to the north and east, it was thought, while
the collected trade would be drawn off by ocean-going liners from
Europe and China. These high hopes, reminiscent of those enter-
tained for Labuan fifty years before, did not eventuate. A small
town grew there, but it was always a sleepy hollow as Dent had
visualized, and in 1883 Treacher moved to bustling Sandakan,
By April 1882, the Chartered Company had been formed.
Attempts to secure as Chairman the imposing Sir Bartle Frere
or Lord Carnarvan were unsuccessful, and Sir Rutherford Alcock,
whose contacts both in the East and in the government had been
of great use to Dent, remained in the chair. Dent was the driving
force, as Managing Director. Various distinguished gentlemen
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who play no further part in our story took their places on the
Court of Directors; shares were issucd to the public; and Treacher
quadrupled his expenditure since he was assured by Dent that,
although the public had not subscribed to the extent anticipated,
yet the finances of the Company were very healthy indeed.

His action precipitated a crisis. The flow back to London of
these large drafts on the Singapore bank, and the lack of informa-
tion accompanying them caused the Directors grave uneasiness
during 1882 and the following year. Treacher was spending far in
excess of the modest income of the Company. His early reports
failed to disclose the detailed reasons for his expenditure, and
when in 1883 Dent discovered that he had engaged over forty
Europeans with a salary bill of $14,500, he was told that Selangor
in the Malay States was administered by thirtcen Europeans on
$5,000 yearly, and that Brooke was running Sarawak on an
annual salary of $11,000. Treacher’s estimates for revenue and
exp:ndnurc for 1883 were found to be far in excess of those

d, and d no to the cuts and restrictions
the Court had been stressing as necessary. Dent sped to Borneo,
and for the first time gave Treacher, who had left before the
Company was ﬂoalcd and hnd becn > peCH ided with only general
and vaguely op ption of the Company's
finances.

The amount subscribed in April 1882 had been £362,010. Out
of this had to be met the claims of the provisional association, and
for running expenses the Company could count on no more than
£150,000. Treacher had spent nearly [30,000 of this, as well as
all the locally raised revenue, and he had planned to spend another
£30,000 in 1883. There were few signs of revenue increasing in
North Borneo, and expenditure at this rate would soon have
exhausted all funds. Horrified, Treacher pulled in his horns. For
several years, although deficits continued, his restricted expendi-
ture kept requests on Singapore and London down to a minimum.
He withdrew several interior posts, reduced the administrative
staff and the polmc uccurcd a cut in the cession money to Brunei,
and ble west coast. He
retained the confidence of Londun, whu allowed him to cut his
cloth how he liked. Slowly he established a skeleton colonial
administration, putting each European in charge of several
departments, and imbuing them all with his drive. From 1887,
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when the development of a tobacco industry by Europeans first
assumed significant proportions, and land sales and export taxes
added considerably to the revenue, the budget of the territory
slowly became balanced: the Company had pulled through.
Severe though future crises were to be, the first six years of the
Company were the most critical.

The division of North Borneo into West and East Coast

Rcsldcncxc,s begun by Overbeck was maintained, each Residency

ing of various provi inis d hy Dnslnct Officers,
or u' i "hargc as they 1l i . The Heads
of Departments were in Sandakan, whxch also housed the Resi-
dent of the East Coast and the Governor, who formed there in 1883
an Advisory Council. Five official members and one unofficial
made up the numbers of this body with its rules and orders copied
verbatim from those of the Ceylon Legislative Council. The Court
wished to see Chinese and native members, and perhaps repre-
sentatives of European planters, although it was not particularly
enthusiastic over the latter, and at its second meeting a native
did appear, with Mr. Fung Ming Shan, the ‘Capitan China’ sitting
as a solitary Chinese representative. But the Chinese preferred
their own council instead, which they secured in 1890, and the one
unofficial was usually a member of the small European business
community of Sandakan. Various planters were asked to serve,
but they lived far up remote rivers and declined the honour.

The method of raising the revenue of the Company, largely
a 10 per cent tax on imports, was that in force in Hong Kong and
in the Straits Settlements. The right to collect the tax, whether
that on liquor, on opium, or on tobacco, or the right to run the
gambling rooms, which the Chinese found as essential then as the
British now find the football pools, was sold, ‘farmed’ it was
called, to the highest bidder, who thereupon, under government
supervision, engaged his own staff and undertook the task of
collecting the revenue. The customs’ farm lasted until the carly
years of the twentieth century, when the Company, following as
always the changes in colonial administration on the Malayan
peninsula, and able by 1907 to support an adequate subordinate
staff for its revenue collecting, abolished it. The opium and
gambling farms went later.

The Court wavered a little, but then decided in 1882 that its
best interests lay in leaving commercial undertakings to others. It

Perpustakaan Negard
Malaysia
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became a purely administrative company. The hatreds engendered
by the Royal Niger Company, which traded as well as governed,
and used its power to discriminate against rivals, were not a
feature of the administration of the British North Borneo Com-
pany. But neither were its profits. The decision was a wise one,

for the shareholders. Although it rendered
its gove impartial, dividends were very infreq: for
twenty years or more, and never high. There is little money in
administration.

By 1887 when Treacher left the territory it was no longer a wild
and unknown land. Witti, Hatton, Pryer, Beeston and others had
made many Joumeya of dlsco»cry _young Englishmen were pene-
trating and p large provi along the
west and cast coasts :md inland. Trade was steadily increasing;
planters were moving in; all the departments of an ordered govern-
ment were functioning. Apart from an attempt to import Chinese
ending in fiasco, for which he should not be held responsible, he
had done well. The development continued during the stop-gap
administration of Crocker, and then of C. V. Creagh, who was
loaned by the Colonial Office from Pahang. The British proclama-
tion of a Protectorate over the territory in 1888 buttressed the
development that had occurred. This prosperity depended very
largely on tobacco and land sales, however, and when in 1893 the
MacKinnon tariff in America almost climinated sales there, a
serious slump followed.

Both in North Borneo, where Ada Pryer's diary recorded the
dismal scene,! and in London, there was a lack of confidence.
Several Directors (including Alcock and Lord Brassey) resigned
and the Dent brothers sold many of their shares. The new Board of
Directors, which was headed by the banker Richard Martin, M.P.,
and had on it a firm friend of Rajah Brooke in Admiral Keppel,
decided there was no future in the Chartered Company. Brooke,
whose life-long ambition had been to possess all North Borneo
including Brunei, was asked on what terms he would consider
taking over. Too confident, Brooke overstepped himself. As an
essential pre-requisite, he said, the Company must dismiss all its
staff, and free the territory of all claims and burdens. He offered in
return an assured 1 per cent profit, plus a third of all revenue

'See Sarawak Musewm Journal, Vol. VI, 1955, ‘A Sandakan Diary of the
1890's by K. G. Tregonning.
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exceeding $210,000, the sum he needed for administration. Called
on to decide, the shareholders listened to their lawyer, who said
that the deal was crude, impracticable and illegal, and they
decided against Brooke, perhaps mindful of the uncertain personal
rule of the Brookes. There were 111 votes in favour (3,464 shares)
and 145 against (10,001 shares). At the same time the slump was
overcome in Borneo.

At the gencral meeting of the Company in London before that
at which in February 1894 the plan submitted by Brooke had been
declined officially, attacks on the Directors, aimed especially at
Alfred Dent, had resulted in the unsuccessful nomination of W. C,
Cowie to the Court. Cowie, who, after his trading ventures in the
Sulu Sea, had worked a small coal mine at Muara in Brunei with
his brother, had sold it to Rajah Brooke and returned to London a
comparatively wealthy man. His nomination to the Court was
successful in 1894, and with his election and the retirement of
Creagh early the following year a new stage was reached in the
administration of North Bornco. Previously North Borneo had
been governed in North Borneo; the governors had been allowed
wide powers and almost unfettered responsibility; Malaya-
trained administrators had laid down principles and procedures
on native policy, land tenure, labour treatment and revenue collec-
tion, untroubled by the Directors in London who, mindful of their
ignorance and careful of the Foreign Office, were anxious merely
to watch expenditure and husband meagre resources. All that was
now to change. Experienced administrators were not popular;
puppets were to dance to the strings pulled from London, where
local experience was to be ignored, and the Company placed in
such a critical position that only the unforeseen development of
the rubber industry was to save it from obliteration.

Cowie, who until his death in 1910 was henceforward the
dominant figure on the Court, instituted controversial policies
of administration and loan raising, expenditure and economies,
and taxes and concessions. He retained throughout his life the
support of the shareholders, a support founded on the belief that
he had an intimate knowledge of North Borneo, and indeed had
been largely instrumental in acquiring the territory from the Sultan
of Sulu. The original documents show that North Borneo would
have become British in any event, and undoubtedly Cowie’s contro-
versial policies made the early years of the Company more difficult.
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Cowie induced the other Directors to abandon their cautious
policy of waiting on the development of the territory, and to
embark on a policy of rash and ill conceived expenditure. In this
policy his severest critic was Sir Alfred Dent. He opposed the
decision in 1894 to construct a telegraph line, later to be followed
by a grand trunk road, across the little known mountain and
jungle between Labuan and Sandakan, and he opposed the
decision to build a trans-Bornean railway. Both undertakings were
rushed into without idered i igation, both involved the
Company in a considerable waste of money and unprofitable
expenditure, But Cowie was the man with expert knowledge, and
Dent resigned. His departure was hailed with delight, and one of
the little men barking for Cowie echoed both the opinion and the
tone of those remaining, by voicing amid general approval that
Dent knew no more about Borneo “than a cow knew about a side
pocket'.! It was the last reference to him at a Company meeting
until after the death of Cowie, when his pioneer work was again
rightly praised.

T'wo others who were removed were Crocker, the experienced
Manager in London and Governor in Borneo, who was forced to
resign, and Creagh, who escaped back to the Malay States. Cowie,
who had feared British officialdom while at Muara, decided
colonial governors were not for North Borneo. L. P. Beaufort, a
lawyer who had never been east before, spoke no Malay, was told
to govern Sabah in a business-like manner, forgetting the foolish
habits of the Foreign and Colonial Offices. The blunders of
Beaufort, combined with those of the Court, were to make his
administration noteworthy.

Perhaps the chief blunder was this construction of a telegraph
line from Labuan to Sandakan. Cowic from his coast knowledge

icipated no serious difficultics, and was sure there were large
tribes of natives and vast untapped reserves of jungle produce
in the deep interior. In both respects he was completely inaccurate.
He estimated that the track and line would cost £35,000, and would
be completed by September 1894. Here again he went astray. The
agonized battle to construct the line, recorded in volume after
volume of reports which chronicle floods, torrential rains, thick
jungle and wild mountains, the lack of labour almost from the coast-
line, the stumbling elephants, falling trees and faulty equipment,

128th Half Yearly Meeting of the Company, 15 December 1856.
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went on until April 1897, when finally a cable from Sandakan
reached London. Its initial cost had been nearly f20,000.
To a poor country like Sabah, that was big money. It was all
wasted. The plan of building a track had been quietly shelved
two years before. Maintenance costs in mountain arcas were so
prohibitive and the line so little used that report after report from
Borneo recommended its abandonment. As with those that had
consistently pointed out the stupidities of its construction, they
were ignored. There was no doubt about it; Cowie with his mind

° made up was a very determined man.

In an effort to pay for the line Beaufort was instructed to in-
crease customs dues. By this time the country had developed
considerably since Treacher first landed. In 1881 imports had
been valued at $160,658. They were $1,663,906 in 1895. Exports
in 1881 had stood at $145,443, but they had reached $2,130,600
by 1895. The revenue of the country, derived mainly from customs
dues, had risen from approximately $20,000 in 1881 to the figure
of $348,048 in 1895. But more was needed to pay for the tele-
graph and the railway. Among the new items taxed was rice, the
staple diet of the Chinese who were the essential backbone of the
country. Although it was originally suggested by Darby, the
Sandakan business man who was the unofficial on the legislative
council, it was Beaufort who adopted the idea, and condemned
his government by so doing. It was perhaps the most smpid tax
ever imposed in North Borneo. For a decade the Chinese immi-
gration, vital for the wcllbcmg of lhe Sme, almost ceased, and
North Borneo I ished in

The Chinese and European opposition to the new taxes was
shared by the natives. Beaufort managed to antagonize the latter
in other ways, and for the first time in its existence the administra-
tion was threatened by a rising, that of Mat Sallch. Arising out of
grievances, nurtured by blunders, the revolt was quelled only
after the expenditure of large sums of money that could be ill-
afforded and the destruction of much valuable property. The revolt
had made possible however, in ways that are described elsewhere,!
the acquisition by Cowie of the remaining independent west coast
rivers which had remained under Brunei control when the rest of
Sabah had been ceded to Overbeck. With these rivers in the hands
of the Company, Cowie was able to prosecute more vigorously

iSee pp. 199-207.
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the plan he had suggested as early as 189o, that of a trans-Bornean
railway.

On his return to England from Borneo he had applied to the
Court for the right to build a line from Brunei Bay across to
Sandakan. He had secured some support but the plan finally
lapsed when he was unable to raise the minimum capital declared
necessary by the Company. Once on the Court, however, he
revived the scheme. He still knew nothing about the interior apart
from the agonizing tales of the telegraph constructors, and he was
still firmly convinced that an El Dorado of untouched wealth lay
in that tangle of jungle and mountain. A hasty estimate of costs
was cabled home by the Commissioner of Lands in Borneo, who
pointed out that his figures were rather speculative as he had
never seen the area nor the proposed route. On such a flimsy basis
the Court acted, and the shareholders cheered.

Rail construction had been going ahead vigorously in many
parts of the world. In the nearby Malay Peninsula the railroad
seemed the essential pre-requisite to the prosperity of the country.
Cowie cited Perak as an outstanding example of how increased
revenue followed a railway. He omitted to mention, or perhaps
he did not notice, that the Malay railways hauled large quantities
of tin, a staple in constant demand. There was no such staple in
North Borneo.

As railway superil jent Cowie appointed his friend A. J.
West, whose previous experience had been the construction of the
Labuan Line, a few miles of light track from the harbour to the
coal minc. He was given authority independent of the Governor,
and instructed to report directly to the Court. In no matter
affecting the railway, in the securing and treatment of labour, in
the selection of sites, public works assistance, or food supply for
example, did the Governor have any authority. Unchecked,
unwatched, West was given full control of what was to become the
biggest and most important department of the government over
which the Governor had no control whatever.

It was all the more unfortunate that West was a cantankerous
person with no idea how to organize a department and little
inclination to correspond with anyone. He resented all outside
interference and was happy only when he was in the jungle at the
end of the line, actively engaged in construction. He arrived in
1896, and found that the spot, which Cowie had marked con-

=
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fidently with thick blue pencil as a deep water port in Brunei Bay,
was a mangrove swamp leading to shallows and bordered by
crashing surf. Unperturbed, he decided that the choice of a port
could wait, and began building his line fiftcen miles inland. By
1897 he had chosen a spongy piece of land a foot or two above
high water mark as the terminus, and named it Weston; Cowie
harbour had replaced Sandakan as the eastern port, and West
edged slowly towards it.

The trials of trans-shipment at Labuan, where all railway goods
had to be unloaded and towed over in barges, had by 1898 con-
vinced Cowie that Weston was not in fact an adequate port,
deep water or otherwise. It was decided to build a spurline to Papar
Bay, which Cowie considered the nearest suitable harbour, Then
that was abandoned, and Cowie chose Gantisan in Gaya Bay,
ninety miles to the north, and a site was selected on recently
acquired territory opposite Gaya Island where the ruins of the
former station destroyed by Mat Salleh still stood. The acquisition
of all the independent rivers on the west coast made possible a
line southwards across them to the Padas river, which West was
endeavouring to reach, and several firms were approached in
England. As none were sufficiently interested to venture their
money on the project, Cowie caused the railway department to
build a jetty at the Gaya bay site (reprimanding the Governor
who thought it was under his direction), and undertook to pay for
the building of the new line, borrowing heavily to do so.

A private firm was engaged, but before it began construction
repeated protests by the local line, Sabah Steamships, at the
exposed and dangerous new port, followed by its refusal to use the
jetty at Gantisan, led to the selection of a new port, further inside
the bay. As many buildings as possible were transferred there, and
it was renamed Jesselton, after Sir Charles Jessel, a director. To-
day it is the capital of the colony, with green-clad, razor-backed
ridges behind a narrow strip of level land, and the sprawling mass
of Gaya Island offshore: a lovely site that was to witness many
viccissitudes. It seems a pity that its old Bajau name, Singga Mata
(where the eye loves to dwell) has been forgotten.

This railway was to save the country. Entered into as an after-
thought when Weston proved so impossible, by chance it was to
traverse lands suitable for padi planting and the growing of rubber,
a new tropical crop just then spreading throughout the Malay
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States. In the actual construction of the line, however, another
extraordinary administrative blunder was made. West had proved
so elusive and remote, burrowing inland up the Padas Gorge, that
Cowie decided not to entrust him with the supervision of the new
railway. He had lost confidence in Beaufort, the Governor, so he
gave full responsibility for checking all aspects of construction to’
the firm he had engaged to build the line. Thus on the west coast
there were three independent authorities, and chaos was the
result.

Beaufort soon resigned, and Cowie replaced him with an unholy
alliance of three of Borneo's oldest citizens, the Treasurer General,
the Colonial Secretary and the Resident of the West Coast. The
Resident lived in Labuan and kept out of trouble, but the other
two, Cook and Gueritz, lived in Sandakan and were soon at each
other's throats. North Borneo reached its administrative nadir.
From the outset they were unable to co-operate, and their personal
hostility of many years’ standing became public. In their struggle
for petty sup the dak ity took sides as the

dministration became paralysed. The Mat Salleh rising, the
railway and telegraph, Chinese migration, the decline in the
authority of native chiefs, land and labour questions, combined
with trivial but heated arguments over procedure and rank, all
formed the subjects for innumerable minutes between the two,
and are now preserved in arid volumes of collected memoranda.
Finally the Court intervened. From the east coast Malay State of
Pahang they secured as governor a man destined to be one of
England’s great proconsuls, Hugh Clifford. Clifford (later Sir
Hugh Clifford, G.C.M.G., G.B.E.), who had been instrumental in
bringing the Sultan into the British fold in 1887 and had been
associated with Pahang ever since, was heading for a career that
included the governorships of the Gold Coast, Nigeria, Ceylon and
the Straits Settlements, and the High Commissionership of the
Federation of Malaya. The Court could congratulate itself on its
acquisition. He was to resign in disgust six months later.

In those six months his crisp, dynamic personality swept as
clean as it could. He had the embers of the Mat Sallch rebellion
to deal with; vigorous action coupled with tolerant treatment was
applied. Every department was shaken out of its rut; new stan-
dards of efficiency insisted on; new interior and west coast stations
were established an dations towards raising the status
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and increasing the responsibility of the chiefs sent home. The mi-
gration problem and the telegraph position, with its annual costs
reaching over £4,000, and its revenue below {250, were attacked.
But he was not expected to criticize, and when his criticisms
touched the railway, storm clouds gathered. He had not known
until he reached Borneo that he had powers over neither West nor
the constructors, and he promptly insisted on full authority. He
questioned the advisability of allowing both a contracting firm and
an inexperienced railway engineer to spend large capital sums
without supervision. His criticisms grew more severe concerning
the use of labour and the standard of work, and Cowie in July 1900,
after several rebukes, intimated to him that his adverse opinions
were not wanted; rather he should send home reports of praise
which could be published, as it was b ing i ingly diffi-
cult to raise money. Clifford was astounded. By nature direct,
forthright and impetuous, a giant of a man, he would stoop for
no one. He would have none of this deceit, nor any more of this
stupidity. He resigned.

In London his move was supported by Martin, the Chairman.
But his protest, as well as that of a public meeting in Sandakan,
carried no weight with the remainder of the Court who backed
Cowie. Clifford was welcomed back to the Malay States and
reappointed Resident of Pahang, while by now somewhat dubiously
the Colonial Office loaned another of its leading men, E. W. Birch
(later Sir Ernest Woodford Birch, K.C.M.G.) the Resident of
Negri Sembilan. Here as with Clifford the stubborn determina-
tion of Cowie to rule Borneo from London led to his dismissal.
But he was a more tactful man, more delicate in negotiation, more
prepared to compromise than Clifford, and he governed long
enough (two years) to introduce several lasting improvements,

After a hard struggle, Cowie granted reluctantly as a temporary
measure the abolition of the absurd tax on rice which had caused
almost a pl ion of Chinese immigration. Birch also
abolished slavery, and restated the native rights to land. For the
first time since 1882 he induced non-resident Chinese capitalists
to invest in North Borneo, and brought in many colonists. He
tried to introduce vernacular education. Perhaps most important
of all, he instituted a vigorous policy regarding bridle tracks which
not only linked up many previously isolated outposts, but also
greatly encouraged trade and movement of labour. Cowic looked
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on them as useful for bringing produce to the railway, but they
soon assumed greater importance, an importance which was noted
in 1953 by Governor Hone who in praising the Chartered Com-
pany paid tribute to the bridle tracks as an important factor in the
smooth and easy administration of the country. Rundum and then
Pensiangan in the far southern interior were linked to Tenom and
Melalap, the railhead, and then to Keningau along the inland
valley to Tambunan and Ranau, where another track wound
round Kinabalu to Kota Belud. From Kota Belud a track led
south to Jesselton and also to the north, reaching Kudat, while
another skirted Marudu Bay. Along the west coast plain as well
bridle paths went out from Sipitang, Beaufort and Papar, and on
the cast it was hoped to make a track from Sandakan to Beluran,
the small post on Labuk Bay. Year after year the bridle path
assignments of the District Officers continued on thelines laid down
by Birch in 1902, until by 1941 there were over 600 miles of these
tracks, fit for a man with a pony; from 1930 onwards the Company
participated in the Colonial Development Act, receiving £10,000
annually towards their 1927 plan for widening and bituminizing
them, and this work has been continued by the post-war colonial
government which has been quite content to build on the founda-
tions laid by the Chartered Company.

While Birch was Governor he was visited by Alleyne Ireland,
an American professor studying the colonies of the Far East, one
of the few independent critics experienced in colonial administra-
tion who reached North Borneo. What he wrote in 1905 was
echoed by Governor Hone in 1953 when discussing the Chartered
Company employees. Both were ‘much impressed by the excel-
lent tact and administrative ability displayed by the go
officers. They spoke the language of the people, showed an interest
in their affairs, were at all times accessible to everybody who wished
to make a complaint or ask for advice or assistance, and appeared
in every way to command the respect and goodwill of the natives.”

Both noted that ‘the people were governed rather by force of
personal influence than by the power of legislation, that the judi-
cial relations were based upon wise and tolerant equity more than
upon mere precise law, and that a perfectly friendly understanding
existed between the government and the natives.’

The Chartered Company maintained itself throughout the

1A, Ircland, The Far Eastern Tropics (London, 1905), p. 45-
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twenticth century on this administrative tradition. The other
chartered companies that later sprang up like mushrooms copied
the letter but not the spirit of its constitution, The German
company in New Guinea, the British enterprises in Africa, were
all swiftly to fall; the British North Borneo Company continued,
an anachronism no doubt in a twentieth-century world, but pre-
served by the calibre of the men who served it. At times, how-
ever, as we have noticed, they were threatened by the super-
structure in London, where the reign of Cowie was not at all
conducive to good government.

Birch felt this cven while tactfully pushing his reforms, and
when he turned towards the railway he too was in trouble. Unlike
Clifford in Pahang, he had played an active part in the railway
development programme on the western flank of the Federated
Malay States, and he found his role of bystander even more irk-
some than Clifford had. The contracting firm building the line
from Jesselton to the Padas River (Cowie had named the terminus
Beaufort in January 1898 before he lost confidence in that
governor), was without any supervision, and skimpy and faulty
work was the result. The line was rushed to completion and left,
as the contractors hurried home. Birch succeeded in securing
authority over it, and called for a report. The unworkable line was
condemned.

Cowie had the report sent to the contractors, who had accepted
60,000 Chartered Company shares in part payment. They main-
tained that they had left the linc in good order; the defects listed
h for example inadeq; banks, crumbling sleepers, col-
lapsing bridges and excessively narrow cuttings must have origin-
ated after Birch took over. Cowie, who by this time had taken an
intense personal dislike to his Governor, relieved him of all authority
over the line, and had the writer of the report instantly dismissed.
He toyed with the idea of governing North Borneo from London,
dispensing with a governor altogether, as the Royal Niger Com-
pany had once done. Another engineer, independent of both Birch
and West, was put in charge.

Early in 1903 Cook in Sandakan heard that Birch in 1902 had
written a plaintive letter to a friend at the Colonial Office, be-
moaning the fact that a wonderful country full of possibilities was
being ruined from London. He had urged the Government to
annex the territory and save it. Cook reported to Cowie, and
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Birch was promptly dismissed, although ever since the Charter
had been granted the directors, including Cowie, had continued
to chant that North Borneo was virtually a colony, and that it
was inevitable that Britain would take over. In 1902, however, the
Company had been refused a government loan, and this indiscreet

pond disclosing di in Borneo to the power that '
had rebuffed him, aroused Cowic's fury. Birch was dismissed, and
Martin, after an unhappy period, resigned in sympathy.

This cavalier treatment of a brilliant man did not meet with the
approval of Lyttelton at the Colonial Office. Cowie was told late
in 1903 that Birch would remain Governor of Labuan, which the
Company had administered since 1890, unless his dismissal was
rescinded. This created an impossible situation. No sharehold
would have felt happy with a Managing Director who dismissed a
man in whom the government so obviously retained confidence.
For once Cowie yielded, and Birch's application for retirement
with a year's notice was accepted. So ended the experiment of
borrowing men with minds of their own. Never again while Cowie
lived was a colonial officer selected as governor. Gueritz, a
Chartered Company employee dependent on the Court for his liveli-
hood, was appointed, and there were no more storms from Borneo.

“T'he constant pressure of sorry facts forced some reorganization
of the railway. The Governor at last secured a measure of financial
control, and West was given the management of the three lines.
These were the original twenty-mile track from Weston to the
river opposite Beaufort, completed in 1900, the Beaufort to
Jesselton line, fifty-seven miles long, which was thrown together
in 1902, and the thirty mile Beaufort to Tenom line, up the Padas
gorge, which was finished in 1905, and later extended to Melalap.
This ride is a most spectacular piece of engineering and West
deserves great credit for building it. He was at his best at construc-
tion work; but the wide administrative functions thrust upon him,
his i , obstructi and g Ily indi air, in
combination with the ever i ing reports of
proved his undoing. Supported through thick and thin by Cowie,
he was suspended shortly after Cowie’s death in 1910, and left
Borneo.

The new Court, who looked at Borneo after the dominating
figure of Cowie vanished, sent from Malaya two railway experts.
They particularly condemned the Jesselton to Beaufort line.
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Every bridge and nearly every sleeper and bank was reported
unsafe, the gear was faulty and the management ill organized. It
should be completely rebuilt, and placed directly and absolutely
under the control of the government in Borneo, they said. They
thought that after a considerable capital outlay, good administra-
tion and reasonable expenditure would provide a satisfactory
pioneer line, adequate for the needs of the country. This was done.
By 1923 the 107 miles of railway had cost the company £800,000.
Cowie had estimated /107,000, far too low a figure as all tropical
engineers would agree; yet the actual cost had been excessive, and
the loans incurred to pay for it were to saddle the Company with a
most. y burden through its exi In 1924 the
line for the first time showed a profit; fourteen years of rebuilding
and of reorganizing a wasteful department had finally borne fruit:
and by this time it had a staple to haul to the port, rubber.

By sweeping if not crippling ions in 1905 Cowie
to North Borneo some of the fierce sensational race for suitable
rubber land that was rampaging through Malaya. Reports from
Borneo indicated that much of the land alongside the Jesselton to
Beaufort railway was suitable too, a rare stroke of luck, and Cowie
leapt at the opportunity.

By 1910, the year of his death, North Borneo was in a substantial
position. Added to the export of rubber, which had begun that
year, the tobacco estates, the timber camps, the numerous products
of the jungle as well as sago, dried fish, copra and coal, all boosted
the export trade of North Borneo, the life blood of the country,
which stood at over 4! million dollars, having doubled itself
and more in the fifteen years Cowie had been in the Company.
But in London Cowie had saddled the Company with debenture
loans, and in Borneo he had left a legacy of maladministration and
a too rigid remote control that spelt danger if not disaster. Two
changes at the helm were necessary before the Company could sail
safely on the calm waters of her final years.

The death of Cowie marks approximately the end of the old era,
the nineteenth century pioneering age when the tropics were still
strange and people were optimistic, and the beginning of the
new, the twentieth century, a period when experience replaces
naivety, when international bodies first rise to harass a colonial
government and the district officer slowly disappears under a
growing pile of papers, a period when some of the cut and thrust,




" 64 UNDER CHARTERED COMPANY RULE

some of the glamour of the carly campaigners, seems to vanish.

In North Borneo the first car, and the first traffic offence,
arrives; the first ice works; the first radio; and the first world war.
The people of North Borneo are studied by anthropologists and
ethnologists; various experts write prosaically on departments of
the administration, and the tales of discovery and pioneering
vanish. Owen Rutter in the 'twenties and Agnes Keith in the
‘thirties give us the new Borneo, a world away from the early
works of William Hatton and Ada Pryer.

The place becomes modern. It also becomes a great deal more
efficient as many of the old timers depart, still wearing their handle-
bar moustaches, their long white ducks buttoned to the neck and
tucked into gumboots, with their malaria-coloured faces and their
dysentery-affected constitutions. Raffles Flint, Cook, Walker (for
twenty-seven years in charge of the Lands Department), Colonel
Harrington, E. P. Gueritz, West, Darby, and W. H. Read, the
friend of Dent who had participated from Singapore in the first
expansion of the British into both Borneo and the then little-
known Malay States, all are retired or die, and their places taken
by the young men not of a new century but a new age.

In other ways too there are changes. Pony racing, the great
enthusiasm of the nineteenth century, is partially replaced by new-
fangled fads such as tennis and sea-bathing. Soccer spreads among
all races, helped by a Governor who sees that every town has its
‘padang’, or playing field. Cohabiting with local women is super-
seded to some extent by European brides. Yet old habits linger;
even today there is plenty of the nincteenth century Borneo still
surviving, and the reader must not imagine too sweeping a change
in a conservative society.

The new Chairman (renamed President) of the Company was
Sir West Ridgeway, who had governed Ceylon after a distinguished
army career during which he figured prominently in the Penjdeh
incident of 1885, when Russia and Britain came nearly to blows
on the rocky uplands of Afghanistan. Under Sir West, who
promptly visited North Bornco, there was an immediate relaxa-
tion of the excessive control exercised by London. Gueritz had
been unable to effect even the most minor of land sales without
prior reference to the Court; his successor, a Ceylon protégé of
Sir West's, was given the responsibility of a governor in this and
in other matters.
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Ridgeway was not deluded into thinking that ease of com-
munication with Jesselton, which for a time was the capital, pre-

p  an ability to administer the territory. He and his fellow
Directors admitted their ignorance, and wisely called for inde-
pendent reports. Two Malayan experts reported on the railway;
Sir Richard Dane of the Indian Civil Service embodied many
recommendations in his scrutiny of the administration; and Sir
Allan Perry from Ceylon sent in a valuable and comprehensive
paper on the health services. As a result, and in keeping with the
new spirit sweeping through the colonies of South-east Asia and
elsewhere, the Health Department was reorganized; an Education
Department, a Forestry Department and an Advisory Council for
Native Affairs were formed; contract labour and the Opium Farm
were abolished, the government taking direct and effective control
of its sale to the Chinese; and various improvements made in the
matter of salary scales and pensions to place the administrative
staff on a more equitable footing with the Colonial Service.

Another administrative change which ushered in the new order
was the formation of a Legislative Council in 1912. The old
advisory council had faded away; dictatorial rule does little to
encourage discussion, and it had not met since 1905, when Gueritz,
placid soul though he was, had endeavoured to resign. Now
Ridgeway formed a new Legislative Council, with seven official

and four unofficial p ing the Chinese
the planters on the east and west coasts, and the business com-
munity. The Chinese ion was later i d to two.

This body, and the work it entailed, came somewhat as a shock.
As one of the unofficials said, ‘the privileges about to be conferred
on the community will be specially welcome, because they have
not been the result of popular agitation."

Politics had never appealed in North Borneo. There had been
one agitator in Labuan in the days when the Company adminis-
tered it, a refugee from the Americans in Manila named Bray,
who had composed several petitions for the rights of true born
Englishmen, but apart from him, in all the correspondence and
reports that passed between the Governor and London, there was
not a single reference, after Treacher's administration, to any
demand by planters or the business community for a voice in
the administration. Criticism of the government there had been,

1B.N.B. Herald, April 1912.
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particularly by the planters at the official protection of native
land, and although the Legislative Council inued to meet
once or twice a year until 1941, criticism of the government was
more likely to come from the same sources as in the past, especially
the Rubber Planters’ Association and the Chinese Chamber of
Commerce. !

One of the drawbacks to political di ion and rep
government was the shortage of people. There were few pickings
for lawyers in North Borneo, and their insidious presence had
been severely frowned on for many years, with the result that the
mainstay of many overseas parliaments was missing. Government
officers were always few in number—in 1912 forty-five men were
doing the work of sixty—and business men were cither too busy in
Sandakan and Jesselton or too far away on plantations and estates.
In many cases they were now called on to serve on the town sani-
tary boards as well. Neither of these institutions had full control
of local finance, and where the pocket was not concerned interest
never flamed. Politically North Borneo progressed through its
allotted forty-one years of the twentieth century very quietly,
untouched by any settlers struggle for representative government
such as that which ended the administrative functions of the
British South Africa Company in Rhodesia.

Ridgeway scarcely had time to act on the recommendations of
Dane and company before the outbreak of the World War brought
effects, if not as completely catastrophic as those of the 1941
invasion, at least of acute seriousness. German expansion in the
South Pacific had been constant for over twenty ycars. After
annexing northern New Guinea she had failed to catch the Philip-
pines as they slipped from the dying grasp of Spain, but she had
managed to sccure the Marianas, Carolines and Marshalls. A
commercial empire had been built, greater even than the terri-
torial (and as little written on), and by the time war broke out
British shipping had been pushed away from North Borneo for
example, and German ships enjoyed a monopoly. These ships
thereupon vanished; there was only intermittent replacement; and
severe rationing was necessary for a country by that time dependent
on imports for at least half her rice.

The German ships were cventually replaced by the Straits
Steamship Company, one of the widespread subsidiaries of Holt
Lines. From that time on they built up their Singapore to Borneo
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ships; and their fleet now carry away an overwhelming proportion
of the territory’s exports. A power of the first magnitude, Straits
Steamship deserves a seat in the Legislative Council far more than
bodies now represented. Before they had expanded to a size suffi-
cient to cope with their new market, however, North Borneo was
in dire straits,

The food sh ified in 1919 by a widespread locust
plague that attacked the padi fields, reached its peak after the
war had ended. Chinese immigration, which had been stified by
Beaufort and not encouraged by Cowie, had shown signs of
resuming shortly before the war began. Although it was to be ten
long years before the flow began, there were enough Chinese there
(26,002 in 1911), combined with the Dusuns (87,951) and the
other races to render a supply of rice essential. Their dire need
resulted in the unprecedented joint action by Sarawak and North
Borneo, who appealed in 1920 for a greater allocation of rice
from Burma. For over forty years they had distrusted and intri-
gued against one another in their efforts to carve up Brunei. Now
common hunger forced a brief combination. Such an action was
rare.

The Company entered ten lean years with the outbreak of war.
Lack of capital and scarcity of sluppmg cnpplcd all exports,
affected all devel and the itself
further affected b) the shortage of staff. Those in London, vainly
maintaining that they held positions of g to
the Colonial Office, were conscnpled Thosc in Borneo volun-
teered. Their places there were taken by natives and Chinese, and
anew post, that of Deputy Assistant District Officer, evolved. This
step, forced by necessity, was found satisfactory in many cases,
and so was maintained nf!cr the war, particularly as the rubber
depression in the early teen-twenties forced the Company to
maintain its war-time economies.

Yet ly cnough Ridgeway in London paying
dividends. A gencration of Chartered Company shareholders had
come and gone without participating in any of the exciting profits
forecast by Dent and Overbeck, apart from a minute 2} per cent
in 18go (the profits from tobacco land sales). In 1899 it was possible
to pay 2 per cent. This was maintained each year until 19os, when
it became 3 per cent; 4 per cent in 1907; and 5 per cent between
1909 and 1914. It fell during the early years of the war, but
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Ridgeway was paying 4 per cent by 1917 and 5 per cent by 1919.
He continued to pay dividends, despite a decided slump, with a
decrease in 1921 of 30 per cent in the total volume of trade over
the preceding year, with 5,000 labourers being dismissed from
rubber estates, and with revenue dropping steadily away from the
1920 figure of $3,611,803. He also continued borrowing, a’
practice he had copied from Cowic. By 1924 the Chartered Com-
pany was in debt to the incredible tune of £1,649,800. It was time
to call a halt.

Ridgeway's liberal expenditure had effected a cure for the
railways and had promoted road building. More money had gone
into resuscitating the Cowie Harbour coal mines in the south-east
corner of the territory, and a substantial sum had gone into a post-
war project, the British North Borneo Timber Company. This
was one of the two big outside investments which stimulated
North Borneo after the war. It was granted a twenty-five year
monopoly to cut and export timber from state land. The other firm
to come into North Borneo was Harrisons and Crosfield.

Harrisons and Crosfield, a well established concern in Malaya,
had invested in both the Cowie Harbour and the timber project,
and in 1917 it bought out W. G. Darby, who after thirty years of
pioneer industry in Sandakan had built up a profitable empire of
timber mills, ice works, slipway and shipping, and agencies of all
descripti In Jesselton and dakan today the impressi
buildings of ‘H. and C.” are eyed by the diminutive offices of some
of the great companies forced out of China or bursting out of
Malaya, who compete fiercely with the colossus for every serap of
trade. In the twenty-odd years before the Second World War,
however, Harrisons (except for the British North Borneo Trading
Company) had the field almost to themselves, when they invested
their moncy and spread their ramifications throughout the land.

This liberal expenditure of Ridgeway had given the economy
of North Borneo a shot in the arm. It had also set in train another
development; there was a prospect of imminent bankruptcy.
Mountstuart Elphinstone, one of the Directors, was alarmed at the
sang froid with which Ridgeway spent and borrowed. In 1924 he
brought in Dougal Malcolm. Malcolm had been one of ‘Milner's
Kindergarten’ of post-Boer War South Africa, and was then, as
he is today, on the board of the British South Africa Company.
His knowledge of how a chartered company should be run was
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almost unrivalled. The two, supy d by many

pressed for an investigation. Ridgeway wrote to his former

associates at the Colonial Office, depicting his adversaries as com-

mercial scavengers, eager to spend the profits he was anxiously

guarding.! For a time he was believed and supported. Elphinstone
Pl e H

boarehold,

and Malcolm secured the f¢ of P

of Inquiry, however, and the true facts were revealed in their 1926
report. Ridgeway resigned. Dividends had been paid out of
capital, the Company was heavily, almost hopelessly in debt, and
it had been saved just in time.*

Ridgeway, while President, had addressed to the British govern-
ment one of the appeals for annexation which had emanated from
despairing Directors at roughly ten-yearly intervals since the
Company’s f ion. He was as | as the others. He
also told the government that, if pressure against him were not
resisted, the commercially minded men who would seize power
would ignore the fine points of colonial administration (of which
they were ignorant), for dividends (for which they were avaricious).
The contrary happened.

Dougal Malcolm, Elphi who became Managing Director,
and General Sir Neill Malcolm, one of the founders of the Royal
Institute of International Affairs, who was elected President, set
to work at once. Year after year careful husbandry allowed pay-
ments to be made reducing the black in of deb over
them. No further loans were raised. Over £700,000 of debt was
redeemed by 1941 it had been planned to redeem it all by 1965.
Malcolm and the responsible body of men who served with him,
both in London and Borneo, secured the financial stability of the
Company as the territory continued slowly to develop. Although
he visited North Borneo at regular intervals, he rarely interfered
in the administration; his main cfforts were financial. Reserves
were built up, even during the depression. No hasty expendi
was ever entered into, a rigorous inspection of yearly estimates
was carried out, and every dollar was made to go a very long way®
as the Company practised the old-fashioned virtue of living
within its income.

Chairman to Colonial Office, 11 January 1926.

*Report, Committee of Enquiry, 9 April 1926.

*In 1931 the Chartered Company conducted a very efficient census at the cost

of £7,799. In 1951 a similar census of the same territory was organized at a
cast of £139,060.
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One of the ways in which Malcolm saved money without affect-
ing the administrative standards was by continuing Ridgeway’s
work of substituting two-way radio contacts for the overland tele-
graph line. The latter was a most expensive and inefficient luxury,
and should never have been installed. Easily maintained radio sets

enabled Sandakan to communicate over the jungle with Jesselton *

by 1914, with Kudat, Tawau and Lahad Datu by 1923, and with
four other outposts by 1934. The cross-country wire was laboriously
salvaged and put to good use linking up the populous west coast
area, where it was of inestimable value for good government. The
wireless and telegraph system was financed, in the Postal and
Telegraph Department, by the sale of stamps, charming and
unusual issues which, never debased, were sought after by
philatelists throughout the world to the very great profit of the
territory.

Another incidental source of revenue, which is now denied it,
lay in the issue of its own currency. The money of South-cast
Asia is a subject that awaits adequate rescarch; as yet there is
Imlc explanation why Smg:\porc mnde no efforts during the

h century to sti ly a money
along her commercial arteries. The legﬂ tender was the Spamsh
or Mexican dollar, spread thinly throughout South-cast Asia
from Manila, where once a year the galleons from Acapulco came
to buy the Chinese silks stored there. In Malaya currency was
usually short, and ) pl of the i
resulting.!

The Chartered Company, quick to appreciate the stimulus to
trade ensured by a sufficient supply of coins and notes, and fully
aware of the legitimate profits to the minter, introduced its own
currency from the beginning. Its use spread rapidly, to Singapore,
Sulu and Hong Kong, as well as throughout the territory, where it
knocked down the cumbersome barriers of barter. The dollar
was on a par with the Spanish coin, which was based on silver,
and its sterling value dropped from 35 64 in 1890 to 15 6d by 1902.
When Malaya demonetized the Mexican dollar in 1906, the new
Straits (and Sabah) dollar was attached to gold, and pegged at

25 4d, where it has ined, with minor fi i ever since.
The memory of the old Manila galleon and the silver mines of
Spanish America faded away.

*Swettenham, British Malaya (London, 1909), pp. 267-8.
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The Company never speculated with this asset, for it was ever
mindful of the Charter clauses permitting British government
i and more perturbed by (f ly rare) questi
in Parliament than a Department of State. The Directors, for the
most part conservative business men with a touch of the romantic,
were fully aware that a stable currency was essential for a stable
trade. By careful control of their note issue they kept on good
terms with their agents in Singapore, Guthrie and Company,
who replaced A. L. Johnston and Company, and with the great
banks of Hong Kong and Singapore. As they could not be induced
to open branches in the territory, the government in 1921 founded
a State Bank, after a previous attempt by Dent in 1887 had failed.
The bank was independent and aloof from the other departments
of government, and took over control of note issue and government
loans, being particularly useful in its agricultural ad

Both in 1921 and 1931 the placid years and the by then wide-
spread administration enabled an efficient census to be held. The
first count of the population had been in 1891; but many of the
estates failed to respond to the hasty efforts of the government;
large areas were without administrators; and the result was a
fiasco. In 1911 the general unrest of the west coast again left
many heads uncounted, and the total of 104,527 was somewhat
conjectural. In 1911 a more efficient census gave a population of
208,183, but here again difficulties in estimating the Murut
population of the interior made it incomplete.

In 1921 thorough organization gave the Chartered Company
its first accurate knowledge of the people it was administering,
filling in the details of the picture known already. The natives of
North Borneo were by far the largest element, as they had been
before. Out of a total population of 263,252, the Dusuns, Bajaus,
Muruts, and other indigenous peoples, numbered 203,041. The
Chinese, mainly Hakka and Cantonese, numbered 39,256, while
the Europeans p  the impressive total of 663.

By the time of the next census in 1931 North Borneo was
prostrate under the Depression. Many Chinese had returned home
as various compani hed and the ployed indig
labourers spent too little to maintain the livelihood of those in the
towns. Yet there was a slow increase in total population (277,476)
and in the Chinese (50,056), the Hakka community increasing
from 18,153 in 1921 to 27,424. The sturdy Dusun added to his

U.C.C.R.~F
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numbers at a healthy rate (from 104,863 in 1921 to 110,483), but
the sickly Murut declined from 30,355 to 24,444. The east coast
population was less than half that of the narrow west coast plain—
74,760 to 141,331. The total figure gave North Borneo the very
thin density of 9.3 people per square mile, compared to the 12 of
Sarawak or the 47 of the Federation of Malaya. !

By 1940 it was estimated (the plans for a census being can-
celled), that the population of the State stood at 310,000 people,
with the natives of North Borneo numbering 230,000, the Chinese
60,000, and others (including 400 Europeans) zo,000. These
official calculations revealed what had been known in a general
way before, that the population, while increasing, was doing so
only slowly; that there was a steady growth in five main areas—
Jesselton town and its rural area, Kudat, Lahad Datu and Tawau;
and that there was an equally steady depopulation of the interior.
Nothing in post-war North Borneo has reversed these tendencies.

The day to day affairs of the Chartered Company in London
were handled by a Secretary and later an Assistant Secretary, with
a minute staff in a few small rooms in Old Broad Street. The
Directors met but infrequently. Pre-occupation with dividend
rates was one of their very minor worries; although a claim by the
Inland Revenue authorities as to the liability of shareholders for
Income Tax, conflicted with the Company’s claims for immunity
by virtue of the fact that it was a sovercign independent state, and
necessitated a long drawn out discussion, which was not settled
until Sir John Simon, the advocate for the Company, secured a
compromise in 1929 by which independence was recognized and
liability to taxation accepted.

There was no dividend to be taxed that year—there had been a
mere 1} per cent paid in 1928, breaking a four-year absence from
the list of dividend-paying companies—and no dividend was
announced until 1937, when 2 per cent was proudly announced.
The Depression, coming on top of the vast debenture debt, had
made the nineteen-thirties critical years. A loss was incurred in
1932 and 1933, revenue dropping some £30,000, yet Malcolm was
able, even here, to reduce by some £81,000 the debenture certi-
ficates. From 1934 onwards, with rubber again going up in price
(the value of exports from North Borneo rising that year to
£568,000 from £179,000 in 1933), a small profit was shown.

By 1937 the value of the shares taken up stood at /3,040,185, a
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far cry from the initial flotation in 1882; and with rubber still
rising, and other exports increasing in value, a 4 per cent dividend
was announced in 1938. This was the last. Looked on by the
Dircctorate, and by the Colonial Office, as a payment as fully
justified as, and in many ways comparable to, the interests paid
by other colonies on overseas loans for funds to assist development,
these dividends had been shared with the employees of the Com-
pany, who from 1919 onwards secured a bonus whenever a
dividend was paid. A feature of ial concerns in
the East, this bonus payment, however, has no parallel in govern-
ment.

Freed of all financial worries over the territory, the British
government were in no mood to encourage the hope held by the
Court of Directors (the old Honorable East India Company usage
still being preserved), and by all the sharcholders, that one day
the Crown would gnize its imperial obligations and would
purchase the territory from them. A Labour government can-
celled naval base construction in Singapore, and Conservative
governments were no less reluctant to spend tax payers’ money on
imperial expansion, with the result that North Borneo continued
as a twenticth-century anachronism,

But, disappointed though the Company was by its inability to
interest the g it neverthel intained with the
Colonial Office an informal and intimate relationship that was of
the greatest value to it. Sir Neill Malcolm was, like Sir Rutherford
Alcock, one of that comparatively small group of upper middle
class people who to all intents and purposes ruled England, sharing
a background and breeding with many of the higher echelons of
the Civil Service. To consult the Colonial Office on the appoint-
ment of a new governor, for example, took the form of a personal
conversation with the Permanent Under Secretary. On this level,
and in this manner, did the Chartered Company conduct its
peaceful affairs in London.

The laisses-faire outlook on the part of the home authorities,
content merely with the 1888 Protectorate arrangement, was not
shared completely by those imperial envoys closer to the scene,
the High Commissioners of Malaya, who in their role of British
Agent for Bornean territories came in contact with three distinct
types of government. In Sarawak the rule of the Brookes was
arousing disquiet. In Brunei a British Resident remained aloof
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from contiguous territorics with identical problems. In North
Borneo a Chartered Company pursued its independent way. For
the better development of all it seemed, perhaps more obviously to
Malaya than to London, that there was need both of some sort of
Federal link and of closer control by the Colonial Office. These
ideas were investigated in particular by Sir C. Clementi in 1933,
and recommendations for purchase of the Company reached the
Cabinet. No support was given, and in 1935 the project lapsed.

The informal relationship that existed between the Colonial
Office and the Chartered Company Directorate in London, which
was intimate enough to permit the receipt by the Company of all
general directives and circulars to the Colonial Service, as well as
all Acts of Parliament applicable to the Colonies, and Orders in
Council and Royal Proclamations, applied also in North Borneo,
where the staff maintained similar links with Malaya.

In Africa and in India the colonial governments there had long
accepted a policy that called for the gradual grant of more and

more power, politically and fi ially, to the indig people.
The British could not for ever withhold power from those t.h:y
ruled, for this was ized as morally unthinkable, and ad

tratively impossible. The only checks to the progress of transferring
this power were the necessity to maintain civilization, and the
capability of those to whom responsibi was being awarded. In
Malaya, however, no such process was under way. Here the British
genuinely felt that morally they were not called on to leave, but to
stay. To relinquish political power in the Peninsula to the Malays
(the only citizens) was transparently unjust to the Chinese and
Indian minoritics. And financial power, since the Chinese would
always be liable to acquire control, was best left, all were agreed,
in the impartial hands of the Malayan Civil Service. The British
had to stay and govern; otherwise there would be a disintegration
of a divided land. This feeling, this outlook, was accepted almost
without question by the peoples of Malaya, and helps to explain
the paternal administration and the passive years the Peninsula
experienced. It was an outlook transmitted to North Bomco,
where conditions were mughly smulzu', and where the organiza-
tion nnd ivities of the ad; based on ordi and

b ved almost verbatim, reflected this Malayan
background.

The Malay States

pplied not only the philosophical outlook to
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North Borneo, but in addition a number of its staff. From the time
of Treacher and, for example, D. D. Daly, these were of two types.
The outstanding young men of the Malayan Civil Service loaned
as governors, men such as Treacher, Creagh, Clifford, Birch,
Humphreys and Richards (later Lord Milverton), who brought
with them their Malayan experience and tradition; and the failures,
the drifters, those already in Malaya and unable to find a post.
Usually short of staff, North Borneo welcomed them, and, as in
the case of Daly, it was often the making of them.

The field of recruitment for the fifty or sixty men judged essen-
tial for the administration of North Borneo was extended, parti-
cularly from 1925 onwards, to the appointments board of the
Universities of Oxford and Cambridge, and a supply of cadets
was secured from there. These university students were almost
invariably found adaptable, hard-working and useful; their eligi-
bility for the role of district officer was assessed on the results of
personal interview with Malcolm.

Before leaving London the newly recruited cadet was advised
on the essential clothes necessary for the remote life on the other
side of the world. Six stiff shirts and collars and six cricket shirts
were the minimum. He would need four white drill suits, three
mess jackets, a light suit, riding breeches and a service uniform
with helmet (the tailor’s name supplied). Crockery, cutlery and
glass for at least six persons, to be stored in the simple bungalow on
stilts that might be his outstation quarters, were best secured in
Singapore. His cricket and football boots, however, golf clubs,
squash and tennis racquets had best be purchased in London.

In North Borneo he usually spent a period under the watchful
eyes of a senior in the capital, which alternated between Sandakan
and Jesselton for some time, eventually returning to Sandakan.
He then secured his own outstation, where he found himself the
essential king-pin or keystone in the peaceful slow-moving life of
a society that would break apart without him. He alone counter-
acted the fissip dencies that his pred, had arrested.

The District Officer in North Borneo lived the active life of
one who had to be many things. District Magistrate, Protector of
Labour, Collector of Revenue, District Treasurer, the local execu-
tive officer of every department, and the adviser and friend of all
the remote villages he must regularly visit; all this and more he
was called on to undertake. Most exacting and time-consuming
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were the burdens placed upon him by the Treasury; many con-
sidered that the petty paper work recording the receipt of minute
sums should have been the task of minor Treasury officials, in order
to leave the District Officer more time for his administration and
governing. This was in fact recommended by the final Governor,
Smith, but no action was taken. Apart from that, however, the "
life of a District Officer in pre-war North Borneo was to many a
deeply satisfying and most enjoyable one.

The work of the administration was made more complex in the
nincteen-twenties and nineteen-thirties by the emergence of
international authoritics. The rules for rubber restriction, the
campaign for the contml and elimination of opium, the inquiries
into labour condi all d from branches of the League
of Nations or other international bodies. The territory, taking its
cue from Malaya, complied with their recommendations and
directives in so far as they were judged applicable to North Borneo.
It was poor but it was honest. It could not afford to be otherwise.

In 1934, acting on an informal suggestion by the Colonial
Office, the Chartered Company forsook Malaya as their happy
hunting ground for governors and turned for the first time to
Africa. Hitherto the Company had accepted Lugard’s dictum that
‘the racial differences between Asiatics and Africans are so great

. that methods applicable to the one may be quite misplaced
with the other.” It was, however, a wise recognition of the fact
that the poor, sparscly inhabited country of North Borneo had
problems more like these encountered in a territory such as
Tanganyika than in wealthy Malaya. And D. J. Jardine brought to
a fitting close the Company’s fifty-odd year dependence on colonial
administrators.

Jardine, young, enthusiastic, vigorous, i
reforms into many branches of the admini i At first
inexperienced in Asian affairs, he was helped by Residents and
departmental heads of long experience, with whom he consulted
constantly, and he effected improvements in the education, health,
land and native admlmslmuon departments of the government.
These are di: } In his pts to alter the ad
trative framework, however, he was not so successful.

In 1935 there were in North Borneo four Residencies, the
‘Tawau (or East Coast) Residency, and the Sandakan, West Coast

1Lugard, The Dual Mandate (London, 1932), p. 6.

1
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and Interior Residencics, with a total of seventeen districts within
them. Jardine considered these too many. In spite of the affected
Residents’ arguments as to their indispensability, the Tawau
Residency was merged with Sandakan, and the Interior with the
West Coast. His plans for amalgamating districts, however, met
with opposition from every senior officer.

Jardine invoked his African experience. In Tanganyika, dis-
tricts held between 190,000 to 280,000 people. In Nigeria single
districts had populations ranging from 1,500,000 or more. In
North Borneo no district had a population greater than 27,000,
‘A remarkable disparity’,! he said. It was, however, pointed out
to him that the Chartered Company was administering not so
much the law, as in Nigeria, but the people, a much more com-
prehensive task. And there were few enough of them to perform it.
Intheprevious twenty years various Governors had removed District
Officers from ten posts (Ranau, Pensiangan, Tenom, Sipitang,
Penampang, Tuaran, Langkon, Lamag, Beluran and Semporna)
and had reduced numbers clsewhere. A country as large as Ireland
was being administered by fifty-seven hard-worked officers, most
of them under thirty years of age. Beyond abolishing the district
post at Papar, connected by rail to Jesselton, Jardine could carry
his argument no further.

These questions of administration were amongst those dis-

cussed at the Residents’ Conf an bly that Jardine
revived, admitting to it District Officers and re-naming it the
Administrative Officers’ C; which first met in January

1935. Jardine absented himself to permit free discussion of any
possible suggestion that the Secrctariat was over-centralizing
authority and power. Following a most varied two-day agenda,
the council met again in October, mainly to discuss Jardine’s
ideas of native administration and indirect rule, which were
foreign to Malayan-influenced officers. As a result of this the
Native Chiefs' Advisory Council was organized. It provided a
valuable guide to native opinion until the Japanese invasion.
Apart from the direct benefit to administration—for some of the
resolutions passed by Residents and District Officers were acted
upon—]Jardine had revived a considerable esprit de corps among the
scattered staff who rarely saw their fellow members, not even on
‘Charter Day’, the territory’s big public holiday, and who even
*Governor to President, 5 August 1936.
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more rarely di d the 1 implications of their work.
The country reflected their buoynnt oullook revenue steadily
rose; dividends were paid again in London; Chinese immigration
increased to such an extent that a check had to be imposed; and
peace and tranquillity reigned throughout the land. In Land |
Below the Wind by Agnes Keith these conditions are admirably
portrayed.

On his retirement in 1937, Jardine was succeeded by Smith,
but his administrative and other reforms were preserved. Smith,
however, was unable to find the one important subject necessary
for di: i and the Admini: ive Officers’ Conferences
lapsed. They were revived after the War, and are now an annual
feature of a government which in this, and in many other ways,
owes much to the Chartered Company.

By 1940, the last years for which there are figures, North Borneo
had come a long way from the wild unknown days of 1881. Much
of the country was unchanged, still untouched and little scen, still
undeveloped; still waiting for people to plant padi in coastal
areas; still waiting for a geological survey or a lucky prospector to
discover whether there was mincral wealth in the rolling tangle of
hills inland; still, above all, desperately in need of roads and
people. Nevertheless the country had come a long way. Its export
trade amounted to $20,270,502, and the government enjoyed a
revenue of $4,231,922. Much of this had come from the tax
imposed on imports, which by 1940 had reached $9,987,419. It
was a prosperous little country with a favourable balance of trade.

But the sands had almost run out. The peace of the Pacific
appeared more and more precarious as Germany swiftly brought
under its control most of Europe, and as Great Britain reeled back
from defeat to defeat. Japanese interest in South-east Asia became
unmistakable. There was little the territory could do. Plans were
made to grow more rice and to conserve stocks (the 1916-19
famine being remcmhcred), but, as in Malaya and clscwh:rc, there
was little realistic appraisal by officials of li

North Borneo had remained under British protection since
1888, and basically that had meant under the protection of the
White Ensign. The British Empire and the Royal Navy were
inscparably linked, and the slow weakening of the latter had coin-
cided with the gradual dismemberment of the former. By 1941 the
Navy in the East was but a shadow of what it had been in the
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previous century, when men such as Keppel and Mundy had
staked its claim to the China Sea. For at least twenty uncon-
sidered years the Navy had guarded the route to China more and
more by default. Its furthermost bastions in Hong Kong and
Singapore, like its flank protection in North Borneo, no longer
sufficed to match the power of a rival, Japan. So by the inexorable
logic of the world, they were doomed to fall. As events were to make
clear, the Royal Navy no longer held the China Sea, nor, indeed,
the Indian Ocean. Japan, with an overwhelming superiority built
up over twenty years, particularly in air-sea power, faced by
1941 the pitiful remnants of a once unchallenged Royal Navy,
North Borneo was friendless and defenceless, and defenceless, she
fell. The Chartered Company never returned.




CHAPTER FIVE

THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
OF NORTH BORNEO!®

optimist in thinking that there was wealth in North Borneo. At

intervals during the previous 300 years, Europeans had scruti-
nized it and found it wanting, or, less perceptive, had attempted to
make a fortune there and failed. There seemed little reason why
the same fate should not befall him. Conditions there had not
improved; if anything the state of the area was worse than ever.
At the time of his acquisition there was scarcely one exportable
commodity being produced; nor was there anything from the
outside world coming in, apart from firearms. With few desires
and less wealth, the poverty-stricken, pirate-ridden indigenous
peoples offered at their best an extremely unstable base for any
future economic development. Out of this chaotic, unproductive
country Dent expected to make his fortune. T'o the surprise of
many he plished this, with a knighthood into the bargain.

It was the ful ic develop of North Borneo
that secured the continuance of the Chartered Company, although
the Company itself was never more than the administrative body
encouraging the efforts of others. The encouragement at times
was little more than shouts of support from the side-lines; at
other times liberal subsidies and grants were made to struggling
companies, and other help was provided. No imperial grants of
aid ever came to sustain the Company; alone it watched and helped
to develop this backward and economically stagnant land, and
succeeded in the task.

The Company was maintained in the beginning by the success-
ful revival of an ancient trade, the export of edible birds' nests,
which remained a regular and dependable source of revenue
throughout Chartered Company days. When Pryer was in Sanda-
kan and the Charter was still being discussed, it was almost the

VThe statistics of price and quantity given in this chapter are derived from the
Official Annual Reports, published annually in the B.N.B. Herald.

IN the manner of his age and decade Dent had been a great
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only source of revenue. For centuries a Chinese delicacy, the
nests had been taken from caves in a hill at Gomanton and loaded
on to junks whose constant sailing up the Kinabatangan River may
well have given that mighty stream its name. (Kinabatangan
means ‘China River’). By 1878, however, when Pryer first visited the
area, piracy had long kept them away, and the trade was moribund.

The Company had inherited the share in their sale held by the
Sultan of Sulu, and Pryer was anxious to arrange for their collec-
tion and disposal in as efficient a manner as possible. Although the
river had been cleared of pirates, there remained the obstructions
of the chief in charge, Pengeran Samah. He refused to allow their

llection to be ized, and maintained a lent and unco-
operative attitude. He was finally killed while attacking Pryer in
1884, and that year the lease of the caves was rented for $9,000,
§3,000 more than the total received between 1880 and 1883.

“T'he administration not only had a share in this rental but also
derived an income from the nests by means of the general 10 per
cent export tax. Efforts were made to discover other caves. Some
were found in Darvel Bay, where the swifts obligingly made the
nests the Chinese enjoyed so much. Their collection was placed
on an organized footing, with increased profits going to all con-
cerned, and native rights of ownership carefully respected. During
the sixty-year rule other birds’ nest caves were located, both on
the east and west coasts and on the islands offshore. By 1936 when
there were twenty-two specified groups of caves, $46,549 worth
of birds’ nests were exported. This sum had been trebled
($125,155) ten years before when prices were high in China. Over
the centuries the droppings of the swifts and the bats who shared
the caves had covered the floors with guano, in the Gomanton
caves to a depth of over twenty feet. Early efforts to export this
as a fertilizer resulted in the repeated report from government
analysts of ‘valueless’.!

The birds’ nests flowing into the growing port of Sandakan were
accompanied by another revival vital to the Company, the export
of jungle produce. With the peace brought by Pryer the interior
peoples began to carry down the rivers again such wares as
rattans, a thick climbing cane used extensively for furniture
making; gutta-percha, a sap from a trec somewhat resembling

*Governor to Court of Directors, 14 April 1885; B.N.B. Herald, September
1889,
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rubber, but with the useful characteristic of becoming soft and
plastic when heated and when cooled retaining the shape into
which it has been moulded; damar, a gum from a tree used in
varnishes and paints; and other minor products such as kapok,
illipe nuts, camphor, lakka wood and elephants’ tusks.

This produce was secured by the Chinese shopkeepers in
Sandakan and shipped to Singapore, where it was (as it still is),
cleaned, graded and re-exported to world markets. The birds®
nests, however, went to Hong Kong. Considered now a trade
almost too insignificant to be worthy of statistics, this export of
jungle produce gave one of the few considerable items of revenue
to the young Company. In 1883 for example the export of rattans,
gutta-percha and birds’ nests totalled $129,800, almost a third
of the total export trade of $401,640.

These exports stimulated the economy of North Borneo and
helped to maintain the Company in its first anxious decade. They
were joined by what was to become one of the economy’s big
bulwarks during the twentieth century, timber. This industry
had begun in a fortuitous manner. One of the small band of
pioneers, De Lissa, from Australia, had acquired 100,000 acres
near Sandakan on which to grow sugar. Almost simultaneously
the world-price collapsed. De Lissa, desperate, discovered a ready
sale for the timber he had felled on his estate, particularly the soft
wood, serayah, resembling cedar. In February 1885 the first
shipment, on the barque Ellen, went to Australia. By the end of
the year large rafts of cut logs, one of them nearly half a mile long,
were being towed down the rivers and across the bay to the har-
bour, and shipped overseas. The timber trade had begun.

The great market of the nincteenth century, however, was not
Australia but Hong Kong. In 1887 news of a probable great
railway expansion in China, with sleepers needed for hundreds of
miles of track, was followed by the installation in 1888 of the first
efficient sawmill. Billian, the North Borneo hardwood, found a
ready sale. The British Borneo Trading and Planting Company
was boasting by 18go that it employed a larger staff than the North
Borneo government. In that year $44,584 worth of timber was
exported, mainly in sailing vessels to China. Twelve years later,
despite a new levy by Beaufort in 1895 that trebled the tax, exports
had risen to $374,911, and were second only to tobacco in a list of
forty-five exported commodities valued at $3,671,004.
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With the twentieth century came the first suggestion of con-
servation; Governor Birch stated in 1903 that river banks were
being stripped and that government control was necessary, and

in 1909 the C issi of Lands ded the employ-
ment of trained forest men, as there was ‘absolutely no check of
any sort kept. The opp ity for fraudulent declaration of the

terms of the lease—only mature timber to be cut, the whole lease
to be worked etc.—is very obvious." By 1910, 1,218,967 cubic
feet of timber, valued at $642,935 was being exported, and the
new Court of Directors that replaced Cowie thought that a much
more systematic surveillance over, and control of, the timber
industry was needed.

It was decided to form a Forestry Department. The services of
a Japanese timber man, Fusaji Goto, were secured in 1913 on
a temporary basis. He was replaced in 1914 by an American from
the Philippines, D. M. Mathesws, who organized this new depart-
ment. He found on arrival that Hong Kong absorbed virtually all
the timber exported from North Borneo, nearly all of it in log,
and he considered that there were tremendous possibilities in
increasing the export of timber to other parts of the world. Time
was to prove him correct.

The Court in London were well aware of the immense stacks
of timber on the east coast, and after the War was over the Chair-
man looked for new capital. The export trade was in the hands of
four concerns, of which the chief was the North Borneo Trading
Company. Before 1916 this company had held fourteen leases of
land totalling nearly 500,000 acres, but failure to work them had
led to the government’s resuming the land that year. This lack of
enterprise was the result of shortage of capital, and Ridgeway in
1920 with the help of Harrisons and Crosfield secured the forma-
tion of a £1,000,000 new company, the British Borneo Timber
Company managed by W. Darby, the old pioneer, and gave it a
monopoly for twenty-five years to cut, collect and export timber
on all State land. This meant virtual control of all timber cut and
exported from North Borneo, and forced the smaller companies to
procure licences from, and to be directed by, this new colossus.
It brought into North Borneo much needed new capital and some
unnecessary bad feeling, but it provided a valuable stimulus to the
timber trade.

*Commissioner of Lands to Governor, 11 May 1909.
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The new company was most unpopu]:\r among the other four
In 1923 they | ly at the amount of land
it had reserved and at its grudging reluctance to grant permits to
work land which it was not using. Darby admitted their grievances,
and as a concession permitted the Forestry Department to issue,
licences to cut timber on State land for ten years. Despite the
difficulties allegedly created by the B.B.T., the two Chinese firms
in Sandakan had managed to increase their exports from 374,002
cubic feet in 1919 to 610,590 by 1922, Their protests at the new
monopoly through whom they had to deal, however, reached
even the House of Commons.

Timber, mainly in log with a small proportion of cut planks,
was exp d now in g amounts. The trade to
Australia was revived, and 164,000 cubic feet was exported there in
1922, when timber exports totalled 1,919,159 cubic feet. After
Hong Kong, Japan and the United Kingdom were the main
markets. By 1930 this trade had increased to 3,523,452 cubic feet,
valuedat $2} million. In this year the Forestry Department speeded
up its establishment of Reserves which it had begun in 1923 against
the wishes of the timber companies. By 1937 the Reserves totalled
291,307 acres, 1.55 per cent of the total land area, compared to
Forest Reserves in Malaya which totalled 27 per cent. This figure
was low in spite of the urgings of H. G. Keith, the erudite and
outspoken Conservator of Forests, who attempted in face of much
government apathy to protect and develop what was perhaps the
finest asset possessed by the company. In 1937 timber exports
reached the record figure of 6,272,011 cubsic feet and Sandakan had
become one of the great I‘.Imbc! ports of the world. The worsening

internati to Eurof after,and
by 1940 ﬁgurcs had droppcd to 4,910.028 cubic feet ($2,220,890).
A y but le timber export which did

not fall under thc control of the British Borneo Timber Company
was the export of cutch, a khaki dye from mangrove. This industry
was begun in 1892 by the Bakau and Kenya Extract Company,
with exports valued at §17,997. As the armies of the world replaced
their colourful uniforms with a colour more befitting the twentieth
century, the industry continued to develop. By 1940 the export of
cutch from Sandakan had reached the figure of some 5,345 tons,
valued at $629,908, an export surpassed in value only by the trade
in rubber and timber.




ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 85

In London there was a tendency to consider that the timber
produce of North Borneo was an asset that needed little care or
nursing; the chief concern was with the encouragement of the
sale of softwoods and hardwoods rather than with adding to costs
by an enlargement of the scope of the Forestry Department.
Despite overseas indifference, however, Keith had by 1941 built
up a well organized team with clearly defined responsibilities in
timber administration, silviculture and research. Here, as in much
else, the influence of Malaya was felt. His rangers were trained at,
and his department influenced by, the Forest School and the
Forestry Research Institute at Kepong in Malaya.

Close on the heels of the timber industry came tobacco, to give
North Borneo the first of its two genuine booms. Its beginnings
were somewhat casual. At the government experimental garden,
established in 1881 at Silam on the east coast, almost every other
tropical crop except tobacco was grown and reported on, and it
was against some opposition that a part of the land granted to the
Sabah Land Farming Company was planted with tobacco. This
company, a struggling little enterprise which had been en-
couraged by Medhurst in Hong Kong primarily to grow sugar,
had as the manager of its estate near Sandakan a penniless and
opinionated ex-planter from Deli named Saunders. He had tried
to secure employment with the Chartered Company, but no
official had considered tobacco as a possible money-maker, and it
was only his presence in North Borneo that had induced Major,
the head of the Chinese Company, to hire him.

As sugar was no longer a paying proposition, Saunders was
permitted to grow, amongst other things, a crop of cigar leaf
tobacco. On the estate there was much mismanagement and a
considerable amount of ill-fortune. The Chartered Company had
to prop it up several times, but in February 1884 a few sample
bales were sent to London. Experts pronounced the leaf equal to
the best in the world. A small crop in 1885 in the Amsterdam
markets reached a price higher than the best from the overcrowded
Dutch tobacco area of Deli, while that of 1886 maintained the
same top standard. The rush set in. Encouraged by liberal grants
of land, the absence of an export tax, the much looser and less
authoritarian government supervision, and the high prices the
tobacco was fetching, the land-hungry Dutchmen flocked to the
east coast. By this time, however, Saunders, the man responsible
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for it all, had been dismissed and his pany had coll: d

By 18go there were sixty-one estates listed as growing tobacco.
They stretched down the east coast, from the German-managed
plantation on Banggi Island, round Marudu Bay, and far up the
long remote rivers, the Labuk, Sugut, Kinabatangan and Segama.
There were some near the government outposts at Lahad Datu *
and Tawau, as well as round Sandakan Bay. Here the solitary and
imperious Dutchmen lived gargantuan lives, topping their huge
meals with immense quantities of gin, and then labouring hard
enough for a dozen ordinary men.! As a result of their labours the
export figures rose from the $822 of 1885 to $396,314 five years
later, when the government began charging a modest export tax.
By 1895 it had reached $1,176,000.

The bales of tobacco went almost entirely to the Amsterdam
market, and there in 1891 the first blow the industry had received
was delivered by the chief buyer, the United States of America.
In order to encourage the consumption of the tobacco of its
Southern States, now being welcomed back into the fold after the
civil war, a high tariff was placed on the imported leaf. Americans
stopped buying overseas, prices dropped and depression settled
over Deli and North Borneo. Many estates were abandoned,
London panicked and tried to sell to Sarawak as its land revenue
abruptly ceased.

After the initial blow, and the weeding out of the weaker con-
cerns, howevi er, production continued to increase on those remain-
ing as the pnoc rose again hat. Lab began ivi
‘leaf moncy’, a bonus based on the amount of leaf col]cclcd The
labour position, previously chaotic, became stable, and reports of
the employees favourite method of reprisal against low wages and
poor conditions, firing the drying sheds, abated. But the boom was
over; the number of estates continued to decrease.

An attempt was made by Cowie and by Crocker, for some
years the manager of the Company, to introduce the Dutch
‘culture system’ into Borneo. This was an effort to direct the
natives into growing tobacco. A considerable amount of rough
native tobacco was grown behind Kinabalu, and its sale was to
become one of the mainstays of the Kota Belud market; but to
order the natives to grow a crop which the government alone

An eye witness account of their now vanished and remote way of living is
given in the B.N.B. Herald of 1 June 1929. (“The Borneo Planter of Yore.")
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would purchase for a fixed amount, to dispose of as it saw fit, was
something dangerously new. The high hopes that Cowie held,
that District Officers could order a whole district to plant tobacco,
soon vanished. By 1896 Beaufort, the Governor, was plaintively
telling the superintendent of tobacco culture that ‘if only you can
succeed in getting four or five families to plant and cultivate tobacco
sced this year, next year I am sure you will have twenty, and
eventually perhaps a great industry may spring up.”! The natives
could not be coerced, however. With Mat Salleh on the roam, it
was a most inopportune time to try, and the scheme completely
collapsed.

In 1902 tobacco exports had reached the highest figure,
$2,018,182. There was a slow decline after that. Some of the
causes appear obscure; there was little official correspondence on
the question of flooding and disease, which apparently affected
the position considerably. The change in taste from the cigar to
the cheaper cigarette which swept the world in the twenticth
century must also have affected the high class cigar leaf estates,
and the enormous increase in tobacco production by the U.S.A.
was undoubtedly another factor. The quick profits of rubber
growing had a more obvious influence, and several estates changed
over, with, however, indifferent success. Another attraction of the
rubber industry was that unlike the tobacco fields the crop needed
few skilled labourers.

By 1910 the tobacco estates had shrunk to twelve. By 1913, as
several more estates closed, and the Sugut and Labuk were sur-
rendered to the waiting jungle, the west coast ports for the first
time surpassed the cast coast in the volume of trade handled. There
followed a long drawn out agony. In 1915 the total crop was
1,779,880 1b.; in 1922, it had shrunk to 977,355 Ib. ($921,692);
planted on four estates. By 1928 there were only two, and in 1929
tobacco production ceased, the last estate being that of the Batu
Putch Company on the Kinabatangan.

There was then a flurry of subsidi and
and the government resuscitated an estate near Lahad Datu. The
corpse of the tobacco industry was scarcely cold before new life
was breathed in, and production began again. In 1933 the crop
stood at the modest figure of 345,333 Ib., and it was decided to
close, but in 1934 when the Depression was slowly receding, one

!Governor to Superintendent of Tobacco Culture, 28 February 1896.

U.C.C.R~G
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of the few great British companies who have invested in Borneo
was induced to participate. The Imperial Tobacco Company of
Great Britain and Ircland stepped in and took over. With their
capital they ined the industry, although on a small scale.
In 1940, 415,023 Ib. valued at $435,242 were produced on 400
acres, This estate was revived after the war, and remains the’
solitary reminder of a once great and flourishing industry.

Tobacco sustained the territory in the critical years of its
beginning. With the new century came a new crop, rubber, which
has been the mainstay of the country ever since. It is a product
more suitable in many ways to North Borneo than tobacco. Its
case of cultivation requiring little skilled labour compares favour-
ably with the constant watching and continual toil necessary to
produce tobacco. It is affected by fewer diseases; it is in far wider
demand, and unlike tobacco it can be grown lazily and profitably
by individual smallholders on indifferent soil.

The story of the introduction of rubber into South-east Asia
is well known; how at the instigation of India the sceds of the wild
rubber tree were brought from the Amazon ; how the Kew Botanical
Gardens cultivated them and sent plants in 1876 to Ceylon and
Singapore;* and how, despite ridicule and indifference, experi-
ments there led planters after the collapse of coffee in the eighteen-
nineties to replant with this new crop. This action led to the
greatest boom Malaya had known, a boom in which North
Borneo also shared.

Plants were sent to North Borneo in 1882, and were treated with
the indifference that was general throughout South-cast Asia.
In 1884 the government experimental garden was growing them
to provide shade for its paths, The first commercial trials were not
made until 1892, when seventy-five acres were planted at Bongaya
on the river Labuk. The crop was first grown on the west coast,
its subsequent stronghold, when the experimental garden was
transferred to Tenom in 1899. By 1902, as compared with the
4,000 acres in Malaya and the 3,000 in Ceylon there were hardly a
hundred acres planted in North Borneo. Then came the rush.

The Chartered Company had constructed a railway on the west
coast. It had originally been intended to run from Brunei Bay

*These lines are written in the Univeriy of Malaya, standing on snd once
part of the Botanical Gardens where these seedlings grew. Old rubber trees
still decorate the grounds.
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across North Borneo, but circumstances had changed this plan,
and it ran along the coast between two new towns, Jesselton in
Gaya Bay and Beaufort on the Padas River. From Beaufort unim-
portant spurs went inland and to the sea. Most of the land beside
the railway was undeveloped, and the Agricultural D

pronounced it fit for this new crop. In Malaya the estates were
springing up everywhere; and in America the motor car industry
was expanding. Cowie leapt at the opportunity. At the annual
-dinner of the Chartered Company, affairs which he had built up to
gatherings of several hundred guests or more, he announced on
12 December 1905, two great inducements. The government
would guarantee a 4 per cent dividend for six years on all com-
panies formed to plant rubber in North Borneo, and furthermore,
that there would be no tax or levy on exported rubber for fifty years.

On the day that these concessions to rubber growers were made
public the Dunlop Pneumatic Tyre Company announced that it
was ‘unable to meet the demand for motor tyres.” This reflected
the ever-increasing rubber shortage, and the response was imme-
diate. Although it is questionable whether the grandiose gesture
of tax-free rubber for fifty years was at all necessary, twelve new
concerns took advantage of the offer, and, helped in several cases
by the agricultural department, which cleared and prepared likely
looking areas in hopes of a sale, planted large areas alongside the
railway line and elsewhere in North Borneo.

By 1go7 there were 3,226 acres planted with rubber. Ten years
later, when London ended the 1903 concession of no tax for fifty
years, it had grown to 34,828 acres, and exports totalled 5,474,560
1b. compared to 5,000 Ib. ten years previously. In addition planting
on small areas by individual owners, both native and Chinese,
was widespread.

With the end of the war came the first slump. Everywhere in the
East stocks had piled up waiting for shipping. Suddenly it was
available, and the European market was flooded. The price of
rubber fell catastrophically and the bonanza was over. In 1920
North Borneo exported 9,195,435 Ib. as prices fell to a few cents
from the five dollars per pound and more that had been common.
Estates began closing or economizing, and many of the 21,417
labourers became unemployed.

This post-war depression, felt wherever rubber was grown,

tThe Times, Wednesday 13 December 190s.
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brought about the British ga\cmmcm 's intervention. The estates,
which a few years mrllcr had been paying fabulous dividends, were
now in need of f This was d by the §

scheme of restricted output, rcplacmg the carlier Rubber
Growers' Association scheme in which a few North Borneo ,
planters had participated. It was not particularly successful. Intro-
duced in 1922, it included Ceylon and Malaya, with North Borneo
and Sarawak as voluntary appendages. North Borneo was assigned
an exportable quota of 60 per cent of her previous output, but
following protests in 1923 had it raised to 75 per cent. She intro-
duced no legislation and left it to the companies to organize their
own method of restriction.

This scheme, combined with an increase in demand as the
industrial machine of America picked up speed, helped to raise
prices. It also helped to increase planting in the many countries
that were not involved, however, particularly in the Dutch East
Indies. As their rise in production became noticeable, and others
were seen to be b ing from the the
scheme was abandoned in 1928, In that year North Borneo had
exported 15,033,412 lb., and the planted area consisted of 67,230
acres of estates and 28,807 acres of small holdings.

The great world economic depression dealt rubber, along with
every other primary product of the world, a grievous blow. By
1931 the estates had cut their labour force to 10,971 people, half
of what they had employed ten years earlier. Rubber by 1932 had
dropped so low in price, to a few cents a pound, that it cost less
to buy than to produce, and estates stopped production and closed.
Several concerns went bankrupt. Rubber exports that year,
although over 12,000,000 Ib. fetched only $702,780; eight years
before they had bccn v\nnh $10, 796.780 ‘This condition was

paralleled elsewhere. Neg were undertaken by the govern-
ments concerned, and in 19342 much more comprehensive scheme
of iction was every rubber-producing

country in the East.

In this North Borneo participated, banning the sale of further
land for rubber planting and accepting the export quotas decided
upon by the international committee sitting in London, on which
it was ably rcpnscmcd by Sir Andrcw McFadyean. In 1938 the
Rubber Regul ded for a further five

years, It came to an official cnd in 1944. In the period before the
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war the quota was slowly increased each year, as prices rose and
conditions improved. By 1940 North Borneo was exporting
30,474,026 Ib. valued at $14,444,759. The Chartered Company
had shared in this for a few years only, in 1938 imposing a small
levy on exports not affected by Cowie’s promise, that is on rubber
planted after 1917.

The imposition of the rubber restrictions in North Borneo, .
largely a matter of planter regulation supported by the local
officers, has come under severe criticism.* It has been maintained
that the smallholders, who were forced to reduce their output by
50 per cent, were treated most severely, the restriction being far in
excess of the cut imposed on estates. The smallholders were not
rcpn:cmcd at the confcrcnce of rubber growers called by the

to d the 1 necessary, and they
mny not have been idered fully or sy ically. Their
position unlike that of the planters has been little appreciated
throughout the East, and North Borneo was not alone in reporting
in 1935 that ‘there was genuine distress among the smallholder
class, both Chinese and native.”*

In 1937, when the Governor estimated the output of the small-
holders at 6,000 tons, compared to the 14,000 allocated to the
estates, the actual planted land of the smallholders exceeded that of
the estates by over 5,000 acres. The smallholders’ land had been
assessed by the Rubber Committee in North Borneo as yielding
215 Ib. per acre. (In Sarawak it was shown that smallholders
averaged 490 1b. per acre.) The estates were assessed at the very
high figure of 505 Ib. per acre. There seems some reason to accept
the judgement that ‘in British North Borneo the smallholders
were treated worse than in any other producing territory’,® al-
though it is as well to remember that in this same period they
increased their area to 50,438 acres, an increase of over 20,000
on their holdings twelve years before. The starved man rarely
grows like this.

Timber, tobacco and rubber: these were the great mainstays
of the territory in the days of the Chartered Company, but they
were not the only ones. In addition there were other products

3P, T. Baer: The Rubber Industry (London, 1948), pp. 1047,

2Annual Report, 1935.

*Bauer, p. 106. Sco also K. E. Norr: World Rubber and its Regulation (Cali-
fornia, 1945), p. 111
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* contributing to the country’s economy which brought some income

to the State, through land sales and export taxes.

In the nineteenth century the government, struggling, eager and
ignorant of tropical agriculture, encouraged the growth of various
crops that failed completely. These included sugar, tapioca, |
opium, silk, soya beans, orchids and pineapples. Several attempts
were made to grow coffee. Pryer endeavoured to grow it in 1894,
as his wife notes ‘Willi brought back with him a big branch of
coffee, very fine large dark leaves and bunches of cherries cluster-
ing at every pair of leaves, and in the same area in 1935 8co acres
were under cultivation and I.hc hundred Chinese growers had
been ized into a p by Keith. In the
intervening years low prices had discouraged its cultivation. Low
prices had also put a stop to the growing of pepper, which like
gambier, a very wasteful crop which vanished with the advent of
rubber, had been encouraged in the nineteenth century. Pepper
cultivation was revived during the depression by special land con-
cessions, and like coffee, was grown in a small way near Sandakan.
Jute had been planted in 1881 at the experimental garden at Silam,
but with little success. Nearly fifty years later enterprising Japanese
planted 200 acres with it up the Kinabatangan, and in 1939 ex-
ported 23,867 Ib. The kapok tree was indigenous, and it had been
one of lhc specimens sent to the Imperial Institute in 1893, but its

was never undertaken by a Europ and the native
could never compete against the graded and cleaned estate pro-
duction of the Dutch. It was exported to China in negligible
quantities mainly from Tuaran,

The products of the graceful coconut tree, which yielded sus-
tenance to thousands, were of greater importance than these. The
export of copra, the meat of the coconut, from which is extracted
a vegetable oil, became more and more important in a world crying
out for fats. In the Tawau and Lahad Datu area District Officers
endeavouring to induce the roaming Bajaus to settle down were
instructed to tell them to plant coconut trees, and subsequently
coconuts became one of the chief exports from these ports. Land
under coconut cultivation increased from 11,700 acres in 1914
(when it was first computed) to 56,487 acres in 1940. Exports
(8935 in 1887) rose to $780,062 by 1929 but failed to recover from
the depression, and by 1939 totalled $359,414.

Diary of Ada Pryer, 7 March 1894.
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An enterprise sponsored by the Chartered Company which
failed, but which has since been revived, was the breeding of
cattle. Pryer had endeavoured to foster a cattle farm on an island
in Sandakan Bay. This failed. Forty years later in 1921 the
government organized a similar farm in the interior near the
rail-head, hoping by its example to improve breeds and to increase
the small export of meat from North Borneo. Efforts to enter the
Singapore market failed, however, and the farm closed in 1926,
The demand for meat from the developing oil industry in Brunei
and Sarawak, and from the southern Philippines, where Cowie
had once sold cattle, led to a continuing small export particu-
larly from the Kota Belud area. It was valued in 1940 at $77,212.

There was one other export crop of significance to the Chartered
Company, and that was manila hemp. Here again Pryer was the
pioneer, growing it on his estate near Sandakan. It did not assume
economic importance, however, until the Japanese Kuhara Com-
pany acquired an old tobacco estate at Tawau which they con-
verted mainly to rubber. A few acres were devoted to other crops
however, and in 1919 they exported a first experimental shipment.
‘They continued to grow it on a small scale, until the rubber
collapse of 1930. A considerable portion of their estate, the largest
in the territory, was then planted with manila hemp, and exports
began to increase. By 1940 5,819 acres were planted, and exports
were valued at $569,572, having risen from $569 in 1930. The
production was revived after the war, although not by the Japanese,
and Tawau remains the one place in the British Commonwealth
where this crop is produced.

‘The staple crop, however, was rice, the basis of the way of life
of all the non-European inhabitants of the territory. There were
two types: that of the interior, known as dry rice, which was grown
in temporary areas of cultivation on hill slopes, and that of the irri-
gated and flooded coastal plains, the wet rice. Although the area
devoted to its cultivation was greater than that given to any other
crop except rubber, and its culture was the chief industry of the
native peoples, there was never cnough rice produced for the

territory to be self-sufficient, and large ities were always
imported.
The Chartered Company ly end d to

cultivation and to increase acreage and output. In the nineteenth
century it did this by a policy of denial. Both Pryer, in 1878, and
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Beaufort, in 1894, imposed taxes on imported rice, hoping that
the resultant high price would stimulate home production. There
are no signs that this occurred. By increasing the price of the
staple food these taxes, particularly the high long-lasting one of
Beaufort’s, affected adversely the all-important flow of labour,
without any resulting advantages. In spite of this lesson learned
from Beaufort the Court recommended that a tax should be im-
posed in 1934. It was, however, lgnorcd

was ged in the icth century by the
Agnculluml Department who devoted to native ngncullurc their
main interest, with special emphasis on improving the rice culti-
vation. Little attention was paid to dry rice, which in 1940 con-
stituted 42 per cent of the total production in the State. In fact
this semi-nomadic crop has received little attention from agricul-
turalists anywhere. Wet rice, however, was studied in an experi-
mental padi plantation, firstly at Keningau in the interior, which
was abandoned in 1926, and then after 1938 at Penampang, near
Jesselton, Here research showed that the local varieties of rice
were more resistant to disease than overseas seeds, and their
import was discarded.

From 1931 onwards the government was empowered to direct
labour to destroy the locusts which periodically threatened the
padi fields. This power was used sparingly, but was several times
necessary. From 1939 the native authorities had power to require
the cultivation of rice on any native land considered suitable.
This was a war measure, aimed at building up stocks. Production
increased, but so also did the population, and North Borneo
continued to import an amount roughly equal to the amount
locally grown. This was 257,268 pikuls in 1939. Wet padi had
increased from 28,926 acres in 1914 to 41,242 in 1939.

In one part of the territory, the Padas-Klias peninsula on the
west coast, the cultivation and consumption of rice was replaced
by that of sago. The sago palm was indigenous to North Borneo,
well over 300 square miles of it being one vast sago swamp. It was
exported to Labuan and thence to Singapore, a trade of some
antiquity. A constant cry in the Annual Reports that listed these
(and all other) exports was that ‘these lazy people will cut and sell
just as much sago as will provide food and clothing.” In 1888, a
few years after the acquisition of the peninsula, sago export was

*Annual Report, 1909,
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valued at $30,014, small enough in all conscience but of con-
siderable weight then. Aided by the establishment of Chinese
mill-owners, and by a long drawn-out suryeying and demarcating
project which established individual ownership in a clearer form
than before, and followed by the appointment in 1925 of an agri-
cultural officer to watch over the industry, this area increased its
exports, although never to the extent hoped for, as constant low
prices di: d it. By 1940 production was valued at $183,286.

The economy of the territory was further diversified by marine
products, particularly the export of dried fish from the east coast,
where the lumbering Chinese junks made Sandakan their home
port from 1880 onwards, while Japanese motor fishing-fleets began
competing from 1926 with a base at Tawau and a cannery on Si
Amil Island. Exports in the twentieth century rose steadily, and
the Japanese, highly organized and benefiting from the extensive
research of their government, cncmachcd more and more on the
preserve of the di d and vered junks of the
Chinese. By 1940 exports of dried fish “crc valued at $551,528,
and it had become the fifth largest export in the State, only rubber,
timber, cutch and hemp surpassing it.

A small export trade in seed-pearls from the Labuk Bay in the
1880’s attracted luggers from Australia, but these were warned off
what the Chartered Company made a native preserve. This soon
fell into the hands of Chinese shopkeepers controlling Bajau
divers, and reached its maximum in 1929, with an output valued at
$69,768. It was strangled by the development of the cheap cul-
tured-pearl in Japan. This was also undertaken in the shallow
waters of North Borneo, $3,158 worth being exported in 1938,
but demand from Japan then ceased, and the industry lapsed for
want of a market.

The Chartered Company had great hopes of the discovery of
minerals. A mining rush would bring the much needed popula-
tion and provide the even more needed revenue. In old travel
books descriptions of the varied and fabulous wealth of North
Borneo were heavily underlined, and conjectures written in the
margin as to the location of the various places. Despite all this,
however, only three minerals, gold, coal and g have been
worked in North Borneo, and the copious notes amassed on the
others remain but hopes.

Gold has remained the great speculation in North Borneo, for
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although efforts to work it failed yet all the evidence points to a
large field somewhere in the tangled mass of hills by the headwaters
of the Segama River. Pryer first reported gold in 1880. ‘It was only
yesterday that Hadji Mahommed Omar said there was no doubt
of gold up the Sugamah' he wrote, nnd ncnng on this and on his |

ing other mi Dent di hed a trained
mineralogist named Hatton the following )wr Hatton killed
himself before accomplishing much, and it was not until late 1884
that Treacher, the Governor, was able to confirm Pryer’s chief.
His Commissioner of Lands went up the long winding river,
discovered numerous areas of gold-bearing sand, and wrote ‘if the
proper quartz beds were discovered it would be very rich.'
Unfortunately they never were.

By 1886 there were 400 Chinese panning the various tributaries
of the upper Segama, particularly thc Bole. nnd the rush had caused
Treacher to ther and to
ban Europeans from the area. There was cnough there, j just, fora
frugal Chinese, but Europmn miners would have been a nulsanoc
Treacher formed in Sandakan a Gold Ce ittee, who end
to advise those more adventurous than themselves of the dangers
likely to be encountered struggling up the 200 miles of unpro-
visioned and uninhabited river. A track constructed from the
nearby coast at Silam was a failure.

As the sands ran out of gold so the Chinese drifted away. Only
five were left in 1887, but hope had not faded. Pryer, who had
incurred the displeasure of London, was posted to the headwaters
as ‘Resident of the Gold Fields.* One of the prospectors that year
was an experienced miner from Australia who accompanied the
Commissioner of Lands. This man, Sefton, thought that at the
headwaters of the river would be found a large quartzite ficld. He
did not stay, however, moving instead to Malaya where he opened
up the afterwards wealthy Raub Gold Mine in Pahang.

In London two gold companies had been formed, the British
North Borneo Gold Company and the Segama Gold Company.
Both had a very brief carcer, being unable to discover a reef or to
work the alluvial gold in remunerative amounts. Later, in 1897,
the British Borneo Gold Syndicate attempted the task, bringing a

W, Pryer to R. B. Read, 15 September 1880,
*H. Walker to Governor, 21 November 1884.
*Court of Directors to Governor, 23 March 1887.
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dredger in 18¢8. This again was a failure; the shallows, rapids and

numerous other obstructions bcmg too much of a handicap.
Expeditions up the Segama in 1903 and then in 1903, by the

British Borneo Exploration Compmy, formed l}mx year and

granted a poly over the and exp ion of all
mmemls in the umtory on \‘.he proviso that it spent ,£mooo
were h again gold traces in the

river sands were found. A determined effort in 1928 by Dunlop,
thirty-year officer in the Chartered Company who on retirement
formed his own company and tried to find this elusive reef hidden
by the jungle, was equally unsuccessful. In 1933 Keith went
exploring to ﬁnd gold bunng rocks to be folln\u.d in 1938 bya

d Gol No of
gold rmul!cd but North Bumco is convinced that there is gold
somewhere in the hills.

Of more importance to the Chartered Company was the dis-
covery of coal. Small outcrops in various parts of Sandakan Bay
were investigated from 1880 onwards, each new discovery con-
vincing Pryer, ever the enthusiast, that the future of his town was
assured. None of them proved of commercial importance but their
constant discovery kept hopes high. In 1898 a Sandakan Bay
Coal Field Company was formed, and although this company
failed like its pred yet its prosp Phillips, di
in the far soulh—m.sl of the tcmtory near the Silimpopon River a
large coal field of iderabl

A new company, the Cowie Harbour Coal Company, was formed
in 1903, a railway was built from the ‘King Seam’ to the river, and
the first consignment of twenty-five tons was shipped in July
1906. The Silimpopon Colliery continued in existence for nearly
a quarter of a century (1906-30), one of the few coalfields in South-
cast Asia. Its export of coal gradually increased in the first twelve
years of its existence to 60,000 tons, and then dropped to an annual
average of 54,000 tons. A record 87,543 tons was produced in 1922,
when the company had a labour force of 1,000 men, including
some very unruly Chinese who had served in the labour battalions
in France during the war. The colliery was one of the first em-
ployers to abolish written contracts, all its labourers working hard
on piece rates.

The Company from 1926 onwards was in need of increased
capital, for to export the low grade ore at a profit it needed to
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produce a far greater quantity than was possible with the plant
available. Prices began falling and demand slackened as ships
converted to oil, and coal sold dropped in value from $599,195
in 1926 to $358,395 four years later. It was impossible to raise
more capital. Both the Chartered Company and Harrisons and |
Crosfield had participated in forming the coal company, but
neither could support the coalficld in the depression, and work
ceased in 1930. Despite numerous other reports of coal finds along
the west coast and in Marudu Bay, this was the sole commercial
working of what appears, if in small and scattered amounts, to be
a rather common mineral in North Borneo.

In July 1906, the month that witnessed the first export of coal
from Chartered Company territory (if we exclude Labuan 18go-
1903), saw also the arrival in Marudu Bay of the first steamer to
take away a cargo of manganesc from the territory. Manganese had
been discovered there in 1oz, and after investigation by experts,
who reported hundreds of thousands of tons of it, the British
Borneo Exploration Company, who had taken over in 1905 from
the British Borneo Syndicate, arranged to supply 20,000 tons of
manganese ore to a firm in England.

A light railway was shipped out complete with trucks and
engines, a wharf constructed and a steam launch and lighters
acquired. By November 1go5 there were 18,000 tons of ore stacked,
according to the local manager, Robertson,! but the first shipment
did not leave Marudu Bay until October 1906, the steamer having
waited from July. This mysterious delay was thebeginning of the end.

On arrival in England the 2,771 tons of so-called high class ore
was rejected as worthless, and the Exploration Company, who
had spent some £70,000 on the manganese project at Taritipan,
was sued for a large sum. This was settled out of court by a
compromise, but the company was crippled. They struggled on for
several more years, hoping to realize the optimistic reports of the
earlier experts. As strange reports of Robertson being ‘half mad,
constantly thwarting the government, very suspicious, very reli-
gious yet very aggressive'? percolated out of Marudu Bay, he was
replaced. The change made little difference. In 1907 at the mine
there was ‘wide scale bribery, corruption, graft and inefficiency”.?

Worth: Memoranda on Mineral Prospecting in North Borneo (1937), p. 43-
*Governor to Court of Directors, 5 March 1906.
*Governor to Court of Directors, 3 July 1907.
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Work finally stopped in February 1908, and despite reports of
manganese in several other localities, notably Mount Madai, no
other attempt to export it has been made.

Of the other minerals that have d ion in North
Borneo, diamonds scemed most promising. An experienced
Kimberley digger reported in 1904 that land up the Labuk River
was ‘blue ground, identical with that from which diamonds are
extracted in South Africa.” Identical it may have been, but despite
high hopes and much search, no diamonds ever appeared.

At one time it appeared possible that copper would be exported,
as the Exploration Company from 1908 to 1912 undertook develop-
ment work on the Kawang River, a remote tributary of the Kina-
batangan in the far interior of the country. By 1912, however,
it was decided that the quality of the ore was too low to warrant
further expenditure, and work ceased. Copper was reported in
other parts of the territory, but always there were many factors to
prevent profitable production. This applied also to iron, which was
reported in 1905 in sizeable quantities in Marudu Bay and else-
where; to tin, which a small party of Chinese worked in 1902 near
Tawau; to chromite, which Dr. Piltz, the geologist of the Explora-
tion Company, discovered in the black sands of Banggi Island in
1909; and to antimony, investigated without success from 1881 to
1904 up the Labuk.

Interest in these minerals faded after the failure of the Explora-
tion Company, which was liquidated in 1916. All its monopoly
rights over minerals then lapsed, but it had transferred its rights
over oil to a subsidiary. Long after other expectations had been
disappointed, the hopcs of the Chartered Company were main-
tained by the optimistic search for oil, which was renewed again
and again, and scemed on the point of success.

There was oil in immense quantities just below the border on
both cast and west coasts, and as early as 1880 there had been
repeated reports of oozing oil where the apex of an oil triangle
would be, on the Kudat Peninsula at Sequati.* This was investi-
gated from time to time, particularly in 1893, 1897, 1902 and 1922,
the last date marking an effort by the Kuhara Company to acquire
an oil base for Japan in South-east Asia, much to the alarm of the

*Chairman, Chartered Company’s 44th Half Yearly Meeting, 13 December
1904.
*J. Hatton: The New Ceylon (London, 1881), pp. 93-95.
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British government; main hope centred further south, however, on
the Padas-Klias Peninsula, the old Province Dent.

‘This site first attracted attention in 18go, and was inspected by
the government in 1891, its engincer reporting ‘the land more or
less saturated with petroleum extends over an area of about a,
square mile . . . at 10 feet below the surface oil and gas rose in
large quantities but 1 found it impossible to sink further as water
was coming in."! Various oil companies, including Royal Dutch and
Bombay Burmah, became interested, but nothing was done until
1908, when the British Borneo Petroleum Syndicate was formed,
took over the concessions, sent out as manager a Shell Company
man, and began serious investigation. The Syndicate ran out of
capital and its bore was unsuccessful. In 1912 it came to an
agreement and handed over its rights in North Borneo to a Dutch
firm, its to a more profitable ficld near by in
Brunei, In 1918 a subsidiary of Anglo-[mnian entered the field; in
1922 the Japanese Kuhara Company began investigations; in 1924
the rights were acquired by a Smgnpur: group; and ten years later
the Shell Company made inquiries.

In 1934 the Chartered Company granted exclusive rights to
search for and work oil in North Borneo for seventy-five years to
the Anglo-Saxon Company, a newly formed subsidiary of Shell,
and, at the request of the Admiralty, secured rep ion on its
board. For many years before this it appears that those allocated
the oil rights by the Chartered Company did little or nothing, not
through indifference but through policy. A large oil discovery
would have upset the inter-war petrol and price equilibrium.
Shell, whose chairman was determined to find oil in the British
Commonwealth, prosecuted its search with energy, employing an
air company for acrial survey, and undertaking a systematic geolo-
gical survey of the Peninsula as well. No success had been reported
when the outbreak of war in 1939 brought an end to their activi-
ties. The Chartered Company, with oil derricks clustering almost
at its frontiers, never struck oil. Post-war hopes were shattered in
1954, when the latest exploratory derrick in the Klias Peninsula
closed down after unsatisfactory drilling.

The Chartered Company thus gained little revenue from the
minerals or oils of its land. The territory provided the government
with revenue from the primary products of its soil, from its rubber,

1Consulting Engineer to Governor, 12 October 1891.
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timber and tobacco. There was sufficient revenue to sustain a
competent government, but though it increased, there was never
enough to permit g or even to ge larg \!
g- projects of expansion. Road ion, the crying
need’ for an unopened country of which by 1939 only 318,330
acres, or 1.7 per cent of the total area, were cultivated, was never
possible on a really significant scale. Nor were other projects that
demanded considerable finance. Yet in the economic history of
North Borneo the significant fact remains, that the administration
of the Chartered Company permitted an economy to develop,
enlarge and increase steadily in value year by year from the
$64,029 of 1879, the first full year of customs returns, to the
combined import and export figure in 1940 of $10,292,083.

Perpustakaan Negara
Mualaysia



CHAPTER SIX

NATIVE ADMINISTRATION

pathetic concern meting out harsh treatment in an effort to

exact dividends, while native institutions are denied or
abolished. Fortunately these errors and crimes were avoided in
North Borneo and in its administration of the native peoples the
Chartered Company need not fear comparison with British admin-
istration in, say, the States of the Malay Peninsula or elsewhere.

At each stage of its development the Chartered Company was
fortunate to have at the head of its affairs in London and in Borneo
men of long public service who had earned the confidence of
Ministers of State. Men of the calibre of Sir Rutherford Alcock or
Sir Neill Malcolm, governors with the experience of Treacher or
Birch and most of his successors, were never likely to conduct
affairs other than in the finest traditions of British colonial admin-
istration. The most damaging thing that could happen to the
Company in London was the disapproval of the British Govern-
ment. Parli; y notice was undesirable, for any suggestion of
criticism brought about a loss of public confidence, and made the
Company's slender finances even shakier. This then was the
situation: although the territory was run on a shoe-string, and
much bureaucratic paperwork which colonies of the Crown found
essential was elimi d, yet these iderations apart, the country
and peoples were administered, both by choice and by necessity,
on the principles followed by the Colonial Office, with whom the
Company maintained the closest possible ties.

The Company was fortunate in other ways, and these helped to
develop a collective mental attitude. It never had enough money to
equip a large armed force, so that it was rarely arrogant or un-
mindful of the views of the people. It had a service of enthusiastic
and devoted officers, recruited largely from the universities of
Oxford and Cambridge, who accepted North Borneo as a career,
returned to England once every five years and in the meantime

MANY people think of a Chartered Company as an unsym-
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studied the languages and customs of the territory in perhaps a
more thorough and sympathetic manner than that adopted by the
colonial officer, who might be called upon to serve in a number of
different colonies in the course of his career. It also had an
apathetic body of over 4,000 shareholders who, after the failure of
their opti ions in the ni h century, had become
resigned and undcmzndmg, coming to life only when there was
talk of British annexation.

When William Pryer landed in Sandakan Bay on 11 February
1878, he had with him instructions from Overbeck. Written the
day before, in the diminutive cabin of the America which had
brought them from Sulu, these instructions remained the guiding
rule for all those who came after him, The pattern was set from
the beginning. ‘It will be your duty to cultivate friendly relations
with the native authorities as well as with the people under your
control, and any changes you may introduce should be effected
gradually and with due regard to the existing customs and habits
of the people,” said Overbeck. ‘Conciliate them and secure their
good will.* This Pryer was singularly well fitted to do, and the
success of Sandakan was due as much to his sympathetic adminis-
tration as to the economic advantages of the area. Dent too was
alive to the importance of native administration, and, secking a
governor for the territory, he wrote ‘the prejudices of the natives
will have to be respected in every way, and wherein they lay will
perhaps be ascertained best from a man who knows the customs
and languages of the people of these parts.’*

The people of these parts were divided into two great groups,
pagan and Muslim. The Muslims had arrived in Borneo after the
pagans whom they pushed inland away from the coasts, and they
were more civilized, chiefly as a result of their religion. The faith
had been spread round the coast of North Borneo mainly by the
Malays, the Norsemen of the east. In turn a conqueror, a pirate,
a trader both lawful and unlawful, and unlike the Norsemen, a
missionary of the faith, the Malay himself was settled in North
Borneo only in very small numbers on the west coast rivers, but
his influence had been extensive. He moved among the other
Muslim communities, all of whom were of related ethnic stock,
with an assumption of superiority, which is disputed now, as it

10verbeck to Pryer, 10 February 1878.

2A. Dent to E. Dent, 18 February 1878.

U.C.C.R—H
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was then, by a larger Muslim community on the west coast, the

Bruneis and Kedayans, who still enjoy a certain racial prestige,

since they come from Brunei, a State with an ancient royal house,
hing the indj North B had never had.

Perhaps the most important Muslim people, however, were the
Bajaus. At the time of the cessions they were almost entirely
wanderers on the sea, living in their boats with their characteristic
striped sails, although there were also some ficrce and lawless
villages in Darvel Bay on the east coast, and in the Kota Belud
area on the west. They had a tradition, which is still repeated, that
their ancestors provided the escort for the beautiful daughter of
the Sultan of Johore when she travelled to wed the Sultan of Sulu.
They failed to prevent her capture on the way by the Sultan of
Brunei, and reluctant either to return to Johore or to sail on to
Sulu, they adopted instead a gipsy life in North Borneo, Fearless,
with a great love of colour, on the west coast especially, they were
adept at annexing other people’s live stock and equally skilled in
providing an irrcfutable alibi afterwards. Their lawlessness and
impatience of control caused much trouble, but their independent
attitude and frank roguery were traits that commanded affection.

The Illanuns, who came originally from the southern Philip-
pines, were likeable characters too, but in 1878 they were still
firmly wedded to the gentlemanly practice of piracy and slave
raiding. In the first half of the nineteenth century their prahus had
ranged not only the waters of the Indonesian Archipelago, an area
larger than Europe, but had slipped through into the Bay of
Bengal as well. Their support was won by Pretyman when he
landed on the west coast, and he was able to counterbalance them
against the Bajaus on the Tempasuk plain, and so to keep the peace.
On the east, however, several punitive expeditions were made
against their coastal villages, and constant vigilance was needed
to check their piratical tendencies. Their great day of sea mastery
had been a hundred years before; the advent of steam was one
of the reasons why this new settlement endured. Other Muslim
settlers included Suluks, whose language was one of the several
spoken by Treacher. As a race they were slightly more vigorous
than the Illanuns and slightly more colourfully dressed than the
Bajaus. Illanun and Sulu often were indiscriminately called Moros.
Up the eastern rivers there were small scattered villages of Orang
Sungei, people of pagan stock who were almost without exception
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Muslim. A few other minor Muslim tribes were scattered along
the coasts.

These people, widely dispersed and numbering perhaps 100,000
in all, had little organization beyond that of a chief who controlled
a few riverine villages. Over him was the absentee deputy of the
Sultan of Brunei on the west coast, or the Sultan of Sulu on the
cast, the possessor of the rivers. The Brunei lords in particular
had each an agent controlling their allotted river, depriving the
chiefs of nearly all authority and the people of nearly all their
sustenance. The piratical Marudu Bay area was too hot for either
Brunei or Sulu, and the Serips there were virtually independent.
They lived a poor life, these Muslims, but were far removed from
savagery, as Pryer noticed.

‘I sailed over to Nakoda Meyer at Upak. He has a large house,
partitioned off with scarlet hangings. The floor is well matted and
strewn with pillows, some of red figured silk. Hadji Omar,
Panglima Rahman and one or two other Hadjis and Nakodas were
there all dressed in their best. Chocolate of the best kind with small
cakes was served on good dishes, and as I glanced around and saw
the assemblage, all quiet determined looking men accustomed to
danger, and all leaders of men, I felt a sensation of pride at being
at the head of them. Also as I noticed the light but handsome
arrangements of the room, the style in which things were done,
the cleanliness of everything, the grave and polished manners of
the guests, I could not but think more favourably of Mahome-
danism which had been the cause of it all; as without it they would
be a set of savages.”

Inland away from the Muslim fringe on the coast and on the
river banks lived the pagans. These people too had come from
overseas, but at a much earlier date. They are thought to have
been originally of one stock, although this is debatable and un-
proven, as indeed is almost everything anthropological in North
Borneo. Long ago they had slowly divided in North Borneo into
the Dusuns and the Muruts. The watershed which the Dutch and
British had agreed on as a boundary was apparently an ethno-
logical barrier too, for south of it, outside Sabah, the people had
no connexion with the pagans of North Borneo.

Of these pagans the Dusuns are the predominant race in the
State, their villages stretching over the plains and hills round

*Diary of W. C. Pryer, 24 March 1878,
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Marudu Bay and along the west coast area. In some places, where
the short flowing western streams have not permitted Muslim
penetration to any distance, Dusun villages are only a few miles
from the coast. Unlike their river neighbours however, who would

never dream of going anywhere except by a boat, the Dusuns,

short and stocky, are great walkers. Their agriculture too is
superior. It is their buffaloes which the Bajaus seck, while their
irrigation methods provide an ample rice crop each year from padi-
fields that shine, a translucent green, all down the west coast.
Reaching into the interior the hill Dusuns perch precariously on
the slopes of hillsides, growing dry rice, or gathering jungle pro-
duce. This, however, is more the custom of the Muruts.

The Muruts are described as ‘one of the lowest and most
debased races of the human stock’ by Hugh Clifford, one of the
first of the company's employees to meet them.! He continued,
‘they were lazy, improvident and abominable in their habits. They
converted their annual crop of rice into atrocious native liquor,

h ith they achieved a dition of chronic intoxication
punctuated by periodical drunken orgies. In these men, women
and children alike took part, for these drinking bouts had a deep
religious significance and sanction. At such times all the members
of the tribe absorbed incredible ities of the poi stuff,
which they sucked up from the jars in which it was stored by the
aid of long bamboo tubes. For the greater part of every year the
people suffered from famine; for not only the rice, but the tapioca
and the jungle roots with which they sought to replace their
squandered crops, were turned into liquor of which there was
always a stock in hand, even when the tribe had not tasted solid
food for many hours.”

Divided by the ranges and the jungles of the interior, the
Murut lived in isolated villages or individual longhouses, perched
on the crest of a razor back ridge. The longhouse, built for defen-
sive purposes, would house the entire community in a number of
dark, evil-smelling rooms opening off a central corridor. Their
culture was low and their demands except for heads, were few; in
the nineteenth century they were found suspicious, conservative
and extremely unhygienic. They are a dying race today.

‘The Dusuns too lived in longhouses when the Chartered Com-
pany arrived, but this practice died out among them when the need

IH. Clifford: In Days that are Dead (London, 1926), pp. 31-32.
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for communal protection vanished. Today they live as do the other
peoples of North Borneo, in the typical Malay house, an attap
bamboo or wooden structure on piles, with two rooms and a
verandah. It is placed usually over or as near to water as possible,
and on one side of the padi-field. The Dusuns especially are
honest, peace-loving people with a keen desire for children, the
mild men of Borneo. Among them, as among the Muruts, theft
was unknown. An carly planter of the interior employed 6oo
Dusuns and Muruts once a month to bring up stores from the
coast. If one of them tired he left his bundle by the side of the
track, and there it remained safely until he returned to fetch it.
Any article dropped by a porter was picked up and pl:leed ina
prominent place for the owner to find it. All the company’s coin
was carried into the interior by the Dusuns in open canvas bﬂgs
None of it was ever taken. This ially honest outlook,
contaminated by contact with civilization, still exists today; at the
beginning it made an important contribution to the peaceful
administration of the territory.

North Borneo was verging on anarchy when the Europeans
arrived. It was the immemorial custom of the Muslims and the
pagans to ac the authority of a headman and a chief. The
Bajaus did this in xheu' usual |ndcpend:m way, which meant that
they did so only when they wanted to. The Dusun chief was little
more than a slightly more powerful headman. In no case was the
title hereditary; there was no suggestion of any paramount chief,
no leader of the Illanuns or other tribes; but nevertheless, within
those limits, such was the social order. This order was on the point
of collapse. The east coast villagers had either fled inland, to flee
still farther into the immensity of the jungle on the sight of any
one else; or had been made captive, or had turned pirate. The
few that remained were saved by Pryer. On the west the Pengerans
appointed by the Brunei court, when in its prime, battened on their
river territories, or those parts which they could control, while
their slave raids produced chaos in those parts they could not.

The first section of the territory to be free from Sulu was
Sandakan Bay, while the Brunei overlords were removed first
fmm the Tcmpnsuk area,. In both places the newly-established

i ly to work through and:
strengthen the position of the local headmen and chief. The posi-
tions were still in existence, but the personal tyranny of the
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had dered their authori ligible; few were
wnlhng to assume responsibility. The slow process of building up
this native authority was to take many years. Pretyman on the
west coast instituted a weekly meeting of Bajau, Illanun and Dusun
chiefs, but this was only a partial success. He continued to work

through them, and shortly before the granting of the Charter he

called together all the chicfs along the Tempasuk River to enable
him, so he said, ‘to name the headmen in each village according to
their nomination. These men are to be responsible for the conduct
of their village, and to make reports of any thefts; they are to
declare from time to time to their chiefs or to the Resident if
there is any particular man for whom they cannot be held respon-
sible. It is I think quite time to try and place some responsibilities
on the headmen of the villages. The chiefs were equally shy in
their day, but are more ready to assert themselves now, so let us
hope the headmen will do the same, although it will not be an easy
matter at the beginning."

On the cast coast the local chiefs had maintained their position
and authority to a greater degree; for although pirate and slave
raids had been fierce, the Sultan of Sulu had not the large retinue
of noble followers which had enabled the Brunei monarch to
plunge the more populous west coast rivers into anarchy. Pryer
managed to win the support of the few chiefs in the then scantily
inhabited bay, and with their help worked to spread peace and
develop trade.

With the arrival of Treacher and the beginnings of a permanent
and extensive system of gmcmmcnt. the support of thc nauu:
authorities was further ized by the pay to h
of a small salary, in most cases five dollars a month. Sometimes
this seemed a waste of money. ‘We are trying to govern the native
through his headman,” Treacher reported to Dent, ‘but we find
it very difficult to discover headmen of any influence, the popu-
lation being so split up into antagonistic kampongs.” At times, in
fact, this payment made confusion worse confounded, for on the
death of a headman the village would disperse and rebuild in two
or more other vantage points, each leader claiming to be a head-
man, and each, usually, receiving his five dollars a month. For
over twenty years this subsidy was enlarged and extended, until

yman's Diary, 28 November 1879.
*W. Treacher to A. Dent, 26 May 1882.
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it had reached the stage where any native who cared to build a
couple of attap huts and call himself chief of them received govern-
ment recognition and a monthly five dollar payment. This support
for local institutions was not given because of any belief in the
theory of indirect rule; the young Governors and the Court of
Directors were faced with the task of keeping law and order in a
large territory with an inadequate European staff. It was cheaper,
and it appeared satisfactory in its results, to pay the native chiefs.
It was a practical step aimed at overcoming a local difficulty,
and not the ru.hzauon of any theory on native administration.
The head hority was further i { by an ordi

in 1891, tzkcn as usual from the Straits Settlements, which
established a system of village administration. This permitted
the Resident, or the District Otﬁw under him, mt.h the nppmval

of the Governor, to appoint head: The ¥
had little support among | (hc nauvcs, and undcr Chmcred Com-
pany rule the E were

chiefs and headmen after consultation with the local elders. The
1891 ordinance merely legalized an already existing practice. It
also defined the responsibilities and powers of the appointed
headman. He had to notify the nearest magistrate or police officer
of any notorious bad character; any robber or escaped prisoner;
any outbreak of disease; or any crime or disturbance. He had to
investigate any unnatural death, or crime, or any suspected
offence, and hold any suspected person, referring him to the
nearest magistrate. He had to lead his village in any resistance to
attack. He was to allot village land, to supervise house construc-
tion, and to encourage the \'i.llagcrs to be industrious. He had to
suppress slavery. He was given vanous powers as a minor magis-
trate, and was held responsible for p: g food and port on
the written order of the district officer.
Ihns directive was revised and amended from time to time by
i or new Ordi particularly by the Village
Administration Proclamation of 1913, and by the Native Adminis-
tration Ordinance of 1937. The basic spirit and instructions
remained the same, however, and the increasing powers of the
headman and chiefs were guaranteed throughout the period of the
Company’s occupation of the territory.
By the turn of the century, however, the position and authority
of the chiefs had been gravely weakened in many areas by the
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development of the country. Round Marudu Bay and elsewhere,
where there were tobacco estates with large gangs of labourers
earning qunc substantial wages, it was almost impossible for a
chief or head: to mai his authority on a salary of five to
ten dollars a month. Over large portions of the territory there was
a growing number of chiefs and headmen who proved more and
more disinclined to exert th Ives for the g Small-
pox or cholera were not reported; bribes were taken to pervert
justice; there were numerous resignations after long periods of
backsliding. ‘Dato Igalis resigned during the year. The only
reason that can be assigned for this momentous step is that he found
it too fatiguing to draw his pay, the which operation constituted
his month's work as far as the government was concerned."*

It was decided shortly after the death of Cowie that the steadily
increasing recognition and payment of every headman must stop.
‘The principle had worked satisfactorily in the early days when the
five dollars had claimed the support of the headmen, and if they
had not been over energetic in fulfilling their obhgnnom n! least
the territory had been pied with the mini of d
By 1910, however, five dollars was a negligible sum, and the
system was dropped.

One of the reforms instituted by Ridgeway was a re-organiza-
tion of the native chiefs. At a conference in London in 1912 it was
decided to divide them into two (later threc) grades, and to
issuc them with a special badge and diploma or surat kuasa. Their
numbers were to be gradually reduced as their salaries were in-
creased, with the object of securing fewer but more efficient men.
‘The grade one chicfs started on a minimum of twenty-five dollars
a month. There were twelve of them that year, with a hundred
minor chicfs, the great majority from the west coast. By 1920 the
corps of paid chiefs had become more compact and select, and it
was exercising a greater influence on the life of the native popu-
lation. In 1923 it was laid down that promotion from grade three
to the next grade was automatic after the chief had served satis-
factorily on the maximum salary of §240 for two years. Promotion
to grade one, however, was not to be automatic; each district was to
have only one grade one chief and then only if there were a chief
whose attainments were above average. By 1928 an elite of ‘strong
men with courage and brains who were accustomed to wiecld

1Annual Report (Sugut and Labuk), 1909.
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authority™ as one old planter put it, were being paid salaries of
over $700 each yearly, and were occupying key positions in native
administration.

In thnt year it was decided to abandon the policy which the

had enforced from the beginning, that of pro-
claiming certain areas native, and in those areas either prohibiting
or restricting entry by Europeans or Asian aliens, in order to
protect the indigenous inhabitants, Applied mainly but not entirely
to the interior, the policy had worked well. Now Governor
Humphreys considered that it was ‘a confession of failure to say,
after all these years of administration, that we cannot protect
inoffensive traders from the dangers of intercourse with depraved
savages, or alternatively (there is some discrcpmncy in the different
theories held about the mtcnur) the Arcadian innocence of the
Murut from the ion of alien exploiters.’* As a result
restrictions on entry and free movement of Chinese and other
aliens in the interior were removed by the abolition of inland
passes; trading shops were permitted away from the safety and
scrutiny of government stations; and agricultural development was
ged by the abolition of exclusive native areas. The right to
remove any undesirable was retained, and used occasionally.
There were no ill effects. The native chiefs were strong enough,
and the supervisors of the District Officers adequate enough, to
safeguard native rights.

In 1915 in an effort to increase the efficiency of the chiefs, the
Governor formed a number of District Councils. These con-
sisted of all the chiefs in a district, and were planned to meet, with
the District Officer presiding, at frequent intervals. Sixty-seven
chiefs were appointed to fifteen councils. These were never success-
ful, and the plan was replaced by a system of Residency Councils
in 1917. This too failed.

However an annual meeting of all the chiefs of the territory
(first convened at Sandakan as a durbar on the occasion of the
jubilee of Queen Victoria in 1887, when they were entertained by
fireworks and the firing of a maxim gun), was revived and held in
Jesselton for the grade one chiefs in 1913, 1916 and 1917. It then
lapsed, but was revived in 1936 by Governor Jardine, who came
fresh from Tanganyika, full of enthusiasm for indirect rule. It had

IR. K. Hardwick to Governor Jardine, 7 October 1935.
1Governor's Memorandum, 21 August 1928
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been suggcsu:d to him in 1935 as one of the recommendations of
the Admi; Officers’ Confe which idered that the
meeting would enhance the prestige of those attending it and
increase their sense of responsibility.

Jardine and Malcolm agreed, and the Native Chiefs' Advisory
Council, as it was called, duly met in May 1935. The chiefs invited, *
mainly the grade one chiefs of the territory with the honorific title
of Orang Kaya Kaya (0.K.K.) were those from Tawau, Semporna,
Lahad Datu, Sandakan, the Kinabatangan and the Labuk rivers
on the east, Kudat in the north, Kota Belud, Papar, Mempakul,
Inannu.L I’cnampang, Beuu(nn and Sxpn:mg on the west, and

and T

P b in the interior, seventeen
chiefs in all. They clcc!cd their own chairman, and discussed an
agenda posed of complaints and suggestions which they had

sent in before the meeting.

At the opening ceremony, the only one attended by Europeans,
Jardine felt it necessary to state the government view on some of
the points to be discussed. To the natives of North Borneo the
most terrible crime was incest, and the chiefs, with the conserva-
tism of their kind, wanted a reversal from the severe penalty of
imprisonment, which had become the sentence, to the old punish-
ment of death by stoning. The Governor could not agree. The
chiefs were anxious also that chiefs should be chosen only from
descendants of chiefs. This, the Governor explained, was in many
cases the fact, but there were many sons who were unsuitable, and
it was better to appoint experienced ex-police men and others. He
urged them to put their sons into the force for training. He could
not agree cither with the Kota Belud Bajau chief who had asked,
typically, that the rifle licence should be dropped. It was the
government aim to decrease the number of firearms, not to help to
increase it.

Undaunted by government rejection of part of their agenda, the
chicfs continued their discussion. They met again in 1936, 1937,
1938, and, the Conference being postponed twice, in 1941. In
each case they sat in Jesselton. They provided the administration
with a clear picture of the hopes and grievances, in all cases minor,
that were peculiar to the natives, and their discussion was of great
use to the government. It was a strong recommendation from the
Native Chiefs’ Advisory Council that induced the Governor, under
the threat of a Pacific War, to promulgate the Native Rice Ordi-
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nance in 1939. By this law the Governor could declare any piece of
land held under native title to be rice land, and, unless excused by
the chief, the owner had to cultivate rice on it. If necessary he had
to clear it or, if it was already under cultivation, abandon the other
crop. The government would never have dared to dictate the type
of crop to be grown, despite the outbreak of war and the memory
of 1916-20 rationing, and it says much for the chicfs’ sense of
rcsponsibility that they faced up to the realities of the situation.

‘The meetings undnubtedly beneﬁtcd Lhe chiefs as well. Experi-
ences were exch similar p , a greater sense
of dignity assumed. The incidentals of the conferences, the long
journey to Jesselton, the junketings, the crowds and contact
with civilization all increased their prestige in their own districts.
The Native Chiefs’ Advisory Council was revived after the war,
and is continuing to do good work today.

These chiefs were appointed under the provision of the 1891
proclamation, which stated that any custom of the peoplc asto t.hc
right of nomination or ion would be resp
was preceded by informal discussion; in many cases, particularly
in Dusun areas, a new chief had been elected; in others a particu-
larly strong man stood out; but often there was no leader, no man
the village or area was prepared to follow. In their nominations,
then, the government relied more and more on a trained class
ready to hand, the police force. The indigenous natives who
replaced the majestic Sikhs as the twentieth century progressed
became on retirement an excellent addition to the ranks of the
chiefs, whose prestige and authority were slowly increasing.

‘The founding of a Police school in 1916 improved the efficiency
of the native police. For a time the sons of native chiefs attended it,
but then unfortunately they were sent to their own school, identical
with other vernacular schools. The police recruits were taught at
their school to read and write in Malay, and then the fundamentals of
arithmetic, geography, hygiene, first-aid, general knowledge, the
procedure of a court and the duties and responsibilities of an
N.C.O and headman. The force improved considerably following
the formation of this school, and the N.C.O. on retirement, was
often appointed as headman or chief. Such a one was Pawan, one
of the principal native chicfs of the interior, who died in 1919. He
was a Dyak from Sarawak who joined the police force in 18go. For
some years he was the senior N.C.O. at Keningau, where he
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acquired an intimate knowledge of the area and the people, who
liked and trusted him, On his retirement in 1902 he was made a
chief there, and through the years his excellent work, particularly
as a magistrate, increased his status, many minor chiefs coming
under his authority.

The chiefs had widely varying backgrounds, however; several *
began as estate labourers; others graduated from the territory's
gaols. Beginning their as wild up ry Dusuns or
Muruts, or incorrigible Bajau buffalo-stealers, they became
aware of discipline, law and labour. When they returned to their
villages they had learnt Malay, a little about hygiene and cleanli-
ness, and a smattering of the laws of the land. These advantages,
combined with a certain spirit, which had been responsible for
their criminal ities and which distinguished them from their
more apathetic neighbours, made them often the most useful
mlcrmcdlana G Dnsant Officer could find. In many cases they
were app d with llent results. A few, such as
Pengiran Aji Pati who for many years in the nineteen-twenties was
the head chief of the Labuk and Sugut rivers, were former traders.
‘The most outstanding chief of the territory was probably O. K. K.
Mohammed Saman, who was elected unanimously chairman of
every Native Chief Advisory Council. By 1936 he was recognized
not only as the leading Muslim on the west coast but as the senior
chief in North Borneo, the closest that the different tribes and
peoples ever came to accepting a chief paramount over all,

In 1937 he applied to retire and asked for a pension, and the
opportunity was taken by the government of stressing a fact that
was in danger of being forgotten. ‘No native chief should be led to
expect a pension, for he should never retire. The people should
recognize that the chiefs are theirs, and although the government
pays them a salary they are not profcssmnal agents of the govern-
ment. Their chiefd: once d and irre-

vocable. The people must regard their chxcfs not as placemen but
as the traditional authority who cannot be divested of authority by
retirement. O. K. K. Saman is still mentally fit and his leadership
on the west coast unchallenged and undisputed, and it would be a
retrograde step to permit him to retire. In any case his salary is his
for life.”* Saman withdrew his resignation, and went on six months’
leave to Mecca.

1C. R. Smith (Governor) to Sir Neill Malcolm (President), 12 August 1937.
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‘The major contribution by the chiefs and headmen to the admin-
istration of the country was made through the native courts. From
the beginning active participation by the chiefs in the deliberations
of justice had been a feature of the government. Overbeck had
laid down the rule that on the bench with the Resident there must
always be a chief from the same tribe as the accused, while if the
dispute were between people of different tribes, both were to be
represented in this way. But even before the first Governor
arrived in 1881 the Residents, finding that they had too much work
to do, were allowing a great deal of judicial authority to courts
composed of chiefs alone.

‘These courts had been a feature of the territory before, but had
become discredited during the prevalent anarchy. Their revival,
the result mainly of the need for economy, and the obvious
inability of a solitary District Officer to hear cases all day and every
day, was not an instantaneous success. Natives were satisfied
with judgements given by the impartial European, but appealed
often against the resuscitated authority of the native court. As
the chiefs and headmen regained the confidence of their villagers
however, these appeals grew less, and the Residents and District
Officers referred many of their cases to them.

In 18g1 the Village Admini Ordi d
headmen to try all cases that involved natives only, cxcepl where
the crime was murder, kidnapping or a major robbery. It stipu-
lated that there should be in most cases a minimum of three head-
men on the bench, and the case should be heard in the presence
of both accused and accuser. The decisions were to be in accord-
ance with local custom, and although no written record of the
case need be kept, a short summary should be given to the
District Officer. Often in the early days this was a verbal message.

One of the first actions of Treacher and the other early adminis-
trators, who brought the territory under control, was to start the
native court functioning in the newly occupied area, and to let
the locals settle their disputes in the organized manner that they
remembered. For example, in the Klias peninsula, which was
annexed in 1884, Davies, the Resident, quickly instituted a native
court, and backed it with the authority of the government. But it
was little needed. He reported ‘We went up to Kota native court,
which Pangeran Abbas is carrying on well. There were nineteen
headmen sitting, the unpaid ones giving their opinion as well as
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the paid ones, and some thrée hundred people present. I think that
even Rajah Brooke if he eould sece the native court settling disputes
twice a month and the influx of peaceful settlers, would have to
approve.”

When the Company moved into the interior there were further
difficulties. So scattered were the few houses, so meagre the autho-"
rity of the headmen and chiefs, that in some cases the establish-
ment of a native court had to be postponed until sufficient Muruts
or hill Dusuns to form a village could be induced to leave their
solitude and live together. Even then the District Officer had to
preside at the native court; to persuade them to settle feuds, not
by the capture of more heads until each side were equal, but by
the swearing of oaths and payment of compensation; and he could
not leave until the headmen had learnt their tasks.

They were helped by such men as G. C. Woolley, who had
become such an authority on the varied and bewildering mixture
of Murut adat or law that in 1907 at the suggestion of their chiefs
he reduced the customs dealing with divoree, adultery and marriage
to a common pattern, while still upholding their essential prin-
ciples. The chiefs referred many cases to him for final judgement.

The case of Tambunan shows the pattern. ‘For the later half of
the year the native court has been held at regular intervals of ten
days. The court meets in the station and is well attended, the
audience on one occasion being over 100 persons. The cases are
quickly dealt with by the paid chiefs. A record is kept and a small
fee charged which is paid by the loser of the case or otherwise as
determined. There has been no appeal from their decisions, which
are guided by a schedule of native customs and penalties such as
now enforced throughout the interior. There was only one case of
a headman abusing his power.”

The authority of the chiefs was such that by 1910 the use of
police to fetch those accused to their court had long fallen into
disuse, Their wisdom in deciding cases was at times reminiscent
of a Solomon. At Kota Belud, long the home of Bajau cattle-
thieves, six unimpeachable witnesses swore in the native court in
August 1912 that a young buffalo belonged to the plaintiff. Six
equally unimpeachable witnesses swore that it was owned by the
defendant. The presiding chief ordered them each to bring out

1G. L. Davies (Resident, W. Coast) to Governor, 7 April 1886.

3Annual Report, Tambunan District, 1907.
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what they said was the mother of the calf. The two animals were
tethered, the calf released in between, she went at once to her
mother. The plaintiff won back his buffalo.

In 1913 this whole system received the delayed blessing of law.
Section 10 of the Village Administration Proclamation' decreed
that a native court should be constituted in every district. On it
were to sit those people who had been sitting on it for the previous
thirty years, the chiefs and headmen, and they were to try all
offences arising from a breach in the laws and customs (religious,
sexual or general) of the natives of the district. In the case of a
sexual offence the court were to be guided by the customs of the
woman's race. The right of appeal lay not through the western-
trained judicial branch of the government, but through the District
Officer and the Resident, who were in far closer touch with and
more sympathetic to local custom.

Year by year the native courts continued their unspectacular
work. No interference was made by the government, and the chiefs
rarely needed to ask for support. Some 2,000 cases, two-thirds of
them on the west coast, were heard annually from 1920 onwards.
This figure was approximately the same as the number of cases
heard by the magistrates and session courts combined. Occa-
sionally, when a chief appeared with the stature of Pengeran
Abbas, whose judgements were acknowledged for nearly thirty
years (1884-1913) among a large number of villages in the Padas
river area, or Mahomed Saman in the nineteen-thirties, the
practice of sending them on circuit was instituted. Their efforts
were equal to several District Officers, and the court houses,
invariably built by the natives, were crowded when they appeared.

At the 1936 Native Chiefs’ Conference it was moved by the
chief from Beaufort (O. K. K. Saman) that the government should
have a book of Muslim customs printed for the guidance of native
courts. As a matter of fact, he mentioned, he himself had written
such a book. It was based on a list of customs drawn up in 1921
by Haji Omar which the Beaufort natives were still using. Unani-
mously the counul adopted hls draft, although Haji Omarhad never
been pted as an auth and although the various races, on
whom lay the thin veneer of Islam, viewed infringements in a very
different light and local custom had always overridden Islamic law.

This ions 111 (1891), XIV (1903), 111
(1904), and Notifications m(xaos), 180 (1903) and 55 (1904).
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The government decided not to print the code as compiled by
Saman, but it was sent out to the various chiefs, for their informa-
tion and guidance only, in late 1936. At the 1941 Conference,
attended by fifteen leading chiefs, there were several complaints
from Muslims that the penalties laid down by O. K. K. Mahomed
Saman were at variance with the custom of their particular dis- *
trict. The code had been taken as binding, having come from the
Governor, and it is regrettable that the Undang Undang Native
Caurl—xllahkmnall Adat Orang I:lam as it was t.allcd was not
retained in a pigeon-hole at ive All
chiefs were advised to modify the code in accordance with local
tradition, and this was subsequently done.

The administration of the native, then, was largely carried out
through the medium of their own chiefs and headmen, and by
their own institution, the village court. From the Great War
period however, some use was made by the government of the
more advanced natives in posts of direct administrative responsi-
bility and these were known as Deputy Assistant District Officers.
The first such appointment was that of Pengeran Osman to the
control of the Labuk and Sugut rivers, a large sparscly inhabited
district untouched by European enterprise. He reported direct to
the Resident. By 1923 there were two other purely native areas
being administered by a D.A.D.O., the Kinabatangan River and
Pensiangan. A Chinese D.A.D.O. was stationed at Kudat. At the
Residents’ Conference of that year it was decided ‘that the em-
ployment of Asiatics as D.A.D.O.s has proved successful with
limitations, the officers selected being clerks with a long residence
in their districts and with a powerful influence over the people
but with few qualifications which would have made them a success
had they been moved to other districts. There is very little material
to replace them and any future extension depends upon the success
of the vernacular schools and the material being trained in them.”
By 1938 there were natives in administrative control of the Labuk
and Sugut district, the Kinak: River and Pensi: while
other D.A.D.O.s were at Papar and Tenom. By 1940 the govern-
ment was allocating them $11,520, while native chiefs were
receiving $23,449.

Another function of the chiefs, apart from the magisterial duties
of the court, was the collection of poll-tax. This was a traditional

i " Meeting, October-N ber, 1923.
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tax of some antiquity, and for many years it was the major contri-
bution of the natives, minute though it was, to the revenue of the .
country. They regarded a land-tax with an unexplained horror,
many assurances being necessary when the government purchased
new rivers that no tax on land would be nmposcd, hu( a poll-tax
of a dollar a head was accepted with

those villages which were under the protection of the administra-
tion. Trouble arose, however, between 1885 and 1895 when the
decline of the headmen and chiefs led to the use, especially by
Beaufort, of native agents, strangers to the district, who were sent
upstream to collect the tax. Unsupervised, they preyed on the
natives after the manner of the agents of the Brunei nobles.
Bloodshed mcvnmbly cnsued

Undout these ibuted to the unrest that
assisted the Mat Salleh rising. It was not a creditable time for the
Company. In London the Court realized the dangers and pulled in
its horns. The tax was restricted considerably. On the east coast
where the payment had been exacted with some difficulty, and had
y1clded little more than $1,000 by 1893, it was abandoned that

ber. Clifford d to impose a boat i fee on them
in 1901, a tax more mhlcd to their marine existence. In the interior
the tax was abandoned too, and on the west coastal area and
Marudu Bay, although the tax was continued, it was placed once
again under the control of the headman. The inland tribes were
told that only those villages the government could protect would
be taxed, and that if they desired prolccuun they should move
closcr to the coast. This became an important faanr in repressing

and in ding the authority of th

As late as 1912 a voluntary payment was rcfused nnd the chief
sent back to the interior, as the government could not accept it
until it was in a position to protect the chief and his people from
their enemies in Dutch territory. As a result the village moved
closer to an interior station.

The gradual abolition of this tax was proposed by Governor
Birch in 1902. It was estimated to bring in $18,700 that year, but
Birch estimated this sum could be doubled by a land-tax. He was
not interested in the land-tax as an addition to revenue however,
although that aspect of his argument may not have escaped the
Court in London. He considered it mainly as a measure that would
increase habits of stability and permanence of residence.

U.C.C.R.~
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At that time there was no native title to land, although their
possession had always been respected, and great pains had been
taken to protect them, in many cases at the expense of the Euro-
pean settler. Labuan in 1849 had been the first colony in the
Empire to make registration of land transfers an essential pre-
requisite to their validity, and this still applied in North Borneo:
But all dealings in land between the native and a European, as
distinct from government and European, were not only invalid—
they were forbidden. It was this persistent government defence of
native land rights that first led to the formation of the Planters’
Association in 1888.

That in its turn led the government to define its position.
Governor Creagh collected the opinions of all his senior officers on
land regulations necessary to protect native rights, and embodied
them in his land proclamation of 1889.* This stipulated that before
any title-deed to land could be issued to a European the chiefs had
to be informed of the area under consideration, and the headman
or chiefs had to be shown the surveying marks erected for their
information. The District Officer was not to leave it to the chiefs
to bring forward any claims; he himself was to make careful
inquiries aimed at protecting native rights. These rights covered all
land under cultivation or including houses, together with a reserve
of adjoining ground at least three times the area of the land under
cultivation, and also land including fruit trees, grazing land,
burial-ground, tombs or shrines or native tracks and rights of way.
These rights were to be settled by either a reservation of land or a
monetary compensation. The native was allowed rights of appeal
to the Governor, to whom were to be submitted all plans for com-
pensation before the issue of the title-deeds would be authorized.

The enfc of this procl ion again and again led the
planters to attack the Chartered Company. Its defence of the
native nghts, more pcrhaps than any other .mum it took, justifies
its native ad as an b i and impartial one of
which it can wcll be proud. Birch was apprehensive that in the
rush to plant rubber which was about to begin in Borneo, these
old rights, where natives owned lands with no proof acceptable in
a western court, would be in danger. He introduced a law in 1903
to protect the native by giving him a written title. He repeated the
traditional land rights; he again forbade any dealings by Euro-

+Proclamation [11 (1889) Protection of Native Rights to Land.
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peans with natives for land and he authorized the voluntary
acceptance of a written title by any native holding land under
customary tenure. He had surveyed the whole of the Putatan valley,
a closely populated and intensely worked area, and title-deeds
were prepared for the 3,000 individual lots. They were com-
pletely ignored. The native felt perfectly safe as he was, and the
title-deeds lay unclaimed in the district office, while the payment
of poll-tax continued.

‘This situation was ended by the rubber boom during the next
decade. The west coast land became sought after by European
companies as well as by a large number of Chinese smallholders.
Land began fetching good money, and as a title-deed became more
important the concomitant quit-rent was accepted by the native
owner. There was a dramatic change in their attitude, and headmen
and chicfs kept requesting surveys and title-deeds. The year 1909
first saw the slow change in the native outlook, and each year from
then onward the survey teams were struggling to keep up with
their assignments. The scale of rent was fixed in 1913 at fifty cents
per acre, payable from the second year after registration; such a
rent lapsed (with the title) if the land ceased to be worked. The
government had given instructions three years earlier that native
land-owners were not to be pressed for payment, and the 1913
quit-rent received was negligible.

The task of issuing land-titles was made extremely difficult by
the various native rights, particularly possession of isolated fruit
trees and sago trees. The sago area, mainly in the Padas-Klias
peninsula, was a surveyor’s nightmare, as the suckers of one clump,
claimed by several people, would grow together with suckers from
a farther tree, owned by others, and their ramifications made the

llocation of correct boundari 1 plicated. In 1916
for example, an average year, 3,441 individual lots were surveyed.
The isolated fruit trees also involved the land settlement branch of
the Lands Department in considerable work. Under the law a
native owning a fruit tree (he needed only the word of 2 hcadman
as proof) could fence it in and continue to enjoy the fruit even
when the land all around was alienated. Many Dusuns in particular
only remembered that they owned an uncared-for tree when the
land had been purchased and the felling of the jungle had revealed
it. If the area had been prepared for a rubber estate the wide-
spread burnings would have rendered the trec useless, and the
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D had to negoti ion. Sums of 400-500
dollars were paid and in one case 51,400

The demarcating was extended into the interior, and it was
hoped to reproduce what already was happening along the coastal
plain. There Dusuns, Bajaus and Besayas were proving to be more
efficient agriculturalists with a secure title-deed, even when, in the *
case of Membakut and the Padas peninsula, old promises were
being honoured and no rent was being exacted. But inland dis-
content was caused. Muruts near Keningau in 1912 ran away into
the jungle on being asked to point out their land, and in Tambunan
too there was passive resistance. The Muruts had strange ideas of
government. At Keningau they held firmly to the belicf that taxes
they would be called on to pay included a dollar tax for every visit
by a man to his wife, who would be forced to live on the opposite
bank of the river; a dollar would have to be paid for every large
fish caught, and one out of every two babies would have to be
given up. At the same time the government caught an Indian
trader who had gone upstream without a pass and who was selling
the Muruts picces of twine to be tied round the toes as a sure
preventive against cholera. There seems little doubt that the
distrust of the land policy felt by this credulous and suspicious
people was one of the factors that led to the Rundum revolt.

On the coast too the native land pahcv brought trouble. At
Papar a bl ker, strongly infl 1 by the long
established Roman Catholic mission there, found for the Christian
Dusuns imaginary faults in the change from traditional tenure.
Their land claims were taken to court in 1911. All their expenses
were waived, counsel was given them, cighty-nine witnesses were
called, and finally after a hearing that lasted a month the judicial
decision upheld the original government surveys, though stipulat-
ing that there should be further compensation for three or four
acres. The Dusuns retired content and the proceedings gave ample
proof throughout the territory that native rights were well pro-
tected. Nine years later, however, their grievances were com-
municated to the Anti-Slavery and Aborigines’ Protection Society
in London, who by the nil cteen-twenties were almost out of a
job. The old complmnts were revived, :md the Courl of Directors
with the approval of Parli: d an ind dent com-
mission. It was decided that the whole affair was nonscns:ml as it
had all been settled in 1911, and there had been no complaints since
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then. The report stated that ‘few colonies have the same excel-
lent land codeas North Borneo . . . [it] requires the collector before
assessing lands to enquire into native titles, [and it] lays down the
most concise and also the clearest and most accurate statement of
native claims that 1 have ever seen.” No further action was taken.

Year after year, particularly in the decade of 1913 to 1923 native
holdings were surveyed. The reat roll grew steadily, rising
from §$39,781 in 1914 to $107,291 in 1920, then to $213,942
ten years later. By 1940 the quit-rent total had reached $371,269.
As Birch had forecast, it provided a far greater and more reliable
revenue than the poll-tax, under which $63,628 was collected in
1940. Governor Jardine in 1935 had suggested that east coast
natives, many of whom escaped paying quit-rent as they were
fishermen, should pay poll-tax. The Administration Officers’
Conference rejected it as a breach of trust, but it was imposed in
1937. A further suggestion, that Javanese and other non-Bornean
peoples in the territory should pay, was rejected. Many of them
in any case paid other taxes which exceeded three dollars, and
were therefore exempt.

The requests by natives for land-deeds increased considerably
after 1937, when an amendment to the land laws aimed at en-
couraging the production of rice permitted land held under native
tenure to be worked rent free for the first six years. Over 3,000
applicants made claim for survey, many of them being Dusuns in
the interior or Bajaus and Suluks on the cast coast, who had not
troubled to change their ways. By 1940 39,575 people held land
under native tenure, secure in their possession while they worked
their land, their rights safeguarded by the excellent code that had
protected them under the administration of the Company. The
native chiefs endeavoured to strengthen these rights still further in
1938, when they moved that no native should be permitted to
dispose of more than 334 per cent of his land in his life-time except
to his heirs. There was to be no selling in excess of this proportion
to the Dusun wife of a Chinese trader for example, or even to any
other native to whom he was indebted. The government decided
that legislation to enforce this would be impracticable, and a
native was permitted to effect land transactions with other natives
in perfect freedom, as many would say was his right.

1Correspondence on the Subject of Allegations against the Administration of
the British North Bomeo Company. (Comd. 1060). December, 1920, p. 13.
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Governor Jardine, however, was not unmindful of the curse of
debt from which primitive peoples suffered, and which was com-
mon throughout South-east Asia. In Tanganyika the native was
prevented from borrowing to excess by a severe restriction on thc
granting of credit to him by a tive, unless the
had the approval of the district officer. This protected him from’
the Indian merchant who before this law was enacted would loan a
native goods or money at exorbitant interest rates, and keep him
indebted in some cases for a life-time. Jardine had been receiving
reports in 1934 of the complete debt bondage to Chinese shop-
keepers of the pearl-shell collectors in the Labuk and Sugut area
on the east coast, and he felt that they needed protection. In 1925
the estates had been forbidden to advance more than five dollars to
any labourer, so that their employees would not become indebted
to the degree where they would be forced to remain to pay off the
loan, and he thought that an ordinance similar to the Tanganyika
law would protect all natives in the same way.

His senior administrative officers considered that any restriction
on credit would be most unwise. The Interior Resident said there
was no great amount of exploitation by the Chinese there, as
they were anxious to earn a good reputation with the natives and
50 win their custom. On the west coast it was pointed out that
most of the Chinese traders had lived for many years among the
natives, married there and were on excellent terms with their
wives’ people, on whom they were dependent. On the east it was
considered that the system of advances by cash or kind was limited,
and that although the Chinese would welcome any ordinance to
restrict it, the native would deplore it. Smith, the Government
Secretary soon to be Governor, wrote that ‘nearly all the trading
between native and Chinese is conducted “on account”, and I
submit without abuse. The native more often exploits the Chinese
than vice versa. The typical Chinese trader gives the native a very
square deal, it is very much in his interests to do so.”

However an entirely different picture was presented at the
Native Chiefs’ Advisory Council meeting in 1941 when it was
proposed that loans and credits from traders to natives should be
restricted to five dollars, O. K. K. Kahar from Klagan on the
east coast said that many of his people were hopelcssly in debt to
the Chinese. He pointed out that there was provision in law to

1C. R. Smith (memoranda for Governor), 8 December 1934.
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restrict to five dollars the money a labourer on an estate could
borrow, and he felt it should applyalso to shop-owners. The fisher-
men or collectors of jungle produce in his area were virtually the
employees of a Chinese shopkeeper. They were unable to find a
ready market for their produce except with the storekeeper, and
so they were unable to get the real value. Through accepting
advances and loans they were pletely in his power. Mat d
Salleh, another chief, was in vehement agreement. He said it was
not unusual for men in his district (Sungei-Sungei) to be in debt
for $600 to $700. The proposal aroused considerable discussion,
as did a similar motion, that natives should not be compelled to
accept goods in lieu of money in exchange for their jungle produce.
The Governor, commenting on the later motion, thought that it
\was a matter for the headmen and chiefs, and that it was impossible
to enforce a law on this. He thought the Chinese side to the former
proposal should be considered. ‘The Chinese trader may sometimes
abuse the present customary advance system but, to those who
know its origin, sympathy with the Chinesc trader is not absent.
Itis the native who d d i h (runningup
book debts of many thousands of dollars in the Kinabatangan),
and he will not release the trader from it.* There the position
remained. Native indebtedness to the Chinese is widespread over
South-cast Asia, and North Borneo is not alone in failing to agree
whether it should be abolished or not.

In 1935 Jardine wrote one of his memoranda, this one even
lengthier than most. Entitled ‘Indirect Rule and the system of
administration of the natives of North Borneo, it was designed to
form a basis for discussion at the October 1935 Administrative
Officers’ Conference, and it urged a far greater degree of native
responsibility than then existed. The various objections raised
applied to other parts of Malaysia. R. K. Hardwick, a promi
unofficial noted ‘I do not know of one chief today who could with-
stand the temptations of subtle bribery as practised by the Chinese.
And once this evil is established, who will rule indirectly?’* The
East Coast Resident said that his headmen were all in debt bondage
to the Chinese and their administration could not be left without
supervision. The Financial Secretary pointed out that whereas
Tanganyika derived 49 per cent of its revenue from native taxes,

1Governor C. R. Smith, memorandum, 11 November 1941.
®R. K. Hardwick to C. R. Smith, 17 May 1935.
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which provided ample funds for local financial responsibility,
North Borneo's revenue was largely derived from customs dues,
and native taxes yielded only'g per cent. In many purely native
areas, such as the Labuk and Sugut or the Kinabatangan River,
Keningau or Tambunan in the interior or Kota Belud on the
coastal plain, there were usually large deficits; $13,000 in the case *
of kcmngau Native ﬁnnncml responsibility over a small area in
those was ible. Various Resid noted how
few districts there were where there was one race in marked pre-
dominance, and this made any introduction of local rule very
difficult. The chief of police said that the natives were far too
primitive to raise and spend their own revenue. He instanced one
of his police, a Murut corporal with twenty-five years service, who
when sent to arrest a murderer cut off his head and brought it in.
He thought that perhaps old customs were still too strong for
unsupervised local administration, and that in any case the people
were peaceful and contented as they were.

At the conference Jardine admitted that in fact there was a large
measure of indirect rule in North Borneo, and that in particular
the native courts were a healthy and thriving institution. He dis-
missed two of the three main objections to giving to the districts
control over finance. He thought the chiefs who ran the courts
efficiently would watch their budgets too. The officers who had
thought the Court of Directors would never acquiesce in revenue
being side-tracked were under a misapprehension. Sir Neil
Malcolm was all in favour of more local rule. Jardine had to admit,
however, that the presence of the Chinese made impracticable any
scheme of native local government in most parts of North Borneo;
the Chinese had too great an influence.

He left the meeting, having recommended local responsibility
in the case of the inland areas, where it might revitalize the Murut
country and help to check the depopulation. His senior officers
considered his plan, but it was decided that for the territory to
have two types of government would be confusing and inefficient,
and that it would be far better to increase the powers and the pay
of the chiefs and the authority of the native courts.

Jardine, by now aware of the complexity of the problem of self-
rule, which post-war Malaya is now experiencing on a much larger
scale, was still anxious to introduce financial responsibility, the
king pin of local rule, into the territory. This he accomplished.
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Early in 1936 with the co-operation of C. R. Smith, his right-hand

man, he ished a native ad centre on the
Keningau plain, at Bingkor. Twelve villages with a population of
2,700 people were included in it, and the centre was put under the
control of a capable chief, Sedoman. By April he had had built a
native court house, a school, a rest-house for the other chiefs, and
a small dispensary. By June Jardine was recommending the
granting of a measure of financial control, permitting Sedoman to
collect the taxes and licences. By September the vernacular school
was attracting a hundred pupils while 200 parents attended the
native court. There was a great development of a community
spirit, and Jardine wrote ‘nothing is more calculated to promote
willing tax paying by natives than a knowledge that a proportion
of their taxes is being expended directly on the institutions de-
signed for themselves and their children.”

In November the Court agreed that the revenue raised at
Bingkor should be collected and disbursed by the native authority.
The Treasury in Sandakan endeavoured to control the financial
arrangements, but were rebuffed by Jardine who quoted Lugard to
them, saying that the local authority should be trusted with full
financial responsibility. On the eve of his retirement he noted that
the financial responsibility was pted in a satisf: y manner,
and at the Native Chiefs’ Advisory Council in May he said that he
hoped that his successor would experiment in other suitable areas.

Bingkor continued to run its own affairs, but was never able to
raise enough funds to become fully autonomous. Jardine had
begun a rather veiled system of subsidies, the Education Depart-
ment being called on to pay for a teacher and the Medical Depart-
ment meeting the costs of the di y. These were inued
In 1940 revenue raised (from poll-tax, the tax on native liquor,
court fees, etc.) was a little over $1,000, while expenses totalled
$2,089. The deficit was covered by the departmental votes. How-
ever cach year the budget was estimated by Sedoman and the
other chiefs, who cut their coat according to the cloth they knew
they would be receiving, and the experiment on this modest scale
was undoubtedly a success.

A considerable amount of its success however was due to the
somewhat exceptional qualifications of Sedoman, who controlled
the scheme from its inception. He was vigorous in building a

1Governor to President, 19 September 1936.
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school, which soon had an average of 120 students, but his vigour
was too overpowering for Abu Bakar the schoolmaster, who was
almost as assertive as Sedoman, and had to resign. The Bingkor
expr:nmn:nt was dangerously close to being a onc-man affair. It was
d who had irrigation ch Is dug, so that in 1938 the acre-
age in the Bingkor arca was considerably enlarged. In 1938 he saw’
that a more substantial court house was built, and encouraged a
nearby hill village to move into the area. Another Dusun, Impak,
built a shop, a padi store and a water wheel padi mill, which further
increased the value of Bingkor. However it was hit by a severe
influenza epidemic, and there were many deaths. The centre had
scarcely i when the Jap invasion d the
valley from a native area, where all non-indigenous races had been
excluded, to a military centre, and all native authority collapsed.
The post-war colonial government has instituted a similar
experiment but on a larger scale, granting complete financial and
administrative responsibility at Kota Belud. Here Chinese mer-
chants control the shops, but their influence among the Bajaus is
considerably less than among the other peoples. The native
au(.homy has not yet become firmly established but it is at a
g stage of develof The granting of local powers,
lncludlng control over finances, is being introduced into other
parts of the Territory, including Papar and Sipitang.
The cxpnrimcnl of Bingkor, minute though it was, was the first
attempt in Hnnsh Malaysia to grant fi fnnncml control toa nativearea.
The i ions of native ad in North Borneo stand
today where they stood when the Company ceased its administra-
tion in 1941, and their work maintains again a stable and peaceful
territory. Native chiefs and headmen, native courts, District
Officers and Deputy Assistant District Officers, Native Chiefs’
Advisory Council and Residents’ Conference—in no way has
Colonial Office rule differed in its native administration from that
of its pred This is a most signi tribute. But whereas
the present government can well envy the Chartered Company for
its reputation among all peoples for an impartial and praiseworthy
rule conducted in a manner eminently suited to the territory, the
old hands of the Company can have only sympathy fo